Modulation of B cell antibody production by antigen-specific IL-10 producing regulatory T cells

Dissertation

zur

Erlangung des Doktorgrades (Dr. rer. nat.)

der

Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

der

Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

Vorgelegt von

Tomabu G. Adjobimey

aus Bénin

Bonn 2008

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

Referent: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. W. Kolanus Koreferent: Prof. Dr. med A. Hoerauf

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 25.11.2008 Erscheinungsjahr: 2008

Diese Dissertation ist auf dem Hochschulschriftenserver der ULB Bonn unter: http://hss.ulb.uni-bonn.de/diss_online elektronisch publiziert.

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Die Fähigkeit von B Zellen Antigene zu präsentieren und Antikörper zu produzieren ist die notwendige Voraussetzung um die Adaptive Immunantwort auszulösen. Andere Schlüssel-Mediatoren des adaptiven Systems sind regulatorische T Zellen (Treg), die sowohl die T- als auch die B-Zell-Reaktionen modulieren. Derzeit gibt es drei verschiedene Treg Populationen. Zum einen gibt es natürliche regulatorische T Zellen (nTreg), die durch ihre Expression des IL-2 Rezeptors (CD25) und des Transkriptionsfaktors Foxp3 charakterisiert sind. Zum anderen gibt es Tr-1 und Th3 Zellen, die durch die Sekretion von IL-10 und TGF-β charakterisiert sind. Es ist festgestellt worden, daß IL-10 produzierende T Zellen das adaptive Immunsystem regulieren, indem sie B Zellen zur Sekretion von IgG4 anregen. Diese Induktion von IgG4 ist Zell Kontakt abhängig. Der Vorteil einer solchen nicht-entzündlichen B Zell-Antwort zeigt sich am hyporesponsiven Zustand von Patienten mit Allergien oder Helminth Infektionen wie Onchozerkose. Das Ziel der vorliegenden Dissertation war die Analyse der molekularen Mechanismen, die IL-10 produzierende T Zellen dazu befähigen die Produktion von IgG4 durch B Zellen zu induzieren. Für diese Untersuchungen wurden regulatorische T Zell Klone (Tr-TCC) aus Human PBMC generiert.

Der erste Ergebnis-Abschnitt dieser Arbeit gibt einen Überblick über die verschiedenen Aspekte von Antigen-spezifischer Tr-TCC-Generierung. Die Antigen-Spezifität wurde durch wiederholte Stimulation mit dem Tetanus-Toxoid (oder *Onchocerca Volvulus* Extrakt) allein, oder in Kombination mit Dexamethason und Vitamin D3 (DD3) induziert. Die Ergebnisse zeigen, daß die so generierten T Zellen die Fähigkeit haben die Proliferation von Tetanus-spezifischen nicht regulatorischen T Zellen zu unterdrücken. Diese Unterdrückung war Zell-Kontakt unabhängig und wird durch Zytokine wie IL-10 vermittelt. Die so erzeugten Tr-TCC wurden dann auf die Expression von regulatorischen T Zell Markern, wie CD25 und Foxp3, hin untersucht und mit nTregs verglichen. Interessanterweise wiesen die Phänotypen der Tr-TCC und nTreg Zellen einige Ähnlichkeiten zueinander auf.

Mit B:T-Zell-Co-Kultur-Assays konnte dargestellt werden, daß die generierten Tr-TCCs, abhängig vom Zell-Kontakt, B Zellen zur Sekretion von IgG4 induzieren. Weitere Experimente haben verdeutlicht, daß sowohl memory und als auch naive B Zellen erforderlich sind, um eine signifikante Menge an IgG4 zu produzieren. Es konnte gezeigt werden, daß Moleküle wie GITR, GITR-L, TGF-β, IL-10 und Foxp3 eine wichtige Rolle bei der Induktion von diesem

Immunglobulin spielen. Weiterhin wurde nachgewiesen, daß die Blockierung von GITR Molekülen selektiv die IgG4 Produktion verhindert, wie es auch bei neutralisierenden Antikörpern gegen GITR-L, IL-10 und TGF- β der Fall ist. Interessanterweise konnte die vom anti-GITR Antikörper induzierte IgG4 Blockade durch einen Überschuß an rekombinanten IL-10, nicht aber durch rTGF- β rückgängig gemacht werden.

Der Bedarf an Foxp3 bei diesem Prozeß war sehr überraschend, da Tr-1 Zellen Foxp3 nicht konstitutiv exprimieren und über eine aktive funktionelle Rolle dieses Transkriptionsfaktors bislang nichts bekannt ist. Um dies zu untersuchen wurde die Menge an Foxp3 während des Tr-TCC-Generierungs Prozesses gemessen. Hierbei wurde festgestellt, daß die Menge an konstitutiven Foxp3 nach jeder Stimulationsrunde zunimmt und mit der Fähigkeit von T Zellen korreliert IgG4 zu induzieren. Der funktionelle Bedarf dieses Transkriptionsfaktors konnte außerdem durch Ausschalten mit spezifische siRNAs nachgewiesen werden. Diese Tr-TCC Zellen induzierten IgG2 anstelle des IgG4.

Weiterhin konnte mit Hilfe von isolierten nTreg von unbehandelten gesunden Spendern IgG4 induziert werde, jedoch in geringerer Mengen als durch Tr-TCC. In weiterer Übereinstimmung war die IgG4 Induktion durch nTreg (CD4⁺CD25⁺) ebenfalls GITR und IL-10 abhängig. Isolierte CD4⁺CD25⁻ Effektor T Zellen induzierten die Produktion von IgG2, ein Ergebnis das gut mit dem "silencing" von Foxp3 in Tr-TCC korreliert. In den letzten Experimenten konnte gezeigt werden, daß die B Zell-Aktivierung durch Toll-like-Rezeptoren die Fähigkeit von Tr-TCC beeinträchtigt IgG4 zu induzieren. Diese Ergebnisse bieten eine Hypothese, warum die Onchozerca Infektionen unterschiedlich verlaufen können: Hypo-Responsiv (hohes IgG4 und niedrige Pathologie) gegenüber dem Hyper-Responsiv (niedriges IgG4, hohes IgE und schwere Erkrankung).

SUMMARY

The ability of B cells to present antigen and produce antibodies has established their absolute requirement in mediating adaptive immune responses. Other key mediators of the adaptive system are regulatory T-cells (Treg) which modulate both T and B cell responses. There are currently three different Treg populations: naturally-occurring regulatory populations (nTreg) designated by the expression of the IL-2 receptor (CD25) and the transcription factor Foxp3. Alternatively there are Tr-1 and Th3 cells which are characterised by the secretion of IL-10 and TGF- β respectively. IL-10 producing T cells have been shown to regulate the adaptive immune system by inducing B cells to secrete IgG4 in a cell-contact dependent manner. The benefit of such non-inflammatory B cell responses is apparent in the hypo-responsive state of patients with allergy or helminth infections such as Onchocerciasis. The present thesis was aimed at analyzing the molecular mechanisms underlying the ability of IL-10 producing T cells to induce the production of the IgG4 by B cells. For these investigations, regulatory T cell clones (Tr-TCC) were generated from human PBMC.

The initial results section provides an overview regarding the different aspects of antigen-specific Tr-TCC generation. Antigen-specificity was induced via repeated rounds of stimulation with tetanus toxoid (or Onchocerca Volvulus extract) alone or on combination with dexamethasone and vitamin D3 (DD3). The results show the ability of Tr-TCC to suppress tetanus-specific reactive T cells in a cell-contact independent but IL-10-dependent manner. Generated Tr-TCC were then characterised for their expression of regulatory T cell markers such as CD25 and Foxp3 and compared with isolated nTreg: interestingly the cells had overlapping phenotypes. Using B:T cell co-culture assays, generated Tr-TCC were then shown to preferentially induce B cells to secrete IgG4 and required cell-contact. Experiments also demonstrated that both memory and naïve B cells were required to produce significant levels of IgG4. Mechanistically, molecules like GITR, GITR-L, TGF-B, IL-10 and Foxp3 were shown to play an important role in the induction of this immunoglobulin. It could be shown that blocking GITR molecules selectively prevented IgG4 production as did neutralizing Abs to GITR-L, IL-10 and TGF-β. Furthermore, the prevention of IgG4 induction by anti-GITR Abs was reversed by excess rIL-10 but not rTGF- β indicating a complex relationship. The requirement of Foxp3 in this process was surprising since Tr-1 cells do not constitutively express Foxp3 and an active functional role was not previously reported. To investigate this point further, the levels of Foxp3 were measured during the generation process; here it could be shown that levels of constitutive Foxp3 increased after each round of stimulation and correlated with the ability of T cell lines to induce IgG4 in B cells. The functional requirement of this transcription factor was further shown after silencing Foxp3 in Tr-TCC using specific siRNA since Tr-TCC induced IgG2 instead of IgG4. IgG4 production was also shown using isolated nTreg from healthy untreated donors albeit weaker than Tr-TCC. In further correlation, IgG4 induction by nTreg was also GITR and IL-10 dependant. More interestingly, under the same conditions, isolated CD4⁺CD25⁻ effector T cells induced the production of IgG2, a result correlating with Foxp3 silenced Tr-TCC. In the final experiments, B cell activation using Toll-like receptor stimuli affected the ability of Tr-TCC to induce IgG4 in B cells. These preliminary findings provide a hypothesis for the mechanism into how the different outcomes of Onchocerca infection occur: hypo-responsive (high IgG4 and low pathology) versus hyper-responsiveness (low IgG4, high IgE and debilitating pathology).

THIS THESIS IS BASED ON THE FOLLOWING ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

Satoguina, J.S., Adjobimey, T., Arndts, K., Hoch J., Oldenburg, J., Layland L.E. and Hoerauf, A. 2008. Tr-1-and Naturally-Occurring regulatory T cells induce IgG4 in B cells through GITR/GITRL interaction, IL-10 and TGF-β. *Eur. J. Immunol.* Accepted: October issue.

Oral presentation, "GITR-GITRL interactions modulate IgG4 induction by regulatory T cells in concert with CTLA-4, TGF- β and IL-10" at the Symposium "Infection and Immune defence". March 9th- 11th 2007 Rothenfels, Germany.

Poster presentation, "GITR-GITRL interactions modulate IgG4 induction by regulatory T cells in concert with CTLA-4, TGF- β and IL-10" at the 37th Annual Meeting of the German Society for Immunology. September 5th-8th, 2007, Heidelberg, Germany.

Poster presentation, "Antigen specific regulatory T cells and TLRs differentially control immunoglobulin G secretions by B cells" at the World Immune Regulation Meeting II special focus on "Regulatory & Th17 T cells. March 2008, Davos Switzerland.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Ab	antibody
ADCC	antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity
Ag	antigen
APC	allophycocyanine
APCs	antigen presenting cells
aCD3	anti CD3
aCD28	anti CD28
BCP	boro-chloro-phenol
BCR	b cell receptor
bp	base pair
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CD	cluster of differentiation
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CFSE	carboxy fluoroscein succinimidyl ester
CTLA	cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen
DC	dendritic cell
DD3	vitamin D3 and dexamethasone
DEPC	diethylpyrocarbonate
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
dNTP	deoxyribonucleic triphosphate
EDTA	ethylenediamine-tetraacetic acid
ELISA	enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
Fab	fragment antigen binding
FACS	fluorescence activated cell sorting
FADH ₂	flavin adenine dinucleotide reduced form
Fc	fragment crystallizable
FCS	foetal calf serum
FITC	fluoresceine isothiocyanate
FMNH ₂	flavin mononucleotide reduced form
Foxp3	fork head box protein3
GATA3	GATA binding protein 3
GITR	glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor
ICOS	inducible co-stimulator
IL	interleukin
IFN	interferon
Ig	immunoglobulin
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
μg	microgram
MACS	magnetic activated cell sorting
mg	milligram
MgCl2	magnesium chloride
mM	millimolar
mAb	monoclonal antibody
МНС	major histocompatibility complex
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
	-

NADH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
ng	nanogram
NK	natural killer cell
NKT	natural killer T cell
nTreg	natural occurring regulatory T cells
OD	optical density
O.v	Onchocerca volvulus
PBS	phosphate buffered saline solution
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PE	phycoerythrin
PerCP	peridinin chlorophyll protein
PFA	paraformaldehyde
pg	picogram
PHA	phytohemagglutinin
PMA	phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulfonylfluorid
rpm	rotation per minute
RAG	recombination activating gene
RORyt	retinoid-related orphan receptor gamma-t
RT	room temperature
SB	specific buffy-coat
si RNA	small interfering RNA
SOC medium	super optimal culture medium
TBE	Tris-borate-EDTA
T-bet	T-box transcription factor
Tc	cytotoxic T cell
TCC	T cell clone
TCR	T cell receptor
Th	T helper
TGF	transforming growth factor
TLR	toll like receptor
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
Treg	regulatory T cells
Tr-TCC	T- regulatory T cell clone
Tris	2-amino-2-hydroxymethyl-propan-1,3-diol
TT	tetanus toxoid

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	II	NTROD	UCTION	1
	1.1	AN O	verview of the Immune System	1
	1.2	B CEL	5	2
	1.3	B CEL	ACTIVATION AND ANTIBODY PRODUCTION	2
	1	.3.1	T-dependant B cell activation	3
	1	.3.2	T-independent B cell activation	3
	1.4	ANTIE	ODIES	3
	1	.4.1	Antibody classes	4
	1	.4.2	Immunoglobulin G subclasses	5
	1	.4.3	Antibody functions	5
	1.5	T-LYN	IPHOCYTES	6
	1	.5.1	Cytotoxic T cells	7
	1	.5.2	Helper T cells	7
	1	.5.3	Regulatory T cells	10
	1.6	Аім с	OF THIS THESIS	14
2	N	/IATERI	ALS AND METHODS	16
	2.1	ΜΑΤΕ	RIALS	16
	2	.1.1	Blood Samples, PBMCs, APCs / feeder cells	16
	2	.1.2	Plastic and Glassware	17
	2	.1.3	Antibodies and Microbeads	17
	2	.1.4	Antigens and Recombinant Proteins	18
	2.2	CELL (CULTURE PROCEDURES	19
	2	.2.1	Isolation of PBMCs	19
	2	.2.2	Cell viability and counting	19
	2	.2.3	Freezing of isolated cells	19
	2	.2.4	Freezing of cultured cells	20
	2	.2.5	Thawing of frozen cells	20
	2.3	Cell I	MMUNOLOGY PROCEDURES	20
	2	.3.1	Irradiation of PBMCs for use as feeder cells or APCs	20
	2	.3.2	Assessment of cell activation and proliferation	20
	2	.3.3	Generation and characterization of regulatory T cell lines (TCL) and T cell clones (TCC)	22
	2	.3.4	Cytokine ELISA	24

	2.3.5	Flow cytometry analysis	25
	2.3.6	Magnetic cells sorting	26
	2.3.7	In vitro immunoglobulin production assay	28
	2.3.8	Transwell assays	28
	2.4 Moi	ecular Biology procedures	29
	2.4.1	RNA isolation	29
	2.4.2	Reverse Transcription and PCR	30
	2.4.3	Agarose gel and electrophoresis	32
	2.4.4	Preparation of plasmids for Real time PCR normalization.	32
	2.4.5	Small-interferring RNA (siRNA) Nucleofection	32
3	RESUL	۳۶	34
	2.1		24
	3.1 GENI	ERATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF REGULATORY I CELL LINES (ICC) AND CLONES (ICC)	34 25
	3.1.1	Cutaking profile during the generation of TCl	
	3.1.2	Cytokine projne during the generation of TCL	
	3.1.3	Cioning strategy to obtain Tr-ICC	۵۵ مد
	3.1.4	Expression of regulatory 1 cell markers	
	3.1.5	Antigen specificity	41
	3.1.0	Antigen specificity	42
	3.1.7	Suppressive properties	43
	3.2 ANII	GEN-SPECIFIC REGULATORY T CELLS INDUCE AUTOLOGOUS B CELLS TO PRODUCE IGG4	47
	3.2.1	Prejerential igG4 induction by Tr-ICC	47
	3.2.2	IgG mauction in the co-culture system is cell contact dependant	48
	3.2.3	IgG4 induction requires junctional GTR-GTRL interaction	50
	3.2.4	The relevance of other molecules expressed on Tr-TCC	51
	3.2.5	Connections between IL-10, TGF-B and GTR in the induction of IgG4	53
	3.2.6	GITR or GITRL interactions positively control the expression of IL-10 by Tr-TCC	
	3.2.7	No role for a direct reverse signalling through GITRL during IgG4 induction	5/
	3.2.8	Implication of Foxp3 in IgG4 expression	
	3.3 ARE	NATURAL OCCURRING REGULATORY T CELLS ALSO ABLE TO INDUCE IGG4 EXPRESSION BY B CELLS ?	
	3.3.1	isolation and characterization of naturally occurring regulatory T cells	
	3.4 NAIV	E OK MEMORY B CELLS ARE PRODUCER OF IGG4?	
	3.5 KOLE	FUR ILRS	
	3.5.1.	Ir and B cells express ILKs	
	3.5.2	ILKS SUMULATION ON B ANA I CENS MODULATE IGGS EXPRESSION	
4	DISCUS	SION	72
	4.1 <i>IN VI</i>	<i>tro</i> generation of Regulatory T cells	73

4.2 Chai	RACTERISATION OF REGULATORY T CELLS	74
4.2.1	CD25, CD127, Foxp3	76
4.2.2	GITR, CTLA-4 and ICOS	77
4.2.3	Antigen specificity of the generated T cell clones	
4.3 LIMIT	TING DILUTION T CELL CLONING	79
4.4 Mol	ECULAR MECHANISMS OF IGG4 INDUCTION BY TR-TCC	79
4.4.1	The role of Foxp3	81
4.4.2	The loop GITR, IL-10, TGF- eta and CTLA4	82
4.4.3	Naïve and memory B cells	82
4.5 TLR	AND IGG4 PRODUCTION	84
4.6 NATU	URAL TREGS AND IGG4 INDUCTION	85
4.7 CON	CLUDING REMARKS	85
5 REFERE	ENCES	
APPENDIX A:	: EQUIPMENT	100
APPENDIX A: APPENDIX B:	: EQUIPMENT	
APPENDIX A: APPENDIX B: APPENDIX C:	EQUIPMENT CHEMICAL AND REAGENTS BUFFERS, MEDIA AND SOLUTIONS	
APPENDIX A: APPENDIX B: APPENDIX C:	EQUIPMENT CHEMICAL AND REAGENTS BUFFERS, MEDIA AND SOLUTIONS	
APPENDIX A: APPENDIX B: APPENDIX C: APPENDIX D:	: EQUIPMENT : CHEMICAL AND REAGENTS : BUFFERS, MEDIA AND SOLUTIONS : SUPPLEMENTS	
APPENDIX A APPENDIX B APPENDIX C APPENDIX D APPENDIX E	EQUIPMENT CHEMICAL AND REAGENTS BUFFERS, MEDIA AND SOLUTIONS SUPPLEMENTS SOFTWARE	
APPENDIX A: APPENDIX B: APPENDIX C: APPENDIX D: APPENDIX E: ERKLÄRUNG	: EQUIPMENT : CHEMICAL AND REAGENTS : BUFFERS, MEDIA AND SOLUTIONS : SUPPLEMENTS SOFTWARE	
APPENDIX A: APPENDIX B: APPENDIX C: APPENDIX D: APPENDIX E: ERKLÄRUNG	: EQUIPMENT : CHEMICAL AND REAGENTS : BUFFERS, MEDIA AND SOLUTIONS : SUPPLEMENTS SOFTWARE	

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 AN OVERVIEW OF THE IMMUNE SYSTEM

The immune system is an association of organs, tissues and cells that coordinate their actions to prevent, clear or control infections elicited by pathogens such as bacteria, viruses, parasites, or other potential threats^[1]. However, our environment contains many other harmless organisms which can actually activate the immune system in a positive protective manner. In addition, the immune system must be able to differentiate between "self" and "non-self" to avoid autoreactivity. Therefore, a balance between tolerance to harmless and "self" antigens and immunity against pathogens must be maintained ^[2-4]. There are two main components, of the immune system. The first, the innate system is composed of mucous membranes, phagocytes and killer cells which provide non-specific first line defence mechanisms against pathogens^[5]. Cells of innate immunity are activated through receptors such as toll like receptors (TLR) that recognize genetically encoded pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). These PAMPs are specific conserved structures, such as lipopolysaccharide from Gram-positive bacteria, which are released by infected cells, or components of pathogens that do not normally exist in the host. Signalling through TLR for example induces so-called "danger signals", which ultimately leads to rapid clearance of the infection^[6]. Pathogens that overcome this initial immune response are confronted by a second more specific line of defence termed the adaptive immune system^[7]. In contrast to the innate immune system, the adaptive immune response is highly antigen-specific, and requires more time to provide a protective response. The adaptive immune system is composed of different cell types including: B cells, CD8⁺ T cells, CD4⁺ T helper (Th) cells, naturally-occurring and adaptive regulatory T cells (Tregs), NKT cells^[6, 7]... One of the main weapons of the adaptive immune system is its ability to produce antibodies that can specifically target epitopes located on pathogens. B cells are the immune components that produce antibodies

1

and this antibody production is highly modulated by the ongoing cytokine milieu and other factors produced by activated T cells^[8, 9].

1.2 B CELLS

B cells are lymphocytes that develop from lymphoid progenitor cells in the bone marrow^[10]. Lymphoid progenitor cells receive signals from bone marrow stromal cells to begin B cell development^[11]. During the early stages of their development B cells express one important receptor molecule called the pre-B-cell receptor (pre-BCR) which regulates B cell development. The pre-BCR is a heterodimer composed of an immunoglobulin (Ig) heavy chain molecule (H chain) covalently associated with an immunoglobulin light chain-like molecule usually called the surrogate light chain^[12-14]. When B cells develop from their precursors they initiate a complex series of differentiation and selection program which leads to rearrangements of the H chain gene segments^[15]. A successful rearrangement of the heavy chain is a prerequisite for the rearrangement of the light chain. After rearrangement of both light and heavy chains, if the two chains form a viable immunoglobulin, then this complex directs the cell to stop rearranging to ensure that only a single specificity is produced. Correspondingly, the developing B cells which fail to make a productive rearrangement undergo apoptosis^[16, 17]. There are also mechanisms for ensuring the destruction of any new B cell whose antibody reacts too strongly with self-proteins on the surface of host cells^[17]. Immature B cells emerge from the bone marrow to the periphery and migrate into the spleen for their final maturation step^[18]. After this final maturation step, B cells become responsive to antigens and are able to produce antibodies.

1.3 B CELL ACTIVATION AND ANTIBODY PRODUCTION

B cells can be activated in either T cell dependant or independent manners. In order to initiate antibody activation in the former, protein antigens must be simultaneously presented and recognized by the B cell and T cell receptors, whereas in the latter, non-protein antigens can activate B cells directly without the additional T cell receptor recognition.

1.3.1 T-DEPENDANT B CELL ACTIVATION

B cells become activated by T cells by acting as antigen presenting cells. Helper T cells recognize peptide fragments associated with MHC class II molecules on the surface of B cells. T cells then stimulate B cells by releasing lymphokines which act as growth and differentiation factors for the B cells, and also by providing cell contact dependant additional signals such as CD40-CD40L and CD28-B7 ligation^[19]. The initial interaction occurs in the T cell area of secondary lymphoid tissues, where antigen-specific helper T cells and B cells are trapped as a consequence of antigen-specific binding. Further interactions between T cells and B cells occur after migration into the B-cell zone or follicle of secondary lymph organs and form a germinal center ^[6]. T cells help promote B cell clonal expansion and can direct the differentiation of the clonally expanded naive B cells into either, antibody-secreting plasma cells or memory B cells^{[6,} ^{20, 21]}. During B cell differentiation and according to the cytokine milieu generated by the helper T cell-B cell interactions, the antibody isotype can be re-directed. Furthermore, the properties of antibodies produced by B cells can be modified by somatic hypermutation of the V-region gene (variable region gene). Somatic hypermutation and selection for high-affinity binding antibodies occurs in the germinal centers. Helper T cells control these processes by selectively activating cells that have retained their specificity for the antigen and by inducing proliferation and differentiation into plasma cells and memory B cells^[6, 21].

1.3.2 T-INDEPENDENT B CELL ACTIVATION

Non-protein antigens such as polysaccharides can stimulate B cells in the absence of helper T cells. This T independent B cell activation involves the antigen-mediated cross-linking of surface Ig (sIg) receptors on the B cell themselves^[22]. T independent activation does not lead to the production of memory B cells and induces only limited isotype switching. However, responses to these types of antigens, for example lipopolysaccahride (LPS) play a critical role in host defence against pathogens whose surface antigens cannot elicit peptide-specific T-cell responses^[6].

1.4 ANTIBODIES

The main function of B cells is to present antigens to circulating T cells and produce antibodies which in turn bind antigens. Once produced, antibodies are exported by exocytose and reside

within the plasma membrane whereas others are secreted^[23]. Antibodies are found in the plasma and also bound to specific receptors on the invariant (Fc) region of immunoglobulins. They are also found in secretory fluids such as mucus, milk and sweat^[23-25]. All antibodies have a similar overall structure with two light and two heavy chains which are linked by both covalent (disulphide bridges) and non-covalent forces. They are made up of a series of domains of related amino acid sequence which possess common secondary and tertiary structures. These conserved structures are frequently found in proteins involved in cell-cell interactions and are especially important when studying immunology^[26, 27].

1.4.1 ANTIBODY CLASSES

There are five main antibody classes in mice^[28, 29] and humans^[30, 31]. The different types of known antibody are: IgM, IgG, IgA, IgD, and IgE^[30]. Certain classes are further divided into subclasses. For example, in humans IgG has four subtypes; G1, G2, G3, G4 whereas IgA has two: A1 and A2. In mice there are four IgG subclasses G1, G2a, G2b and G3. In contrast to humans there is no mouse IgG4. Members of each subclass have the same isotype and depend on the structure of the adopted heavy chain. The heavy chain is described by Greek letters (mu, gamma, alpha, delta, and epsilon). Antibodies of each isotype have different properties in terms of complement fixation and their ability to bind to immunoglobulin (Ig) receptors. There are two light chain isotypes kappa and lambda; and each B cell expresses only one light chain isotype. Table 1 depicts the different types of antibody, their serum levels, their ability elicit opsonization and to activate complement, NK and mast cells.

	IgM	IgG1	IgG2	IgG3	IgG4	IgA1/2	IgE	IgD
Form	Pentamer	Monomer	Monomer	Monomer	Monomer	Dimer	Monomer	Monomer
Serum level (mg/ml)	1.5	9.0	3.0	1.0	0.5	2.5	3x10 ⁻⁵	0.04
Complement activation	Strong	Strong	Low	Strong	No	No	No	No
NK cell sensitization	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	No	No
Mast cell sensitization	No	Low	No	Low	No	No	Strong	No
Opsonization	Low	Strong	-	Middle	Low	Middle	No	No
Neutralization	Low	Middle	Middle	Middle	Middle	Middle	No	No

Table 1.1: The different types of human immunoglobulin and their functions^[6].

1.4.2 IMMUNOGLOBULIN G SUBCLASSES

IgGs represent one of the most important immunoglobulin classes; they are secreted late on in the ensuing immune response once B cells have gone through affinity maturation. Affinity maturation is the consistent improvement or specificity of the antibody to the antigen; this allows a greater affinity of antibodies during persistent antigen exposure. IgGs are also secreted by memory B cells during secondary immune responses. IgGs have two antigen binding sites which have very high affinity for the same antigen. Earlier studies using specific polyclonal rabbit antiserum against human IgG myeloma proteins revealed the existence of the four human IgG subclasses in clinically healthy subjects are as follows: $IgG1 > IgG2 > IgG3 = IgG4^{[35, 36]}$. Variations in IgG subclasses are an indication of clinical perturbations. A reduction in just one IgG subclass indicates that there is a defect in humoral immunity, whereas increases show a potential ongoing infection.

The four subclasses show more than 95% homology in the amino acid sequence of the constant domains of the γ -heavy chains. The four IgG subclasses show the most differences in their amino acid composition and structure of the 'hinge region', which is the part of the molecule that contains disulfide bonds between the heavy chains. This region, between the Fab (<u>F</u>ragment <u>antigen binding</u>) arms and the two carboxy-terminal domains C_H2 and C_H3) of both heavy chains, determines the flexibility of the molecule^[37]. However, the most important difference between IgG subclasses is their function: activation of complement (IgG1>IgG2>IgG3) or induction of ADCC (IgG1 and IgG3). IgG1 and 2 are the most potent pro-inflammatory immunoglobulins and have a high affinity to complement. In contrast, IgG3 has a lower affinity for complement and IgG4 is unique since it is unable to fix complement (Table 1).

1.4.3 ANTIBODY FUNCTIONS

Antibodies play diverse roles in controlling an ongoing infection. This section briefly describes some of these functions.

1.4.3.1 Agglutination

Antibodies are able to induce agglutination of pathogen: bacteria and viruses. IgM, because of its particular tetramer structure and its ability to change its tri-dimensional conformation is particularly suitable for this process.

1.4.3.2 Opsonization

Antibodies (especially IgG) and complement elements like C3b are able to "tag" microorganisms for destruction, this process is termed opsonization. IgG antibodies bind to the antigens with their Fab end so that phagocytes with their Fc gamma receptors can bind to the coated particles and internalize them^[38].

1.4.3.3 Neutralization

Antibodies can also neutralize targets directly by binding to a vital part of the pathogen or to it released toxins. For example, the human monoclonal antibody called 53-2-3 binds to the tetanus toxin with a high affinity and reduces its toxicity with an efficiency of more than 99% ^[39].

1.4.3.4 Antibody dependent cellular cyto-toxicity (ADCC)

Neutrophils, eosinophils, phagocytes and NK cells all mediate ADCC and activation of the lytic machinery only occurs after ligation of the low affinity Fc gamma RIII molecule, CD16^[40, 41]. ADCC is a vital mechanism against viral and bacterial infections.

1.4.3.5 Immediate (type I) hypersensitivity

Immediate (type I) hypersensitivity is mediated through IgE antibodies. Ligation of the Fc epsilonR1 receptor on mast cells and basophiles leads to the production of inflammatory and vasoactive mediators (histamine), lipid derived mediators (leukotrienes, prostaglandins, platelet activating factor) and cytokines. This phenomenon manifests as allergy but is clearly of benefit in clearance of extracellular parasites.

1.5 T-LYMPHOCYTES

T cells are lymphocytes that originate from the bone marrow like B cells but mature in the thymus^[8] and play a central role in adaptive immune responses^[42]. They serve as crucial effector cells through antigen-specific cyto-toxic activity and production of soluble mediators called

lymphokines^[43]. T lymphocytes have several classes and the two most distinguishable groups are the cyto-toxic or killer T cells^[44] that express the surface marker CD8 and the helper T cell (Th) recognized by surface marker CD4. Both T cell groups originate from the same progenitor that develops into a class of double positive thymocytes $CD4^+CD8^+$ T cells that can further differentiate into "single" positive $CD4^+$ helper T cells or $CD8^+$ cyto-toxic T cells^[45]. Despite their common origin these two groups of T cells play completely different roles in the course of an immune reaction^[46].

1.5.1 Cytotoxic T cells

Cytotoxic T cells or CD8⁺ T cells are activated by antigens (virus peptides for example) within MHC class I molecules and are thus licensed to kill infected cells. Tc cells play an important role in the destruction of cells that have been infected or altered. They are key players in cell mediated immune responses^[47].

1.5.2 HELPER T CELLS

CD4⁺ helper T cells are activated by antigens presented within MHC class II molecules^[47] and upon activation secrete B cell activation factors and cytokines that support B cells activation and in turn antibody production. In addition, T cells also recruit other T cells into the site of infection and begin to proliferate themselves.

Th1 and Th2 are the main helper T cell subsets. The two Th subsets are morphologically identical expressing the TCR and displaying the same T cells markers on their surface^[48, 49]. However, upon activation they produce completely different cytokines and play different roles in the course of an immune reaction. In brief, Th1 cells produce high amounts of IL-2 and IFN- γ and are particularly important in cell-mediated immune responses. In contrast, the Th2 subset is very important in activating and supporting B cell responses through cytokines like IL-4, IL-5 and IL-6^[48, 50-52].

1.5.2.1 Th cell activation

T cell activation is similar for both Th and Tc cells^[53]. After being released from the thymus, Th cells go into the blood stream and lymphatic circulation. When Th cells infiltrate a lymph node, they get the opportunity to interact with antigen presenting cells (APCs) such as B cells,

macrophages, and DCs. T cells interact through their TCR with antigen presented in association with MHC molecules on APCs as described above. The alpha and beta chains of the TCR are associated with a group of five proteins called CD3. The CD3 chains sense the ligation of peptide antigen to the alpha-beta chains and activate a group of ten immunoreceptor tyrosine activation motifs (ITAMs), residing within the CD3 chains, which activate the T cell and begin the immune response^[54]. TCR only recognize antigens presented on the surface of APCs in association with MHC molecules^[55]. The recognition of MHC restricted antigens by the TCR-CD3 complex does not require any other molecules, however, accessory signals provided by co-stimulatory molecules on APCs such as CD80 and CD86, which bind to CD28, and the inducible co-stimulator (ICOS), which binds to ICOS ligand (ICOS-L) are necessary to obtain full T cell activation^[56, 57]. As a result of activation, Th cells produce cytokines like IL-2, up-regulate surface proteins (such as CD25, CTLA-4 and amongst others CD69) and begin to proliferate^[58]. According to the cytokine milieu, Th cells can differentiate into different subclasses: Th1, Th2, Th17 or regulatory T cells.

1.5.2.2 Helper T cell differentiation:

There are four major differentiation pathways for CD4⁺ T cells, specifically: Th1, Th2, Th17, and Treg. The decision to undergo one differentiation pathway is tightly associated with the type of antigen being presented, the co stimulatory factors and the cytokine milieu generated by the APCs and the innate immune system. Th cells activated in the presence of IL-12 or interferon gamma (IFN- γ) for example differentiate into Th1 cells and express the transcription factor Tbet^[59-61]. T-bet induces expression of IFN- γ , and up-regulates the IL-12 receptor β (IL-12R β). Generally, Th1 cells secrete IFN-y, promote cyto-toxic T cell responses, and induce protective immune responses against intracellular pathogens. Interestingly, the Th1 cytokines IL-12 and IFN- γ inhibit other Th cell subsets by essentially blocking the expression of the critical Th2 transcription factor, GATA binding protein 3 (GATA3)^[62] and by promoting IFN- γ production, which is known to inhibit the differentiation of Th17 cells^[63-65]. Th17 cells are a relatively new Th subclass and have been shown to promote inflammation. Recent data have also suggested a role for these cells in eliciting autoimmune pathology. In contrast to Th2 cells which produce IL-4, IL-5 and Th1 cells characterized by their secretion of IL-12 and IFN- γ , Th17 cells secrete IL-17 and TNF-α. They are further characterized by the expression of the retinoic acid-related orphan receptor $\gamma t (ROR\gamma t)^{[66]}$.

As mentioned above, upon T cell activation through TCR ligation, in the presence of costimulatory molecules, $CD4^+$ T cells proliferate and differentiate according to the cytokine microenvironment. When $CD4^+$ T cells are activated in the presence of high concentrations of IL-12 they usually differentiate into Th1 cells and produce IL-2, IFN- γ and TNF. In contrast, naïve $CD4^+$ T cells activated in a microenvironment with low IL-12 but simultaneous high levels of IL-4, differentiate into Th2 T cells and produce IL-4, IL-5, IL-10 and IL-13. The recently discovered Th17 lineage develops from naïve T cells after activation in the presence of TGF- β and IL-6^[67-70]. Tregs can be induced by stimulating CD4⁺ T cells with TGF- β during activation^[67-70]. Tregs produce IL-10 and TGF- β and can suppress in either cell-contact dependent or independent manners. Transcription factor T-bet is essential for Th1 cells whereas GATA3 is a critical Th2 transcription factor. ROR γ t has been shown to be an important Th17 market^[66] and Foxp3 has become the main marker for Tregs.





There are four different pathways for the differentiation of naïve T cells. I)Under influence of proinflammatory cytokines like IL-12, naïve T cells differentiate into Th1 cells that express the transcription factor T-bet and produce cytokines like IL-2, IFN- γ , and TNF. Th1 responses provide protection against intracellular infections but can also induce autoimmunity. II) The second pathway is governed by the combination of IL-6 and TGF- β and lead to the development of Th17 cells. Th17 cells are characterized by the expression of the retinoic acid orphan receptor RoR γ t; they trigger inflammation by producing cytokines like IL-17, IL-22 and IFN- γ and are known to participate in the development of autoimmunity. III) The third pathway conduces to the development of Th2 cells. Th2 cells secrete IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, IL-13, express the transcription factor GATA3 and are known to provide protection against extracellular and parasitic infections. However, Th2 responses through the induction of antibodies like IgE can also cause allergy).IV) The last pathway is mainly governed by the presence of TGF- β (or other regulatory signals). Here naïve T cells are committed into cells with regulatory properties that are characterized by the expression of Foxp3, the production of cytokines like IL-10 and TGF- β and which function is to suppress excessive effector responses. Regulatory T cells can however promote infection and tumor growth.

1.5.3 REGULATORY T CELLS

In contrast to Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells that all induce pro-inflammatory effects and elicit the activation of other T cell subpopulations, the regulatory T cells dampen responses by inducing anti-inflammatory signals. In 1971, the concept of regulatory or "suppressor" T cells was suggested by the work of Gershon and Kondo who showed in adoptive transfer experiments the possibility to transfer antigen-specific tolerance to naive animals^[72]. However this concept quickly lost credibility^[73]. The reasons for this were the inability to identify specific surface markers associated with these suppressor T cells. In addition, due to advances in molecular technology and thus elucidation of T-cell receptor (TCR) genes, it appeared that suppressor T cells did not have functional gene rearrangements. Finally, suppressor T cells were thought to be governed in their activity by the murine I-J locus, which was supposed to code for soluble suppressor factors. The use of hybrid DNA technology to analyze this locus in the early 1980s, gave a lethal challenge to the suppressor T cell theory as it showed that the putative I-J region just did not exist. Although the whole concept of suppressive T cells was discredited and described as an artefact, many experimental observations remained difficult to interpret without postulating some form of active down-regulation of the immune response^[73, 74]. More than 20 years later, in 1995, after the global shame on the suppressor T cell theory, a phenotypic characterization of one class of regulatory T cell was finally described by the group of Shimon Sakaguchi^[75]. Since then, the existence of CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells (Treg) cells, which arise naturally from the thymus is widely approved and tremendously investigated in both rodent models^[76-80] and man^[81-85]. These studies have demonstrated that the cells are essential for controlling autoimmune responses^[76, 86, 87].

1.5.3.1 Subclasses of regulatory T cells (Treg)

Two main groups of T cells with regulatory activity have been described in mouse and man. Naturally occurring CD4⁺ Tregs (nTregs) represent the most described subset. nTregs are generated in the thymus and constitutively express CD25 and Foxp3^[87] and are mainly restricted to auto-antigen recognition and control responses to "self". However, their depletion also leads to stronger effector responses against foreign antigens^[88, 89] highlighting their role as general regulators of the immune system. The molecular mechanisms of immunosuppression by nTreg have been investigated and the most important requirements appear to be direct cell-cell contact with the target cells as well as TGF- β and IL-10^[82, 90]. The second group of Treg named

"induced" Treg can be specific for both "self" and "non-self "antigens. Their immunosuppressive activities are often associated with the production of soluble factors like IL-10 or TGF- $\beta^{[91-95]}$. Different subgroups of induced Treg have been described using diverse experimental setups. One important group, Tr-1, is characterized by their ability to produce large amounts of IL-10. These cells are interesting for therapeutic purposes since they can be induced *in vitro*. Groux *et al.*, described in 1997 the generation of IL-10 producing T cells called Tr-1 cells in both human and rodent models using chronic activation of CD4⁺ T cells in the presence of interleukin IL-10. The obtained CD4⁺ T cells displayed high levels of IL-10 but low proliferation, low levels of IL-2 and no IL-4. In addition, these cells were antigen-specific and could suppress the proliferation and immune responses of antigen-specific effector CD4⁺ T cells in response to antigen both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Moreover, these cells could actively down regulate ongoing pathology^[96].

In 2002, Barrat *et al.*, proposed a protocol using the combination of the immunosuppressive drugs vitamin D3 and dexamethasone to induce both human and mouse naive $CD4^+$ T cells to differentiate *in vitro* into IL-10 producing regulatory T cells. In contrast to the previously described *in vitro* derived $CD4^+$ T cells, these cells produced IL-10 but no IL-5 and IFN- γ and furthermore, retained strong proliferative capacity^[97, 98]. Different methods have been described to expand $CD25^+Foxp3^+$ regulatory T cells *in vitro* using a combination of anti-CD3/anti-CD28 and IL-2^[99]. Recent publications indicate that $CD25^+$ Tregs not only develop in the thymus, but can also differentiate from naive T cells in the periphery^[100]. A protocol using TGF- β was recently proposed to generate *in vitro* TGF- β -induced Tregs (Ti-Tregs). The resulting *in vitro*-induced regulatory T cells express markers of conventional Treg such as CD25 and the genetic program committing transcription factor Foxp3^[100]. Functionally, these Ti-Tregs suppress T-cell activation and proliferation and are able to control inflammation in different animal models^[100].

1.5.3.2 Suppressive mechanisms

Although it is now well established that regulatory T cells suppress immune responses, the mechanisms used for this suppression are not completely elucidated. Two main groups of mechanisms have been described including cell contact dependant and cytokine mediated suppression. Cell contact mechanisms are mediated mostly by surface TGF- β and CTLA-4^[101-104], whereas secreted TGF- β and IL-10 mediate cell contact independent mechanisms^[105]. Natural Tregs expressing CD25 and Foxp3 are believed to use contact dependent mechanisms in contrast to antigen-induced IL-10 positive regulatory T cells suppression is mediated through soluble factors like IL-10 and TGF- β ^[105].

1.5.3.3 Regulatory T cells in infection

Whereas Treg are desired for the inhibition of auto-immunity, they have been shown to have a negative role during certain infections. Several pathogens that lead to chronic infection have been found to induce Treg both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. This phenomenon has been well examined using *Bordetella pertussis* infection. Survival of the bacteria has been shown to be enhanced by the induction of specific Treg to the bacteria's filament-associated haemagglutinine (FHA). Similar situations using adaptive Treg which benefit both host and invading parasite or virus have been identified during infections with Candida^[106, 107],Hepatitis C virus^[108, 109], Leishmania^[110], Filaria^[111, 112] and malaria^[44, 113, 114]. In the latter parasitic infection it was recently shown that the increase in CD25⁺ Treg in infected patients corresponded with malaria parasite growth and such evidence indicates that the parasites, bacteria or viruses manipulate the suppressive T cell responses for their own advantage^[44]. In filarial helminth infections, it has been reported that in situations of immune hypo-responsiveness, functional antigen-specific Treg have been identified which constitutively express CTLA-4 and produce high levels of IL-10 or IL-10 and TGF-β^[115, 116]. This phenomenon is described in more detail in the following section.

1.5.3.4 Regulation of the humoral immune responses: IgG4 production in infectious and allergic diseases

As mentioned above the Tregs are known to prevent the development of autoimmune diseases and are also involved in prevention of sensitization to allergens^[77, 87, 117, 118]. A possible use of Tregs to cure or prevent allergic diseases is a currently discussed issue^[77]. Th2 responses to allergens are known to be suppressed by CD4⁺CD25⁺ Tregs or IL-10 producing Tr-1 cells ^{[119, ^{120]}. In animal models, Tregs could be induced using high doses of antigen and the induction of such Tregs prevented subsequent development of allergen sensitization and airway inflammation in inhaled challenge models^[121-124]. For many years, allergen-injection immunotherapy has been used for the treatment of allergic disease, and this therapy is thought to induce protective IL-10 Tr-1 cells which suppress Th2 responses and induce a switch from IgE to IgG4 antibody production^[125, 126]. Figure 1.2 illustrates the course of such a deviation of the immune response due to the induction of IL-10 producing Tr-1 cells. Furthermore, it could be demonstrated that peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) of allergic patients, that were successfully hyposensitized, produced more IL-10 in response to these allergens and in addition higher production of IgG4^[124, 127-130].}

Thus in allergy therapy, IgG4 antibody production induces protection against a given antigen whereas IgE antibodies are linked to ongoing allergic responses^[131].



Figure 1.2: Potential mechanisms of conventional allergen immunotherapy.

Natural environmental exposure to allergens induces the activation or maintenance of atopic Th2 T cell responses leading to allergy (blue arrows). High-dose allergen exposure during immunotherapy leads to immune deviation of Th2 responses in favor of a Th1 response and the generation of IL-10 and TGF- β -producing Tregs. The cytokines produced by Tregs induce preferential switching of B cell responses in favor of IgG4 antibodies. IgGs and especially IgG4 competes with IgE for the circulating allergen which subsequently down regulates IgE-dependent Th2 responses. Furthermore, Treg may directly inhibit Th2 and Th1 T cell proliferation (red blocked lines). Blue arrows represent immune response pathway to natural exposure (low-doses antigen and IgE); dotted lines represent possible means of action not yet fully understood^[130]

Interestingly aspects of nematode filarial infections also correlate with the observations found during allergic responses. In Onchocerciasis for example, there are two possible outcomes in the development of infection: the generalized onchocerciasis, where infected individuals with high parasitemia and microfilaria present few clinical symptoms and the hyper responsive onchocerciasis where individuals demonstrate low parasitemia and few microfilaria but intense dermal pathology (also termed sowda form). In the latter form, dermal and ocular complications, including blindness are caused by the reaction of the host's immune system to the parasite, particularly the microfilaria^[132, 133]. Interestingly, persons with the generalized form exhibit significantly higher ratios of IgG4 to IgG1 and IgG4 to IgE^[134]. Prominent IgG4 levels in hyporesponsive patients positively correlate with worm load^[135, 136].

In addition, a high parasite load correlates with IL-10 which stems from CD4⁺ T cells and possibly macrophages. These IL-10 producing T cells have been shown to elicit the production of the non complement fixing immunoglobulin IgG4 by B cells. This IgG4 production is one of the suspected mechanisms involved in the development of generalized onchocerciasis. In contrast, worm specific IgE antibody levels correlate positively with microfilaria clearance but also to immunopathology^[137, 138] and such, low parasite loads were found in hyper responsive patients with high levels of IL-4 and IL-5^[139, 140].

Furthermore, it has been reported that adaptive regulatory T cells induced by filarial antigens can down-regulate both Th1 and Th2 effector cells responses in addition to inducing IgG4 production by B cells. These regulatory mechanisms encouraged the development of the generalized form of onchocerciasis, characterized by low pro-inflammatory reaction^[141] by inhibiting proinflammatory signals that may lead to hypersensitivity. Figure 1.3 illustrates this key role of regulatory T cells in avoiding the development of the hyper reactive form of onchocerciasis.



Figure 1.3: Network of interaction in the immunomodulation during filarial infection.

The polar forms of host reactivity in human onchocerciasis: generalized onchocerciasis vs. Sowda (hyper-reactive onchocerciasis). Red lines represent pathways conducing to parasite clearance and hypersensitivity (Sowda form) including Th1 and Th2 effector cytokines and blue lines represent tolerogenic pathways including regulatory T cells immunosuppressive cytokine, IL-10 and TGF- β , as well as the production of IgG4 by B cells, conducing to parasite tolerance (Generalized onchocerciasis)^[141].

1.6 AIM OF THIS THESIS

Previous studies have identified that regulatory cytokines like IL-10 and TGF- β were responsible for the antigen-specific cellular hypo-responsiveness in chronic human helminth infections^[142]. Furthermore, T cell clones (TCC) with regulatory properties, characterized by IL-10^{high}IL- 4^{low} IFN- γ^{low} and generated using a combination of tetanus toxoid antigen and IL-10 were demonstrated in direct T-B co-culture to be able to induce IgG4 production from B cells. This IgG4 induction was cell-contact dependant and IL-10 was an absolute requirement for this response^[143]. More recently in patients with autoimmune pancreatitis, CD4⁺CD25^{high} Tregs, were associated with high levels of serum IgG4 and to be involved in shifting B cells into IgG4-producing plasma cells^[144].

The present work was aimed at analyzing the components required by regulatory T cells to induce IgG4 secretion from B cells. The first task was to generate T cell lines (TCL) using tetanus toxoid or O.v extract and DD3 (vitamin D3 and dexamethasone) which enhances IL-10 producing cells in vitro. After multiple rounds of antigen-specific stimulation, IL-10 producing TCL were then cloned and characterized to decipher whether they possessed a Th1 (non Tr-TCC), Th2 or regulatory T cell (Tr-TCC) profile. Upon generation of IL-10^{high}IL-4^{low}IFN-γ^{low} Tr-TCC, the ability of these cells to suppress both antigen-specific and non-specific Th1 cells was tested using a variety of specific assays. Suppressive Tr-TCC were then analyzed for their ability to induce different IgG subclasses in vitro using a T:B cell co-culture assay. Tr-TCC with the ability to preferentially drive IgG4 were then used to decipher the mechanisms and components thereof, that were involve in this IgG class switch. Investigations that were performed in order to elucidate these mechanisms included 1) neutralization experiments with antibodies to GITR, GITRL, CTLA-4, ICOS, IL-10 and TGF-B, 2) silencing Foxp3 with specific siRNA using nucleofection techniques and 3) PCR of T cell transcription factors. In addition, the phenotypic characteristics and functional activity of Tr-TCC was compared with nTreg (CD4⁺CD25⁺) that were directly isolated from healthy PBMC. These experiments were performed to determine whether the mechanism involved in IgG4 induction was restricted to IL-10 producing Tr-TCC or were perhaps a common feature for all Treg. Finally, it was investigated whether simultaneous TLR activation on the B cells or the Tr-TCC themselves could influence the outcome of IgG responses.

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

To describe the materials and methods used throughout this work, this chapter is divided into five sections. In section 2.1, there is a general summary of the necessary materials. This section is followed by detailed accounts regarding cell culture 2.2, cell immunology assays 2.3, and molecular biology procedures 2.4. Chapter subsections which are of particular interest to this work are the protocols used to generate the regulatory T cell clones (2.3.3), the techniques used to identify the suppressive capacity of these clones (2.3.2) and the co-culture assays performed to detect the ability of those clones to induce B cells to produce IgG4 (2.3.7) The protocols for the various buffers and solutions referred to in this chapter are described in appendices A-E.

2.1 MATERIALS

This section covers the variety of materials that were used throughout the study, beginning with clarification about the different blood samples obtained from the University blood bank and continuing with accounts of the plastic ware and the required antibodies. Finally, there is a description about how the different antigens were prepared.

2.1.1 BLOOD SAMPLES, PBMCS, APCS / FEEDER CELLS

Blood samples used in this study were collected from healthy European donors and were kindly provided by the Institute for Experimental Haematology and Transfusion Medicine, University Clinic Bonn, Germany. The only selection criteria were the willingness of the donors to participate in the study. The study was approved by the University Clinic Bonn ethic committee ("Ethikkommission der Medizinischen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn"). PBMCs were separated from citrate venous blood by gradient centrifugation on Ficoll-

Plaque (density 1.077; PAA, Germany). The isolated PBMC were either immediately used or cryo-preserved (see section 2.2.3). The HLA type of the donors was characterized by PCR (kindly performed by the Department of Clinical Medicine Bonn) to ensure that no allogenic responses could occur in cell cultures in which no autologous APCs or B cells were available. Twenty donors were consistently used throughout this study. Table 2.1 below shows the patients numbers and the corresponding information about their haplotypes.

PATIENT	HLA-A	HLA-B	DRB	PATIENT	HLA-A	HLA-B	DRB
SB1	02 03	07 15	11/15 (3*5*)	SB11	01 68	07 08	03/07 (3*4*)
SB2	01 02	07 08	03/15 (3*5*)	SB12	01 24	08 15	03/14 (-*3*)
SB3	02 26	07 56	03/07 (3*4*)	SB13	01 02	08 44	03/04 (3*4*)
SB4	03 26	35 38	07/15 (4*5*)	SB14	01 24	08 40	03/11 (3*/-*)
SB5	03 29	18 45	03/04 /3*4*)	SB15	02 /	38 44	11/- (3*/-*)
SB6	02 /	13 39	04/13 (4*3*)	SB16	03 31	07 18	03/15 (3*5*)
SB7	26 66	14 27	01/04 (4*5*)	SB17	24 26	07 /	04/15 (4*5*)
SB8	01 24	35 37	13/15 (4*5*)	SB18	02 24	07 39	08/11 (-*3*)
SB9	02 /	27 40	03/15 (3*5*)	SB19	01 68	07 14	03/15 (3*5*)
SB10	02 /	27 44	01/14 (-*5*)	SB20	11 24	40 51	11/15 (3*5*)

Table 2.1 Donor patient number and information about their haplotypes.

2.1.2 PLASTIC AND GLASSWARE

All plastic and glassware equipment was supplied by one of the following firms: Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany, Becton Dickinson, Heidelberg, Germany, or Greiner, Friekenhausen Germany.

2.1.3 ANTIBODIES AND MICROBEADS

Anti-GITR-APC, blocking anti-GITR, anti-IL-10, anti-TGF-β antibodies and their corresponding isotype controls were obtained from R&D systems, (Wiesbaden, Germany). PE-conjugated anti-Foxp3, anti-ICOS and blocking anti-ICOS antibody were from eBioscience (San Diego USA). All other antibodies used for cell culture, flow cytometry or ELISA were purchased from BD

Biosciences (Heidelberg, Germany). Anti CD3/CD28 T cell expansion beads as well as magnetic cell sorting beads were purchased from Dynal/Invitrogen GmbH (Karlsruhe, Germany).

2.1.4 ANTIGENS AND RECOMBINANT PROTEINS

2.1.4.1 Onchocerca volvulus extract

Aqueous soluble *Onchocerca volvulus* extracts were prepared from adult female worms that were isolated from Onchocerca nodules from infected patients. Worms were isolated after collagenase digestion of the nodules and then shock frozen in liquid nitrogen^[145]. For antigen preparation, mortar and pestle were first placed on ice and pre-cooled by filling the mortar with liquid nitrogen. The eluting buffer which contained E64 (10 μ M, PMSF, 500 μ M, Benzamidin 6.4 mM, in PBS pH7.4) was freshly prepared and chilled on ice. The worms were then pulverized in liquid nitrogen and the powder was collected in a chilled falcon tube. Then 1 ml per worm of the eluting buffer was added and the solution was mixed. The lysate was incubated overnight at 4°C under gentle rotation and then centrifuged at 4°C for 1hour 30 minutes at 150,000xg. The supernatant containing the soluble proteins was double filtered through a 4.5 μ m filter in order to remove large debris and then through a 0.2 μ m sterile filter. The protein concentration was determined by Bradford assay and Coomassie solutions and the antigens were stored at -80°C until use.

2.1.4.2 Tetanus toxoid

Tetanus toxoid was kindly provided by Dr. C. Hungerer (Chiron Behring, Marburg, Germany).

2.1.4.3 Recombinant proteins

Several recombinant proteins were throughout this study; as ELISA standard (rIL-2, rIL-4, rIL-10, rTGF- β and rIFN- γ) or as cell culture supplement or source of exogenous active proteins (rIL-2, rIL-10, rTGF- β rGITR and rGITRL). All recombinant proteins used in this study were purchased from BD Biosciences (Heidelberg, Germany).

2.2 Cell culture Procedures

2.2.1 ISOLATION OF PBMCs

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) or PBLs for peripheral blood lymphocytes were isolated from heparanized whole blood using a ficoll based density gradient separation method^[146, 147]. The entire isolation procedure was carried out on ice. The heparanized blood was diluted 1:2 in RPMI medium supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine and 50 µg/ml gentamycin and penicillin (RPMI+++). The diluted blood sample was then gently pipetted onto 15ml of Ficoll that was already within in a 50 ml falcon tube. The suspension was then centrifuged for 20 minutes at 4°C, 800g without brake. The white layer containing the leukocytes was then carefully collected into a new tube using a 2 ml-pipette and washed twice with RPMI+++ to remove the remaining ficoll. For washing, 20 ml of RPMI+++ was added to the cell pellet, gently mixed and centrifuged for 8 minutes at 4°C and 400g. The supernatant was discarded and the washing step was repeated again.

2.2.2 Cell viability and counting

The number of the living cells was determined using a trypan blue based exclusion method and was expressed in number of cells per ml. The cell suspension was diluted 1:2 or 1:5 with a solution of 0.4% trypan blue. 10µl of the mixed solution was then loaded onto a cell counting chamber or haematocytometer, (Neubauer, Assistent, Germany), and the living cells (non-coloured) were counted. PBMCs were not used when more than 5% of the cells were dead (blue coloured).

2.2.3 FREEZING OF ISOLATED CELLS

Cell suspensions were adjusted to a concentration of 2-3 x 10^7 cells/ml, depending on whether PBLs, feeder cells, lymphocytes lines or T-cell clones were to be frozen. The freezing medium, pre-cooled on ice, was slowly added drop by drop to the same volume of suspended cells, with intermittent mixing, and quickly frozen in a Nunc cryotube (2 ml/tube) at -80° C for at least 24 hours and then in liquid nitrogen.

2.2.4 FREEZING OF CULTURED CELLS

At the end of the stimulation cycle, cultured cells were cryo-conserved by freezing up to 2-5 x 10^{6} cells/tube. For this purpose, 100-150µl of supernatant per well was removed from the cultures wells and pooled in a 15 ml falcon tube. After centrifugation at 1300 rpm for 8 min at 4°C, the pellet was re-suspended in 1ml RPMI 1640 medium containing 10% FCS. The cell concentration was adjusted to 2-5 x 10^{6} cells/ml and the cells were frozen as described above.

2.2.5 THAWING OF FROZEN CELLS

As with freezing, all thawing procedures were fulfilled on ice. The cryotubes were removed from liquid nitrogen or from -80°C, and quickly thawed in 2-3 minutes between the palms of both hands. The content of the cryotube was poured into a 15ml falcon tube and 10ml of pre-cooled culture medium was slowly added over a 5-10 minute period with frequent mixing. After centrifugation at 1300 rpm for 8 minutes at 4°C, to wash away the freezing medium which is toxic for the cells, cells were washed once again with 10ml culture medium, re-suspended in 1 ml, adjusted to the appropriate concentration and used in stimulation assays.

2.3 Cell immunology procedures

2.3.1 IRRADIATION OF PBMCs FOR USE AS FEEDER CELLS OR APCS

After isolation of the living cells, PBMCs destined for use as APCs or feeder cells were γ irradiated for 15 minute at 4000rads using a Gamma cell irradiator (Atomic Energy of Canada). This rendered them unable to proliferate but did not affect their ability to present antigen and thus suitable as APCs and or feeder cells since there could be no interference with target cell proliferation. Irradiated cells were adjusted to 1×10^7 cells/ml and frozen until used.

2.3.2 Assessment of cell activation and proliferation

During the characterisation phase of the generated clones several different techniques were used to assess cell activation and proliferation.

2.3.2.1 Tritium incorporation

Cells undergoing proliferation increase their rate of protein and DNA synthesis. The increase in DNA synthesis can be measured by adding ³[H] thymidine, a radioisotope-labelled DNA precursor, to the cell culture medium. The amount of tritium taken up by the dividing cells is proportional to the level of cell proliferation. In short, cells were cultured in the presence or absence of antigen presenting cells and specific antigens, inhibiting cells or controls for 72 hours. For the last 18 hours, 25 μ l/well of 0.2 μ Ci ³[H]-thymidine was added to the wells. The cells were then lysed by freezing at -20°C. Thereafter, the supernatant was filtrated with a 5% polyethyleneimine-treated Whatman GF/B filter paper under vacuum. The filters were then dried at 37°C. 10ml/filter of Fisher Scintisafe 30% Liquid Scintillation Cocktail was then added and the filters are sealed and the trapped radioactivity was analyzed using a Beckman Coulter LS 6500 liquid scintillation counter. Proliferation was expressed as counts per minute (cpm).

2.3.2.2 CFSE based assays

Another method for the determination of cell proliferation was the use of Carboxy Fluoroscein Succinimidyl Ester (CFSE). CFSE is a dye which in moderate concentrations is not harmful to cells. Upon entering cells, it undergoes esterase cleavage and diffuses throughout the cytoplasm. As cells divide, the CFSE is split equally between the daughter cells resulting in diminished CFSE signal detection^[148, 149] which can be observed by flow cytometry. Thus the amount of cell division made by the labelled cells can be determined. In this work we used this property of *in vitro* labelling of CFSE to T cells to quantify their proliferation after antigen or mitogenic stimulation or their ability to inhibit other cell types. In brief, $1x10^5$ conventional CD4⁺CD25⁻ effector T cells or antigen-specific effector T cell lines or clones with a Th1 phenotype were used as reporter cells. These cells were incubated with generated Tr-TCC ($1x10^5$) that were previously labelled with 2.5 μ M of CFSE. The reporter cells were then stimulated with either anti CD3/CD28 expansion beads (0.125μ l beads/200\mul) or with APCs loaded with antigen. Following stimulation, the reduction of CFSE was measured on days 3 and 7 using the FACS CantoTM flow cytometry machine and data were analyzed using the FACS Canto DivaTM software.

2.3.2.3 Alamar-Blue based assay

Alamar-Blue is an indicator dye that can quantitatively measure the proliferation of a variety of human or animal cells. The dye is a sensitive oxidation-reduction (REDOX) indicator that

undergoes colorimetric changes (from blue to pink) as well as changes in fluorescent signal in response to metabolic activities (reduction).

In some experiments the reduction of Alamar-Blue due to cellular activity was used to assess the proliferation of T cells. 10% v/v of Alamar-Blue was added to 1×10^5 activated T cells and controls and the colour change was assessed after 24-72 incubation at 37°C. Alamar-Blue is reduced by FMNH₂, FADH₂, NADH, NADPH, all components of cellular metabolism that are upregulated during proliferation. Upon reduction the dye originally blue, changes it colour and fluorescence and becomes pink. These changes can be measured using the spectrophotometer at 565 and 595 nm

2.3.2.4 Activation assay: CD69 up-regulation

The CD69 (Leu-23) is a phosphorylated 28 to 32-kDa disulfide-linked homodimer protein that is rapidly induced after lymphocyte activation. CD69 is not present on the surface of resting T cells but appears on their surface after activation^[150]. In this work the levels of CD69 before and after stimulation were assessed 24 hours following TCR ligation with anti-CD3 or antigen stimulation by FACS analysis and its up-regulation was used as an indication for T cell activation. $1x10^5$ T cells were incubated with antigen and $1x10^5$ APCs or anti-CD3/CD28 for 24 hours. Cells were then harvested and stained with fluorescently-labelled antibodies to detect CD4 or CD3 T cell populations and their levels of CD69. Controls of non-stimulated T cells as well as T cells stimulated with non-specific antigens were also examined.

2.3.3 GENERATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF REGULATORY T CELL LINES (TCL) AND T CELL CLONES (TCC)

2.3.3.1 Successive stimulation of PBMC in the presence of antigen and dexamethasone plus vitamin D3 (DD3)

For the generation of TCL, isolated PBMC were stimulated in a 96-well round bottom well plate at a concentration of 1×10^5 cells with 10 µg/ml tetanus toxoid or 10μ g/ml O.v antigen. Some cells were also stimulated with a combination of antigen and vitamin D3 (15ng/ml) and dexamethasone (12ng/ml). The culture medium was composed of RPMI+++supplemented with 10 % FCS. After 10 days, cells underwent another round of stimulation with the same antigens with or without DD3 and in the presence of irradiated autologous APCs (1x10⁵cells/well). This step was repeated again 10 days thereafter. After the last stimulation TCL were directly used, frozen or pre-stimulated with PHA (1µg/ml) for T cell cloning.

2.3.3.2 T cell cloning

Cells were pre-stimulated with PHA (1µg/ml) for 72 h in the presence of recombinant human IL-2 (100 U/ml) and autologous feeder cells. The pre-stimulated cells were then harvested, counted and diluted to obtain a stock solution of 10,000 cells per ml. This cell suspension was then used to create serial dilutions so that different concentrations of cells were plated per well (20µl) (Scheme 2.1): 30 cells/well, 10 cells/well, 3 cells/well and 1/well in Terasaki plates (Greiner). Cells were plated with irradiated PBMCs (1x10⁴/well) used as feeder cells with 1µg/ml PHA and 200U/ml IL-2. Plates were then incubated for 10 days at 37°C in 5% CO₂ in boxes containing distilled water to ensure the small volume of medium in the wells did not dry out.



Scheme 2.1: Generation of antigen-specific T cell clones.

TCL were pre-stimulated with PHA ($1\mu g/ml$) for 72 h in the presence of recombinant IL-2 (100 U/ml) and autologous feeder cells. Pre-stimulated cells were then harvested and stock solution of $1x10^4$ cells/well was prepared. This stock was then used to prepare different concentrations of cells. Cells were plated to obtain 30, 10, 3 and 1 cell/well on Terasaki plates (Greiner). Cells were stimulated with $1\mu g/ml$ PHA and 100U/ml IL-2 in presence of 10^6 Cells/ml irradiated PBMCs used as feeder cells. Plates were then incubated for 10 days at 37° C in 5% CO₂. After 10 days, proliferated were selected. T cell clones were preferentially harvested from plates with 1 cell per well.

At day 9 after cloning, the wells were screened using a Leica inversed microscope and positive clones which had visibly proliferated were selected and picked the following day. T cell clones

were preferentially harvested from plates with less than 10% positive clones. Picked cells were then transferred onto 96-wells plates in a total volume of 200 μ l with 1 μ g/ml PHA and 100 U/ml IL-2 in RPMI/10%FCS and cultured at 37°C for 24 hours. The medium was then changed to dilute the PHA concentration and cells were incubated for further 9 days.

2.3.3.3 Expansion of T-cell clones

After the first 10 days of stimulation with PHA, the picked T cell clones were further restimulated with anti-CD3/CD28 (0.125μ l/well) T cell expansion Dynal beads in the presence of 100U/ml IL-2. Expander beads allowed the clones to grow without contaminating them with feeder cells and antigen so that they could then be used "pure" in further assays.

2.3.3.4 Antigen specificity and cytokine analysis of the T cell clones

To find out whether the generated T cell clones were specific to tetanus toxoid or O.v antigens they were subjected to a proliferation test with the appropriate antigen. Matched feeder cells were used as antigen presenting cells (APCs) as follows: $1x10^5$ APCs/well in culture medium supplemented with 10% FCS were incubated either in medium alone or with O.v antigen (25µg/ml) or tetanus toxoid antigen (10µg/ml). The T cell clones were washed in culture medium and then added at a concentration of 5-10x10⁴/well. After 72 hours, 100µl of supernatant was collected for cytokine analysis using ELISA. The proliferation rate was then determined after a further 18 h incubation in presence of ³[H] thymidine (see section 2.3.2.1).

2.3.4 CYTOKINE ELISA

After T cell culture, supernatants were collected after 24 h for IL-2 and IL-4 and 72 hours for IL-10, IFN- γ and TGF- β measurement. Cytokines were quantified using cytokine-specific sandwich ELISA. ELISA-plates were coated with 50 µl /well of the appropriate anti-cytokine mAb (2 µg/ml; 8D4-8, JES3- 9D7, and NIB42 Becton Dickinson; for IL-4, IL-10, TGF- β and IFN- γ , respectively) diluted in 0.1 M NaHCO₃-Na₂HCO₃ buffer. Plates were incubated overnight at 4°C (or alternatively at 37°C for 2 hours). After incubation, plates were washed four times with PBS containing 0.05 % Tween-20 and blocked for 1 h at 37°C with 200 µl of 1 % BSA/ PBS per well. Supernatants or recombinant cytokine standards (all from Becton Dickinson) were then diluted 1:2 and added at a volume of 50µl/well. Plates were incubated overnight at 4°C (or 2 hours at 37°C), then washed, and the corresponding biotinylated secondary antibody (1µg/ml) was added at 100 µl / well. Plates were then incubated for 2 h at room temperature and washed four times
with 1x PBS containing 0.05% Tween-20. Streptavidin-peroxidase complex (1:10,000) was then added to each well at 100 μ l/well. After 1 h of incubation at room temperature, plates were developed by adding 100 μ l/ well of substrate solution containing 0.3 mg/ml of TMB and 10-³ ml/ml of H₂O₂ (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) in substrate buffer (0.2M Na₂HPO₄). After 15 minutes of incubation at room temperature, the reaction was stopped by adding 25 μ l of 4N H₂SO₄ /well and plates were measured at 450 nm using an ELISA plate reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale USA).

2.3.5 FLOW CYTOMETRY ANALYSIS

2.3.5.1 Surface markers

For surface markers (CD4, CD19, GITR, ICOS, CD69), $5x10^4$ cells were re-suspended in 100 µl of PBS and blocked with 2µl of human Fc-block (Sigma Aldrich). 8µl/5x10⁴ cells of the indicated antibodies or appropriate isotype controls were added, gently mixed by vortexing and incubated at 4°C for 30 min. Cells were washed twice with 1x PBS, fixed in 4% PFA and analysed using the FACSCanto® flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). Lymphocyte populations were gated based on forward and side scatter and at least 30,000 events were acquired for each experiment. Data were then analyzed with FACS Diva® software (Becton Dickinson).

2.3.5.2 Intracellular Foxp3 staining

Intracellular Foxp3 staining was performed according to the manufacturers' protocol (eBioscience). In brief, pre-surface stained cells were permeabilized using the fix/perm buffer provided by the supplier. The cells were then washed and blocked for 15 minutes with 2μ L of rat serum in a total volume of 100 μ L. Immediately after, Foxp3-PE (PCH 101) was added for a further 30 minutes. After two additional washing steps, the cells were acquired using the FACSCanto® flow cytometer. T lymphocyte populations were gated based on forward and side scatter. At least 30,000 events were acquired for the analysis of Foxp3⁺ cells. Data was then analyzed with FACS Diva® software.

2.3.5.3 Intracellular cytokines staining

 1×10^5 cells were stimulated with PMA-ionomycin (50ng/ml PMA and 1µM ionomycin) for either 3h-4h for IFN- γ , 5h for IL-10 and 8-10h for TGF- β . Protein secretion was blocked for the last 3 hours of the incubation using 100ng/ml of monesin (Golgi stop) solution (BD Biosciences)

according to the manufacturer's protocol. Cells were then stained for surface proteins such as CD4, CD3 CD19, and GITR and then permeabilized using the eBioscience permeabilization reagent for 30 minutes. After a washing step, cells were stained using 5µl of the corresponding antibody towards IFN- γ , IL-10, TGF- β , IL-4 or their isotype controls after 30 minutes. Cells were then washed twice and acquired using the FACSCanto® flow cytometer. T lymphocyte populations were gated based on forward and side scatter. At least 30,000 events were acquired for the analysis of cells. Data were then analyzed with FACS Diva® software.

2.3.6 MAGNETIC CELLS SORTING

2.3.6.1 Isolation of CD19+ B cells

Dynabeads® CD19 (111.03), CD19 detachabeads® (125.06), and Dynabeads CD4 (113.03) were all purchased from Dynal/Invitrogen (Karlsruhe, Germany) and were routinely used to isolate CD19⁺ B cells and CD4⁺ T cells according to the manufacturer's protocols. Briefly, 200µl of specific dynabeads were added to a 15 ml tube and washed twice with 5 ml of 2 % FCS/PBS using the Dynal MPC® (Dynal magnetic particle concentrator). Thereafter, beads were resuspended in RPMI 1640 medium containing 10% FCS. Approximately, 1x10⁵ PBMC were added to the CD19⁺ Dynabeads and incubated for 20 min at 4°C under gentle vortexing. The rosetted cells were then washed four times with 2% FCS/PBS and re-suspended in 500µl of RPMI 1640 medium with 10 % FCS. CD19 detachabeads (100µl) were then added and incubated for 45 min at room temperature under gentle rotation. The suspension containing the detached beads was collected and the detached beads were washed twice. To analyse the purity of the isolated cells, small fractions were double stained before and after isolation with APC-labelled anti-CD20 and PE-labelled anti-CD45 antibody. Fluorescence was measured using a FACSCanto® flow cytometer and analysis was performed using the FACS Diva software. Analysis was performed in accordance with classical lymphocyte gates (Fig 2.1).



Figure 2.1: FACS controls for B cells isolation.

A classic lymphocyte gate was use for analysis (A). Total PBMC contains approximately 20% $CD20^+B$ cells (B). The isolated B cells had a purity of approximately 98% (C). The purity of the isolations of B cells using Dynabeads and detachabeads was routinely > 98% in each experiment.

2.3.6.2 Isolation of CD4⁺ T cells

 $CD4^+$ T cells were isolated using the positive $CD4^+$ isolation kit from Dynal/Invitrogen in accordance with manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 200 µl of $CD4^+$ dynabeads were added to a 15 ml tube and washed twice with 5 ml of 2 % FCS/PBS using the Dynal MPC®. Beads were then re-suspended in 10% FCS containing RPMI 1640 medium. Approximately, $1x10^5$ PBMC were added to the $CD4^+$ dynal beads and incubated for 20 min at 4°C under gentle vortexing. The rosetted cells were then washed four times with 2% FCS/PBS and re-suspended in 500 µl of medium. 100µl of detach-beads was then added; the suspension was mixed by inversion and incubated for 45 min at room temperature. The tube containing the suspension of the detached beads and the free $CD4^+$ cells was then decanted on the magnet and the solution containing the $CD4^+$ cells was collected in a new tube.

To analyse the purity of the isolated cells, small fractions were double stained before and after isolation with APC-labelled anti-CD4 and PE-labelled anti-CD45 antibody. Fluorescence was measured using a FACSCanto® flow cytometer and analysis was performed using the FACS Diva software. The purity of the isolation was routinely > 99%.

2.3.6.3 Isolation of CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells

 $CD4^+CD25^+$ double positive regulatory T cells were isolated using the $CD4^+CD25^+$ regulatory T cell isolation kit from Miltenyi Biotech according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, CD4 T cells were first isolated by negative selection and then incubated with CD25 microbeads. Positive cells were then enriched by positive selection. $CD4^+$ $CD25^+$ T cells were run over a second magnetic column to increase the purity. The purity in all assays was routinely > 90%.

The expression of Foxp3 in the isolated cells was controlled per FACS analysis and was always around 90%.

2.3.6.4 Isolation of naive and memory CD19⁺ B cells

Naive and memory B cells were isolated using the CD27⁺ B cell isolation kit from Miltenyi Biotech according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, CD19⁺ B cells were isolated as described in section 2.3.7.1 and subsequently incubated with CD27 microbeads and separated by positive selection from the CD27⁻ B cells. The CD27⁻ fraction was used as naïve B cells.

2.3.7 IN VITRO IMMUNOGLOBULIN PRODUCTION ASSAY

T cells affect many aspects of B cell development and function^[151]. T cell derived lymphokines and growth factors (B cell growth Factors (BCGF) as well as isotype differentiation factors initiate and control B cell maturation and immunoglobulin production^[152-161]. Furthermore, membrane bound ligands on T cells play a critical role in B cell differentiation and antibody production. Signals received through CD27^[162], OX40^[163] and TNF-R1^[164], CD40 or BAFF-R (B cell Activator Factor of TNF Family Receptor)^[165] all having their ligand on T cell, promote B cell survival, proliferation, and immunonoglobulin secretion. In this work, an assay was designed to assess T-B cell reactions during co-culture. T cells were activated with anti-CD3/CD28 (10µg/ml/2.5µg/ml), to produce soluble factors and activate membrane associated ligands which could induce B cells to secrete immunoglobulins. The culture medium was composed of supplemented RPMI 1640 and 10% FCS. B cells were isolated as described in section 2.3.7. Neutralizing antibodies in pre-titrated concentrations or corresponding isotype controls was added to specifically block the function of proteins of interest in the co-culture systems. B and T cells were then co-cultivated in a ratio of 1:2 ($5x10^4$ B cells: $1x10^5$ T cells) for 14 days at 37°C to allow full B cell differentiation and immunoglobulin secretion. IgG1, 2, 3 and 4 levels were then measured in supernatants using IgG subclass kits (PeliClass kit, Sanguin, Amsterdam, Netherlands) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Detection ranges were 6-89 ng/ml for IgG1, 25-400 ng/ml for IgG2, 3-48 ng/ml for IgG3 and 4-64 ng/ml for IgG4, respectively.

2.3.8 TRANSWELL ASSAYS

To test the necessity of cell-contact in immunoglobulin productions, transwell assays were used in which different T and B cells were co-cultivated as described in 2.3.7, but within 24-well cell culture plates and separated with a tissue culture insert (8 μ m; Nunc). Generated Tr-TCC (2.5 x 10⁵/well) were co-cultured in the upper chamber with 1.25 x 10⁵ CD19⁺ B cells/well in the lower chamber. Tr-TCC cells were then stimulated with anti-CD3/CD28 (10 μ g/ml/2.5 μ g/ml) and cultured for 14 days). B cells were left either alone in the lower chamber or were incubated with an autologous non-regulatory T cell clones (non-Tr-TCC). Supernatant in the lower wells was then measured for IgG subclass production using the PeliClass kit.

The same type of transwell experiment was performed to test the necessity of cell-contact in the inhibition of effector T cell proliferation. Here, 2.5×10^5 /well of Tr-TCC were co-cultured in the upper chamber with 2.5 x 10^5 /well CFSE labelled (or alamar Blue stained) non Tr-TCC in the lower compartment. Both T cell types were stimulated with anti-CD3/CD28 ($10\mu g/ml/2.5\mu g/ml$) and cultured for 2 to 3 days. And the dilution of CFSE or the reduction of Alamar-Blue was accessed either by FACS analysis or spectrophotometric measurements using respectively FACSCanto® flow cytometer or a Molecular Devices ELISA plate reader.

2.4 MOLECULAR BIOLOGY PROCEDURES

2.4.1 RNA ISOLATION

RNA isolation was performed using the Trizol reagent from Invitrogen and a four step protocol which was modified from the version provided by the manufacturer:

2.4.1.1 Homogenization

Cells were collected from culture plates and pelleted by centrifugation. The supernatant was discarded and the cells lysed in TRIzol-Reagent by repetitive pipetting. 1 ml of the reagent was used per 10×10^6 cells. The homogenate was then centrifuged at 12,000g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant containing RNA was then collected.

2.4.1.2 Separation

200µl of BCP (boro-chloro-phenol) per 1 ml of TRIzol Reagent was added to the collected supernatant. Samples were mixed vigorously for 15 seconds and incubated at 20°C for 3 minutes. Samples were then centrifuged at 12,000g for 15 minutes at 4°C.

2.4.1.3 Precipitation

The aqueous phase was then transferred to a fresh tube and RNA was precipitated from this phase with 500µl of isopropyl alcohol per 1 ml of TRIzol. Samples were incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature and re-centrifuged at 12,000g for 10 minutes at 4°C.

2.4.1.4 RNA Wash

The supernatant was discarded and the RNA pellet washed with 75% ethanol using 1 ml of 75% ethanol per 1 ml of TRIzol Reagent. Samples were mixed by vortexing and centrifuged at 7,500g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The RNA pellet was then air-dried for 5 minutes and the RNA dissolved in RNAse free water and conserved at -80°C or directly transcribed into cDNA. The purity of the isolated mRNA was assessed using a spectrophotometer at 260/280 nm, the ratio was routinely between 1.6-1.9. For reverse transcription and real time PCR an additional genomic DNA digestion was performed by incubating RNA samples in genomic deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) Wipeout Buffer (Qiagen) at 42°C for 2 minutes.

2.4.2 REVERSE TRANSCRIPTION AND PCR

2.4.2.1 Reverse transcription

1 µg of total RNA was reverse transcribed with the Omniscript RT Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions with oligo-d(T) primer (Roche, Manheim, Germany). The latter binds to the poly-A tail of mRNA and leads to selective transcription. In brief, reagents listed below (Table 2.2) were combined and vortexed for 5 sec. The RNA template was then added to the pre-prepared mix and vortexed for a further 5 sec. This was followed by a 60 min incubation at 37°C to reverse transcribe the template RNA into cDNA. The cDNA was then stored at -20° C or directly used for PCR.

Component	Volume	Final concentration		
10 x RT-buffer	2.0 μl	1x		
dNTP mix	2.0 μl	0.5 mM (each dNTP)		
Oligo-dT primer (10 μM)	2.0 μl	1 μM		
Rnase inhibitor (10 units/µl)	1.0 µl	10 units		
Omniscript Reverse Transcriptase	1.0 µl	4 units		
Rnase-free water	Variable			
Template RNA	Variable			
Total reaction volume	20 µl			

Table 2.2: Reaction mix for reverse transcription.

2.4.2.2 Real Time PCR

 1μ L of cDNA were used in the PCR reactions. The "master mix" was prepared according to the recipe depicted in Table 2.3. According to the number of samples to be tested, a master mix without cDNA was first prepared and this was then aliquoted into 100μ L rotor gene adapted real time PCR STRIP tubes (Corbett research, Sydney, Australia). The corresponding cDNA were then added to the PCR master mix. Real Time PCR was performed in a total volume of 20µl.

Component	Volume	Final concentration
10 x buffer	2.0 µl	1x
MgCl ₂	2.4 µl	3.0 mM
dNTP	0.1 µl	
Primer 1 (forward)	1.2 µl	300mM
Primer 2 (reverse)	1.2 µl	300nM
SybrGreen	0.2µl	
Hot start Taq Polymerase (250 U/µl)	0.1µl	
DNA	Variable	50ng
Rnase free water	Variable	
Total reaction volume	20 µl	

 Table 2.3: Reaction mix for real-time-PCR reaction.

Reaction conditions performed in a Rotorgene (Corbett research) were 15 min at 95°C, followed by 45 cycles of 15s at 94°C, 20s at 58°C and 20s at 72°C. Temperature change rates were 20°C/s. Copy numbers were determined using a plasmid standard and normalized to expression of the housekeeping gene β -actin that is known to be expressed constitutively. Primers used are given in Table 2.4. Primers were designed using the Primer 3 online program.

PCR Primers List			
β-actin FW	GAT GAG ATT GGC ATG GCT TTA		
β-actin RV	AAC CGA CTG CTG TCA CCT TC		
Tbet-FW	CAC CTG TTG TGG TCC AAG TTT		
Tbet-RV	AAC ATC CTG TAG TGG CTG GTG		
GATA3-FW	CCC GGT CCA GCA CAG AAG		
GATA3-RV	CGG TCC AGC ACA GGC AG		

 Table 2.4: Sequences of primers used in this study of primers.

2.4.3 AGAROSE GEL AND ELECTROPHORESIS

1g of agarose powder was mixed with 50 ml of TBE 1x buffer and then heated in a microwave oven until completely dissolved. 1µl of ethidium bromide (Biomol) was then added to the gel (final concentration 0.5 µg/ml) to facilitate visualization of DNA after electrophoresis. After cooling the solution to about 60°C, the gel was poured into a casting tray containing a sample comb and allowed to solidify at room temperature under a chemical vertical flow fume hood. After the gel had solidified, the comb was removed; the gel was then inserted horizontally into the electrophoresis chamber and covered with buffer. Samples containing PCR products mixed with 2µl 6x loading buffer were then pipetted into the wells. The samples were then allowed to migrate to the cathode end using 100V (250mA) for 1h. The bands were revealed using a UV transilluminator and a picture of the gel was taken for analysis.

2.4.4 PREPARATION OF PLASMIDS FOR REAL TIME PCR NORMALIZATION.

To design plasmids for normalization of mRNA, PCR products were cloned into TOPO Cloning vectors (Invitrogene, Groningen, Netherlands) according to the manufacturer's instructions. 4 µl of the PCR product, 1 µl salt solution and 1 µl TOPO vector was mixed gently and incubated for 5 min at RT. The mix was then placed on ice and 2 µl of this reaction mix was added to competent *Escherichia coli* bacteria. The suspension was then mixed gently and incubated for 5 min on ice then heated for 0.5 min at 42°C and immediately transferred on ice. Finally, 250 µl of SOC medium (super optimal culture medium) was added. 50µl of this solution was then spread on a pre-warmed selection plate and incubated overnight at 37°C. Transformed colonies, which could be distinguished from non-transformed colonies because they were white and not blue were then picked and cultured overnight in LB medium. Alkaline lysis was performed to isolate the plasmids from bacteria suspension using the NucleoSpin Plasmid kit (BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.4.5 SMALL-INTERFERRING RNA (SIRNA) NUCLEOFECTION

To study the function and necessity of Foxp3 in the generated regulatory T cell clones, nucleofection assays were performed using Foxp3 specific small interfering RNA (siRNA). Specific siRNA, siRNA controls (Table 2.5) and transfection reagents used in this study were provided by Qiagen and were used according to the manufacturer indications.

DESIGNATION	TARGET SEQUENCES
Hs_Foxp3_1	CCAGCAGGTGTTCCAACCCTA
Hs_Foxp3_2	CCACAACATGGACTAACTTCAA
Hs_Foxp3_3	CACGCATGTTTGCCTTCTTCA
Hs_Foxp3_4	CAGGCCACATTTCATGCACCA
Control MAPK-1	AATGCTGACTCCAAAGCTCTG
Negative control	None

Table 2.5 siRNA used in this study and their target sequences.

In short, $2x10^5$ cells were seeded onto a 24 well plate in RPMI/10%FCS medium and returned to 37°C until transfection. 375ng of designated siRNA in 100µl medium was diluted in 6µl HiPerFect solution and incubated for 10 mins at 37°C (Qiagen, Germany). This step allowed the formation of transfection complexes. The siRNA transfection mix was added drop wise to the cells, mixed gently and incubated for 6 hours at 37°C. An additional 400µl medium was then added to the cells and incubated for a further 72 hours. Transfection efficiency was monitored using flow cytometric analysis. Tr-TCC and B cells co-cultures were then performed as described above in section 2.3.8.

3 RESULTS

This chapter is divided in five main parts. The first sections present different aspects of the generation of antigen induced regulatory T cell clones (Tr-TCC) using the combination of vitamin D3 and dexamethasone (DD3). These aspects include the induction of IL-10 in DD3 treated T cell lines (TCL) (3.1.1), the antigen specificity and cell-contact independent suppressive properties of the generated Tr-TCC (3.1.6 and 3.1.7). The next series of sections (3.2) describes the results of different experiments designed to decipher the mechanisms used by the generated Tr-TCC to induce B cells to preferentially secrete the immune regulatory antibody IgG4. Data presented in this section demonstrate the necessity of contact between Tr-TCC and B cells (3.2.2) and the key roles play by molecules like GITR, GITRL (3.2.3), TGF- β , IL-10 (3.2.4) and Foxp3 (3.2.8) in this Tr-TCC dependant IgG4 induction. Data presented in the third sections show that IgG4 induction is not exclusive for IL-10 producing regulatory T cells (Tr-TCC) by demonstrating that also isolated CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells from healthy untreated patients can direct B cells to produce IgG4 albeit weaker than Tr-TCC (3.3). Further sections also demonstrate that both memory and naïve B cells are required within the co-culture system to produce significant levels of IgG4 (3.4). In the final section (3.5) the research focuses on the role of TLR and demonstrates that whereas TLR on Tr-TCC themselves are redundant for the induction of IgG4; activation of TLR on the B cell population elicits pro inflammatory immunoglobulin production rather than IgG4.

3.1 GENERATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF REGULATORY T CELL LINES (TCL) AND CLONES (TCC)

Within this results section, several aspects regarding the generation of regulatory T cell clones (Tr-TCC) are described. The first part deals with the initial generation and characterization of these regulatory T cells. In brief, it is demonstrated how the addition of dexamethasone and

vitamin D3 can drive T cells into an IL-10 producing phenotype whereas without dexamethasone they remain as strong Th1-like T cells. In addition the generated Tr-TCC possess characteristics of Tr-1-like cells but in addition display Foxp3 aswell.

To generate the T cell clones, Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMCs) were isolated from buffy coats obtained from known haplotype healthy donors (see section 2.1.1). Total PBMCs were then stimulated with tetanus toxoid (TT) in presence or absence of vitamin D3 and dexamethasone (DD3) for 10 days. Cells were then re-stimulated twice for 10 days with the same antigen (TT) alone or together with DD3 in the presence of irradiated PBL acting as antigen presenting cells (APCs). T cell lines produce high levels of IL-10 (Fig 3.1 and 3.2) and display characteristic regulatory T cell markers such as GITR, TGF- β , Foxp3 and are anergic in the absence of IL-2 and present significant suppressive properties (data not shown). In order to characterize the generated regulatory T cells, the T cell lines generated with O.v or TT were cloned by limiting dilution (see section 2.3.4) and single T cell clones were used for the rest of the work. The clones were analyzed for their specificity to antigen by a proliferation assay (Fig 3.9). They were also analyzed for cytokine production after stimulation through the T cell receptor (TCR) using anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies (Fig 3.3).

3.1.1 VITAMIN D3 AND DEXAMETHASONE (DD3) ELICIT IL-10 PRODUCING CELLS.

The predisposition of DD3 to drive IL-10 producing cells is well-established^[97]. In the studies described here, DD3 was used to bias the generation of tetanus toxoid specific IL-10 producing T cells. After incubation with antigen and DD3 for 10 days, cell cultures were examined for their Th propensity by intracellular staining. In brief, cell cultures were re-stimulated with PMA and ionomycin for 3 hours for IFN- γ and 5 hours for IL-10 in presence of Golgi stop solution as described in section 2.3.5.3. Thereafter cells were surface stained with anti-CD4 Ab and intracellularly with fluorescently labelled antibodies to IL-10 and IFN- γ .

The dot-plot diagrams depicted in figure 3.1, display a representative picture of induced T cell lines from a specific donor (designated SB1, see section 2.1.1). As can be clearly seen, the presence DD3 in the cell cultures elicits strong IL-10 producing cells even in the presence of prominent Th1-inducing cytokines such as tetanus toxoid.



Figure 3.1: DD3 induce IL-10 producing T cells.

Freshly isolated PBMCs $(1x10^5/ml)$ were plated in RPMI medium containing 10% FCS. Cells were then left unstimulated (Med), stimulated with either tetanus toxoid antigen alone (TT) or with TT and DD3 (TT+DD3). After 10 days of culture, cells were analyzed with flow cytometric techniques for their intracellular levels of IL-10 and/or IFN- γ after re-stimulation with PMA/ionomycin. The displayed dot plots show the levels of IFN- γ (upper panel) and IL-10 (lower panel) within the CD4⁺ T cell population. Graphs represent the percentage of IFN- γ (red bars) and IL-10 (green bars) positive CD4⁺ T cells in PBMC stained with isotype controls (control) or PBMC stained with anti-IL-10-PE or anti IFN- γ -FITC after treatment with medium (med) TT antigen alone (TT) or TT and vitamin D3 + Dexamethasone (TT+DD3).

3.1.2 Cytokine profile during the generation of TCL

As shown above, exposure of cells to the combination of vitamin D3 and dexamethasone generates high levels of IL-10 producing cells. Previous studies have generated IL-10 producing regulatory cells from patients inflicted with the parasite helminth *Onchocerca volvulus*^[111]. In order to mimic an ongoing infection *in vitro*, PBMCs isolated from healthy donors were subjected to multiple rounds of antigen-specific stimulation. Following each round of stimulation, the culture supernatants were tested for the presence of different cytokines.

To find out the role of Th1, Th2 and Tr-1 polarising cytokines respectively IFN- γ , IL-4 and IL-10 in the DD3 induced IL-10⁺ cell development, neutralizing antibodies against these cytokines was added to the cultures.



Figure 3.2: PBMC cultured with antigen and DD3 produce higher amounts of IL-10.

Following each round of stimulation, the cell culture supernatant was tested for the presence of IL-10, IFN- γ and IL-4 by ELISA (A-C respectively). Each symbol depicts the levels of cytokine found in the supernatant 3 days after the first re-stimulation in which cultures received fresh APCs (irradiated) and renewed antigen source in the presence of DD3. Graphs A-C show the accumulated data from cell cultures derived from 12 different donors. Graphs D, E and F represent the IL-10 production of $2x10^5$ cells/well of PBMCs from three different patients stimulated in the presence of medium alone, TT or TT + DD3 in the presence (+) or absence (-) of 10μ g/ml of neutralizing antibodies against IL-10, IL-4 or IFN- γ respectively. Bars represent means \pm SD of three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the groups indicated by brackets, *p< 0.05, ***p< 0.001.

As shown in figure 3.2, PBMC cultures re-stimulated with antigen and DD3 show a higher propensity to produce IL-10⁺ cells than those cultured in the presence of antigen alone. In correlation, those cells that were stimulated with antigen alone retained their Th1-type phenotype (Fig 3.2 A-C). Furthermore, neutralizing antibodies against IL-10 as expected completely inhibited the development of IL-10 producing cells (Fig 3.2 D) whereas blocking IL-4 or IFN- γ did not significantly affect the levels of IL-10 secreted by the TCL (Fig 3.2 E, F)

3.1.3 CLONING STRATEGY TO OBTAIN TR-TCC

To obtain homogenous T cell populations that could be used for further experiments, we performed a cloning per serial dilution. Using the data obtained in section 3.1.2, prominent IL-10 but low IL-4 and IFN- γ producing TCL were first pre-stimulated with PHA for three days to allow generalized T cell expansion through proliferation. Cells were then cloned per serial dilution in Terasaki plates as described in section 2.3.3. Ten days after cloning, culture wells that contained stably growing clones were transferred to 96-well culture plates and allowed to expand further in the presence of IL-2 and anti-CD3/anti-CD28 expander beads.

	TT	TT/DD3	O.v	O.v/DD3	aCD3	aCD3/DD3
Generated TCL	112	145	55	120	82	120
Nr. generated TCC	220	760	52	14	15	95
Nr. Ag-specific TCC	63	22	8	3	-	-
Nr. IL-10 ⁺ TCC	1	6	1	2	2	2
Nr. of TCC capable of inducing IgG4	0	6	1	3	0	2

Table 3.1. Total number of generated TCL and the derived numbers of TCC and Tr-TCC.

Table 3.1 shows the total numbers of TCL that were generated using either TT or O.v antigen or α CD3 stimulation. From this overview it is also clear that in comparison to O.v antigen, TT and DD3 stimulation allows for a more positive generation of TCC. However, it is also interesting to note that within these 760 TCC, only \approx 3% were Ag specific and ultimately only 11 clones produced abundant IL-10 upon antigen specific stimulation.

This cytokine propensity was only tested after a sufficient amount of clone was obtained after the cloning step. The TCC profile was judged upon their cytokine expulsion after both antigen-specific and non-antigen-specific stimulation. In brief, TCC were co-incubated with either TT or α CD3/ α CD28 in the presence of irradiated autologous APCs for 4 days. Culture supernatant was removed after 48 and 96 hours for cytokine assessment using ELISA. Figure 3.3 shows the cytokine profile of the generated Tr-TCC after α CD3/ α CD28 (Fig 3.3 A) and tetanus toxoid stimulation (Fig 3.3 B) respectively. In addition to their prominent IL-10 response to α CD3 stimulation, the generated Tr-TCC also responded in a similar manner to their specific antigen,

namely tetanus toxoid. As observed in the two figures, only a portion of the generated Tr-TCC produced IL-10 upon re-stimulation. The TCC which did not produce any IFN- γ and IL-4 were used in further experiments. Those which showed a non-regulatory phenotype, that is, produced specifically IFN- γ were designated as non-Tr-TCC and used as control cells in the experiments described in the following sections.



Figure 3.3: Generated Tr-TCC secrete IL-10 upon stimulation antigen-specific or αCD3/αCD28 stimulation. (A) $1x10^5$ Tr-TCC were cultured with irradiated syngenic feeder cells $(1x10^5)$ and stimulated with αCD3/αCD28 (10/2.5 µg/ml) for 3 days. Bars represent the mean and SD of 6 tested TCC. Thereafter, culture supernatant was removed and tested for levels of IL-10, IFN- γ and IL-4 by ELISA. (B) $2x10^5$ Tr-TCC were co-cultured with $1x10^5$ irradiated APCs and TT antigen (10µg/ml) for 96 hours. Symbols represent the cytokine secretions produced by 10 tested Tr-TCC and 7 non Tr-TCC. Cell culture supernatant was removed and tested for IL-4 (48 hours) and IL-10, TGF-β and IFN- γ (96 hours). Cytokine levels were quantified using Molecular Devices ELISA plate reader and softmax pro software. Statistical analysis was performed using Student's t test (* *p*<0.05).

3.1.4 EXPRESSION OF REGULATORY T CELL MARKERS

Naturally occurring regulatory T cells are characterized through their expression of distinct surface markers including CD25, GITR and CTLA-4. These thymus derived Tregs also express the transcription factor Foxp3 which has become the pre-requisite marker for their identification. As mentioned in the introduction, there are other distinct populations of Treg cells such as Tr-1 and Th3 cells. The phenotypic characterization of these populations is not as clear cut as natural Tregs. Tr-1 cells are actually defined by their ability to produce large quantities of IL-10 and to suppress proliferation of effector T ells in a cell contact independent manner in opposition to natural Tregs that apparently need cell contact. Since the Tr-TCC described here were selected on the basis of their ability to secrete IL-10 upon stimulation, we were interested to determine whether these Tr-TCC expressed Treg-specific markers. Thus, using flow cytometric techniques,

Tr-TCC (and non Tr-TCC as controls) were stained for distinct Treg cell surface markers and intracellularly for levels of Foxp3. As a further comparison we also included nTreg in this assessment. These cells were obtained from healthy donors and were isolated using CD25⁺ Treg isolation kit from Miltenyi Biotech (see section 2.3.6.3). Figure 3.4 shows the mean fluorescence intensity, minus the intensity measured on cells stained with the corresponding isotype controls, of the different Treg markers (CD25, CD127, Foxp3, GITR, CTLA-4, and ICOS) on resting cell populations.



Figure 3.4: Resting Tr-TCC express Foxp3, GITR and other Treg markers.

 1×10^5 resting cells were stained with APC-labelled anti-CD4 antibody and either: 1) PE-labelled anti-CD25 antibody 2) PE-labelled anti-CD127 antibody 3) PE-labelled anti-GITR antibody, 4) PE-labelled anti-CTLA-4 antibody and 5) PE-labelled anti-ICOS antibody. After staining with anti-CD4, some cells underwent intracellular staining with PE-labelled anti-Foxp3 antibody. Following acquisition with the FACS CantoTM the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of the cell populations was determined using FACS Diva software. Bars represent the mean \pm SD of MFI on nTreg (yellow bars), non-Tr-TCC (red bars) and Tr-TCC (green bars) after deduction of MFI on cells after isotype control staining. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the groups indicated by brackets,*p < 0.05.

One can clearly see from figure 3.4 that resting Tr-TCC express approximately the same levels of CTLA-4, GITR and Foxp3 as isolated nTreg cells. In contrast they show a higher expression of CD127 but lower levels of ICOS and CD25. Interestingly Tr-TCC express almost the same levels of CD25 and CD127 as non-Tr-TCC. MFI for ICOS expression levels were not exceptionally elevated in any of the analyzed cells types. These data clearly reflect that categorisation of Tr-TCC is not a simple matter. Although they possess characteristics of Tr-1-like cells they also have common features to nTreg such as elevated Foxp3 levels.

3.1.5 DD3 TREATMENT REDUCES EXPRESSION OF BOTH TBET AND GATA3.

The TCC which are generated upon activation with tetanus toxoid and DD3 produce significant levels of IL-10 but low levels of IFN- γ and IL-4. Since these cytokines are characteristic markers for Th1 and Th2 type cells and are governed by key transcription factors such as Tbet for Th1 cells and GATA-3 for Th2 cells, we decided to investigate whether the presence of DD3 influenced the expression of these transcription factors. In brief, bulk PBMC isolated from healthy blood spenders were cultured for 72 hours with TT in the presence or absence of DD3. Thereafter, total RNA was prepared and quantitative PCR was performed using primers specific for GATA3 and Tbet. The results show that the treatment with DD3 down regulates the expression of both Tbet and GATA3 (Fig 3.5) during the first round of TCL generation.



Figure 3.5: DD3 treatment reduced both Tbet and GATA3 expression in human PBMCs

Human PBMCs $(1x10^5)$ were cultured in either medium alone (white bars), with tetanus toxoid antigen (red bars) or with tetanus toxoid in the presence of DD3 (green bars). The cells were harvested after 5 days of culture. Thereafter, 1ng of total mRNA was revers transcribed and analyzed by real-time PCR for Tbet and GATA3. Bars show the mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the groups indicated by brackets,*p < 0.05.

However, after T cell cloning, the Tr-TCC expressed significantly higher levels of Tbet compared to GATA3 upon stimulation with α CD3/ α CD28 expander beads (Fig 3.6). This justifies the expression of some IFN- γ but no IL-4 in the generated Tr-TCC (Figs 3.3 and 3.4).



Figure 3.6: Tr-TCCs express Tbet rather than GATA3

 1×10^5 Tr-TCC were activated with CD3/CD28 beads *in vitro*. The T cells were harvested after 5 days of stimulation and RNA was prepared. mRNA levels of Tbet and GATA3 were quantified by real-time PCR. Data represent the results of 3 independent experiments using 5 different T cell clones. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the groups indicated by brackets,*p < 0.05.

3.1.6 ANTIGEN SPECIFICITY

Upon establishing that the generated Tr-TCC produced high quantities of IL-10 and reflected a regulatory phenotype in their surface marker expression and Foxp3, the following section demonstrates the ability of these cells to respond in an immunologically positive manner. Tetanus-toxoid derived TCC for example were tested for their response to tetanus using several parameters. First, they showed an up-regulation of CD69 when exposed to tetanus antigen but not O.v antigen (Fig. 3.7A). They also showed a weak increase in proliferation upon antigen restimulation (Fig. 3.7B). Similar results was obtained using O.v generated Tr-TCC.

Most interestingly, Tr-TCC respond to their specific antigen by secreting high levels of IL-10 (Fig 3.7C). An increase in IFN- γ was also detectable upon antigen stimulation but was not significant when compared to the non-stimulated values. Increased levels of IL-4 were not detectable and although there a small increase in TGF- β production upon antigen recognition it is obviously not the dominant cytokine when one compares it to the IL-10 response.



Figure 3.7: Tr-TCC specifically upregulate CD69, proliferate and produce IL-10 and IFN-γ upon antigen stimulation.

 $2x10^5$ tetanus-toxoid specific TCC were stimulated with TT or O.v antigen (A). After 24 hours, the expression of CD69 was measured on the CD4⁺ T cell population using the FACS CantoTM. $2x10^5$ tetanus-toxoid specific TCC were co-cultured with $1x10^5$ irradiated APC and stimulated with TT for 96 hours (B). ³[H] thymidine was added for the last 18 hours of culture. Bars represent means ±SD Tr-TCC activity in three independent experiments using 6 different TCC. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the groups indicated by brackets, ***p< 0.001.

3.1.7 SUPPRESSIVE PROPERTIES

Regulatory T cells are renowned for their ability to suppress effector T cell responses or B cell activation^[166-168]. Since the generated regulatory T cell clones here were slightly different to both nTreg cells and Tr-1-like cells we assessed their suppressive capacity using four different methods. These methods included; 1) their capacity to suppress the proliferation of CFSE-labelled non regulatory T cell clones (or PBMCs) after α CD3/ α CD28 stimulation; 2) their ability to inhibit tritium incorporation in co-culture with activated non regulatory TCC 3) their capacity to hinder cytokine production from activated Th1 cells as measured by ELISA and 4) T cell suppression measured using Alamar Blue. These methods allowed the measurement of Tr-TCC suppressive capacity in both antigen-specific and non-specific settings. For antigen-specific non-Tr-TCC in the presence of TT antigen and irradiated APCs. After 72 hours, the proliferation of the CFSE labelled non-Tr-TCC was measured according to the dilution of CFSE staining. The same experimental settings were used in the presence of neutralizing antibodies against IL-10 and TGF- β to determine the role of these cytokines in the putative suppressive functions of Tr-TCC.



Figure 3.8: In vitro suppressive capacity of Tr-TCC.

 $5x10^4$ Tr-TCC were co-cultured with $1x10^5$ CFSE labelled autologous non Tr-TCC (reporter) generated from the same donor using only tetanus toxoid antigen. Cells have been stimulated with 10μ l/ml TT antigen as previously described. In some cultures 10μ g/ml of either anti-IL-10 or anti-TGF- β was added to the cultures to determine the role of these cytokines. The dilution of CFSE was assessed via FACS analysis 3 days after stimulation. Numbers on the histograms represent the percentage of cells that have proliferated according to the control at day 0. Data are representative of three different experiments performed in triplicate.

As expected, CFSE labelled non-Tr-TCC (+ non labelled non Tr-TCC) proliferated strongly when stimulated with TT (upper panel left). Upon addition of Tr-TCC, this proliferation was drastically reduced (upper panel right) and this suppressive nature of the Tr-TCC was reversed with the addition of anti-IL-10 to the culture (lower panel left) and moderately by anti-TGF- β (lower panel right). In control experiments, in which non-Tr-TCC were added instead of Tr-TCC, blocking IL-10 Ab increased the amount of proliferation of CFSE-labelled non-Tr-TCC activated with TT antigen (not shown). The same tendencies were observed when the cells are stimulated with α CD3/ α CD28 proliferation beads (data not shown). These results show that IL-10 is essential for the suppressive activities of Tr-TCC on other T cells.

Interestingly, the Tr-TCC were also able to dampen α CD3/ α CD28-induced proliferation of a Th1 clone (S1 TCC) derived from a patient infected with the filarial nematode *Onchocerca volvulus* (Fig 3.9) demonstrating that the suppressive cells could also function in an Ag-non-specific setting. Within this experimental setup, the same inhibition levels could also be achieved by adding supernatant from activated Tr-TCC to the proliferating cultures (data not shown), indicating that it is the cytokine milieu, most likely IL-10 according to the data obtained in figure 3.8 that mediates suppression.



Figure 3.9: In vitro suppressive capacity of Tr-TCC using tritium incorporation (non-specific inhibition). $5x10^4$ Tr-TCC or non-Tr-TCC ($5x10^4$) were co-cultured with a Th1-clone (S1-TCC) derived from an *Onchocerca* volvulus-infected patient and stimulated with α CD3 for 72 hours. During the last 18 hours ³[H]-thymidine-incorporation was added and proliferation measured by liquid scintillation. Bars represent mean \pm SD of three pooled experiments. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the groups indicated by brackets, *p<0.05.

In a T-T co-culture system, it was further examined whether Tr-TCC could also suppress cytokine expression from activated non Tr-TCC cells. In brief, $1x10^5$ non Tr-TCC were co-stimulated with irradiated APC ($1x10^5$) and stimulated with tetanus antigen for 72 hours. In some cultures, $1x10^5$ Tr-TCC were also applied. Figure 3.9 shows the results of three independent assays using 3 different Tr-TCC. As can be observed, the IFN- γ secreted by non-Tr-TCC (red bars) can be significantly suppressed with the addition of Tr-TCC (green bars).



Figure 3.9: Tr-TCC are capable of suppressing IFN-γ producing T cell lines.

 $1x10^5$ non-Tr-TCC were stimulated with tetanus (TT) antigen (10μ g/ml) in the presence of irradiated APC ($3x10^5$) and in some cultures, $1x10^5$ Tr-TCC aswell. After 72 hours the culture supernatant was removed and tested for IFN- γ by ELISA. Bars represent the mean \pm SD of three independent assays using 3 different Tr-TCC. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the groups indicated by brackets,*p < 0.05

In the final method, it was investigated whether there was a reduction in the percentage of Alamar Blue positive cells using a transwell co-culture system described in section 2.3.8. In the assay performed here, non-Tr-TCC were stimulated with anti CD3/CD28 in the presence or absence of Tr-TCC in the upper transwell. After 24 hours, the reduction of Alamar Blue was then determined. As shown in figure 3.10 activated non-Tr-TCC cells show a significantly greater amount of Alamar blue reaction showing that these cells have proliferated. In contrast, the reduction of Alamar blue is lower when co-cultured with Tr-TCC indicating the suppression of activated Th1 cells. In further experiments in which the Tr-TCC cells were placed in the upper chamber, it can be seen that Th1 cells are still suppressed demonstrating that the ability of Tr-TCC to suppress Th1 cells is not cell-contact dependent. Furthermore, addition of neutralizing antibody against IL-10 was able reverse the suppression of Th1 cells proliferation by Tr-TCC. The blockade of TGF- β did also but only partially reverse the suppressive capacities of Tr-TCC (Fig 3.10).



Figure 3.10: In vitro suppressive capacity of Tr-TCC on non Th1 cells.

Non Tr-TCC with Th1 profile (high IFN- γ) and IL-10 producing Tr-TCC were used in a transwell assay. Both T cell populations were previously activated with α CD3/ α CD28, non-Tr-TCC were cultured in the lower chamber. Tr-TCC were placed in the upper chamber. 10% of AlamarBlue was added to the cultures and the reduction of Alamar blue was measured 72h after stimulation using a spectrophotometer. Bars represent the mean ± SD of the percentage of reduction of AlamarBlue in three independent experiments calculated according to a control without T cells. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the groups indicated by brackets, *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

From the above transwell experiments it became clear that the ability of Tr-TCC to suppress Th1 cell proliferation was cell-contact independent and indicated that suppression is mediated through cytokines like IL-10 and TGF- β .

3.2 ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC REGULATORY T CELLS INDUCE AUTOLOGOUS B CELLS TO PRODUCE IGG4

As mentioned in the introduction, IgG4 behave differently to other IgG subclasses, in that it does not fix complement and cannot initiate ADCC. IgG4 is found in conditions where IL-10 is increased as, for example, in allergic diseases after immunotherapy^[127-129] or chronic helminth infections^[135]. IL-10 producing Tr-1 or Tr-1-like cells have been implicated in the induction of IgG4 from B cells^[143]. However the mechanisms associated with IgG4 production are not well characterized. Within this work, a model was established to elicit IgG4 from B cell *in vitro*. In brief, activated IL-10 producing cell clones, with a regulatory phenotype (Tr-TCC) were co-cultured in the presence of autologous B cells for 14 days. Thereafter, the supernatant was measured for levels of immunoglobulins. To decipher molecules that were involved in this induction, different blocking and/or recombinant antibodies where added to the cultures.

3.2.1 PREFERENTIAL IGG4 INDUCTION BY TR-TCC

Upon activation, B cells can differentiate and produce antibodies. The type and amount of antibodies produced is dependent on the disease or infection and is tightly controlled by activated T cells. As mentioned above, to access the molecular components associated between IgG4-induction, B cells and regulatory T cells various assays using an *in vitro* model were performed. In brief, CD19⁺ B cells were separated from an autologous donor and co-cultured in 1:3 ratio with Tr-TCC stimulated with α CD3/ α CD28. After 14 days of culture the concentration of IgG1, 2, 3 and 4 was measured with a specific ELISA kit.



Figure 3.11: B cells preferentially secrete IgG4 when co-cultured with activated Tr-TCC. $3x10^4$ CD19⁺ B cells were co-cultivated with autologous Tr-TCC (1x10⁵) or non Tr-TCC (1x10⁵). Cultures were

then stimulated with α CD3/ α CD28 (10µg/ml/2.5µg/ml). After 14 days of culture the concentration of IgG1, 2, 3 and 4 was measured per ELISA. Bars shows means \pm SD of IgG levels in three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the groups indicated by brackets, *P<0.05, **P<0.01.

To identify the specific nature of the Tr-TCC, control cultures containing non-Tr-TCC were also included in the assay. The results in figure 3.11 show that B cells produce only moderate levels of immunoglobulin when cultured alone (white bars). With non Tr-TCC (red bars), B cells produced no IgG4, high levels of IgG1 and IgG2 and some IgG3. In contrast, activated Tr-TCC preferentially produced IgG4 and no IgG3 (green bars). B cells in these cultures also produced IgG1 and IgG2 albeit less than that induced by non-Tr-TCC.

3.2.2 IGG INDUCTION IN THE CO-CULTURE SYSTEM IS CELL CONTACT DEPENDANT

From section 3.1.7, it was observed that the suppressive capacity of Tr-TCC was cell-contact independent. Thus, in deciphering the mechanism through which Tr-TCC could induce B cells to produce IgG4, a transwell system was employed to investigate whether it was necessary to have cell contact or not. Surprisingly, and in contrast to what was observed with their suppressive properties on T cells, the separation of Tr-TCC and B cells led to the abrogation of IgG4 production (Fig 3.12D) suggesting the necessity of cell-cell contact in this process. However, this abrogation was not exclusive for IgG4 production since the separation of regulatory T cells and B

cells by the membrane also led to reductions in IgG1 and IgG2 aswell. In additional experimental cultures, non Tr-TCC were added to the lower part of the transwell assay, that is, in contact with B cells. In correlation to the results shown in the previous section (3.2.1), non-Tr-TCC were not able to elicit IgG4 production from B cells but could induce IgG1 and IgG2 (Fig 3.12 A and B respectively). The direct necessity of Tr-TCC was then further shown by the recovery of IgG4 production in cultures of non Tr-TCC and B cells and Tr-TCC in the upper chamber (Fig 3.12 *bar 5*). Thus, it appears that factors released from the Tr-TCC such as cytokines in association with cell contact mechanisms that can also be provided by non Tr-TCC were critical for the induction of IgG4. To substantiate this hypothesis section 3.1.4 shows the critical requirement of IL-10.

Most interestingly, the production of both IgG1 and 2 (Fig 3.12 A and B) induced by non Tr-TCC (in contact with the B cells) is slightly reduced by the addition of Tr-TCC in the upper compartment. Suggesting that these soluble factors secreted by Tr-TCC are also able to dampen IgG1 and 2 induction by non Tr-TCC. However this reduction was not statistically significant.



Figure 3.12: IgG4 induction by Tr-TCC is cell contact dependant.

 $3x10^4$ CD19⁺ B cells were co-cultivated with autologous Tr-TCC (1x10⁵) or non Tr-TCC (1x10⁵). Cultures were then stimulated with α CD3/ α CD28 (10µg/ml/2.5µg/ml). Transwell systems were established using Nuncs tissue culture inserts containing 0.2µm nanopore membranes. B cells were cultivated alone or with non Tr-TCC in the lower compartment. Tr-TCC were added to the upper compartment. After 14 days of culture the concentration of IgG1-4 (A-D respectively) was measured per ELISA. Bars show means ± SD of IgGs in three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the groups indicated by brackets,**p< 0.01.

3.2.3 IGG4 INDUCTION REQUIRES FUNCTIONAL GITR-GITRL INTERACTION.

From the above experiments it became apparent that surface molecules, in addition to soluble secretions released from activated Tr-TCC, played a key role in the production of IgG4. Since our generated T cell clones express high levels of GITR (Fig 3.4) and B cells are known to express the ligand of GITR (GITRL) on their surface^[169], we hypothesized that this surface molecules may play a role during the induction of IgG4. To characterize this hypothetical role of GITR and GITRL, we used specific GITR or GITRL neutralizing antibodies in the T-B co-culture experiments.



Figure 3.13: GITR-GITRL interactions control the ability of Tr cells to induce B cells to preferentially secrete IgG4.

 $1x10^5$ Tr-TCC were incubated with $3x10^4$ CD19⁺ autologous B cells and stimulated with α CD3/ α CD28 in presence or absence of neutralizing antibodies against GITR, GITRL or isotype controls. After 14 days the culture supernatant was analysed for the production of IgG subtypes using ELISA. Scatter plots represent levels of IgG induced by 10 different O.v and TT specific Tr-TCC.

Once again co-cultures of T cells and B cells could not elicit production of IgG3 above baseline values (B cells alone) and these levels were not particularly affected by the addition of anti-GITR or anti-GITRL (Fig 3.13 C). Data from these experiments also revealed that blocking GITR or it ligand in the co-cultures significantly increased IgG2 production by B cells but did not affect IgG1 production (Fig 3.13 B and A respectively). Interestingly, using blocking antibodies to GITR or its ligand completely inhibited the IgG4 production by B cells (Fig 3.13 D), this effect was not seen with the isotype control.

3.2.4 THE RELEVANCE OF OTHER MOLECULES EXPRESSED ON TR-TCC

To investigate the role of other molecules expressed by Tr-TCC such as IL-10, TGF- β , CTLA-4 and ICOS, we performed additional *in vitro* co-culture assays. In brief, Tr-TCC and B cells were stimulated with α CD3/ α CD28 in the presence or absence of neutralizing antibodies to the above mentioned molecules. IgG4 levels in the culture supernatant were once again measured after 14 days.



Figure 3.14: IL-10 and TGF-β are also vital components in the IgG4 inductive capacity of Tr-TCC. $1x10^5$ Tr-TCC were incubated with $3x10^4$ CD19⁺ autologous B cells and stimulated with α CD3/ α CD28 (10µg/2.5µg/ml) in the presence or absence of neutralizing antibodies against GITR (2µg/ml), GITRL (15µg/ml) CTLA-4 (25µg/ml), IL-10 (10µg/ml). TGF-β (10µg/ml), ICOS (5µg/ml) or isotype controls. After 14 days the culture supernatant was analysed for the production of IgG4 using ELISA. Bars represent mean ± SD of three independent experiments using a total of 3 Tr-TCC. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the indicated bars and the isotype control, **p* <0.05.

Data presented in figure 3.14 clearly show that activated Tr-TCC can induce B cells to produce IgG4 and that this ability is completely abrogated by the addition of GITR or GITRL blocking antibodies (c.f. bars 1 to 2 and 3). Upon testing other regulatory T cell molecules the results also reveal a necessity for IL-10 and TGF- β aswell since blocking these cytokines also reduced IgG4 levels (c.f. bars 1 to 5 and 6). Interestingly, and despite its high constitutive expression of this molecule on Tr-TCC (Fig 3.4), the addition of blocking antibodies to CTLA-4 had only minor effects on the induction of IgG4 (bar 4). Antibodies against ICOS seem to not affect the ability of Tr-TCC to induce IgG4 at all. Since blocking CTLA-4 showed some influence on the ability of Tr-TCC to induce IgG4 production by B cells, we performed additional dose response assays using the neutralising antibodies to both ICOS and CTLA-4. Figure 3.15 demonstrates that high levels of antibody in the culture wells did not significantly affect the capacity or Tr-TCC to induce IgG4. In contrast, whereas only partial effects could be seen with 25µg/ml of anti-CTLA-4, complete abrogation of IgG4 production could be achieved with just 2µg/ml of anti-GITR antibody.



Figure 3.15: Increasing anti-ICOS and anti-CTLA-4 antibodies did not affect the ability of Tr-TCC to induce IgG4

 1×10^5 Tr-TCC were incubated with 3×10^4 CD19⁺ autologous B cells and stimulated with α CD3/ α CD28 (10/2.5µg/ml) in the presence or absence of anti-GITR (2µg/ml) or increasing concentrations of neutralizing antibodies against CTLA-4 or ICOS (25 and 50 µg/ml). After 14 days the culture supernatant was analysed for the production of IgG4 using ELISA. Bars represent mean ± SD of three independent experiments using a total of 3 Tr-TCC. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the groups indicated by brackets,***p< 0.001.

3.2.5 Connections between IL-10, TGF- β and GITR in the induction of IGG4

To further characterize the mechanisms that lead to the expression of IgG4 by B cells in the presence of Tr-TCC, we co-cultured Tr-TCC and autologous B cells with anti-GITR antibody in the presence or absence of recombinant IL-10 or TGF- β . As expected, anti-GITR monoclonal antibody was able to inhibit the production of IgG4 (Fig 3.16 c.f. bars 1 and 2). Interestingly this IgG4 production could be recovered by recombinant IL-10 (Fig 3.16 bars 3). Surprisingly, recombinant TGF- β could not release the inhibition of IgG4 by anti-GITR (bar 4) and rIL-10 failed to recover IgG4 in the presence of α TGF- β . (bar 5). These results indicate that GITR/GITRL interaction modulates IgG4 induction using an IL-10-dependent pathway that leads to preferential production of IgG4 by Tr-TCC. Furthermore, since intracellular and membrane-bound TGF- β could be measured on Tr-TCC (data not shown) we also conclude that endogenous TGF- β expression is essential for the induction of IgG4 (Fig 3.16 *cf* bars 5). This might explain why anti-TGF- β prohibited the induction of IgG4 despite the presence of rIL-10 but exogenous rTGF- β failed to increase IgG4 (Fig 3.16 *cf* bars 5 and 6).



Figure 3.16: Recombinant IL-10 but not TGF-\beta recovers IgG4 production after GITR blockade. 1x10⁵ Tr-TCC were incubated with 3x10⁴ CD19⁺ autologous B cells and stimulated with α CD3/ α CD28 (10/2.5µg/ml) in presence of neutralizing antibodies against GITR, TGF- β or IL-10 and in combination with recombinant IL-10 or TGF- β . After 14 days the culture supernatant was analysed for the production of IgG4 using ELISA. Bars represent mean ± SD of three independent experiments using a total of 6 Tr-TCC. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the groups indicated by brackets,*p < 0.05.

3.2.6 GITR OR GITRL INTERACTIONS POSITIVELY CONTROL THE EXPRESSION OF IL-10 BY TR-TCC

The data obtained in section 3.2.5 strongly suggested that IgG4 production by B cells upon regulatory T cells activation was dependent on GITR/GITRL interactions which were in turn dependent on IL-10. Using flow cytometric analysis to further characterize the relationship between IL-10 and GITR/GITRL signalling, we measured the percentage of IL-10 producing Tr-TCC after co-culture with B cells in the presence or absence of anti-GITR antibody. In unstimulated controls, resting Tr-TCC produce only nominal amounts of IL-10 (Fig 3.17 A). Upon activation there is a strong release of this cytokine figure (3.17 B). The number of IL-10 producing Tr-TCC was significantly decreased in the presence of either anti-GITR or anti-GITRL antibodies (Fig 3.17 C and D respectively) suggesting that GITR/GITRL interactions induces IL-10 release by Tr-TCC. This phenomenon was only detected with the cytokine IL-10 since levels of TGF- β were not altered in the presence of blocking antibodies against GITR (data not shown).



Figure 3.17: aGITR and aGITRL antibodies inhibit IL-10 production from Tr-TCC.

Tr-TCC were co-cultured with CD19⁺ B cells (1x10⁵) and stimulated with α CD3/ α CD28 (10µg/2.5µg/ml) either alone or in the presence of α -GITR (1-2 µg/ml) or α -GITRL (15µg/ml) for 36 hours. Thereafter, cells were stained with PerCP-labelled CD4 antibody and intracellularly stained for IL-10 (A-D). Cytokine levels were measured using flow cytometry and depicted images represent data found with 4-6 clones.

Since non-Tr-TCC do not produce IL-10, similar experiments were performed as described above but instead of measuring IL-10, we measured IFN- γ instead. In these experiments, levels of this Th1 cytokine, in the presence of either blocking antibody were not altered showing that the GITR/GITRL interaction was only affecting the Tr-TCC (data not shown).



Figure 3.18: GITR ligation by its natural ligand (GITRL) increases IL-10 secretion by Tr-TCC. Tr-TCC (2x10⁵) were activated with 10µg/ml α CD3 and cultured in the presence of recombinant GITRL (20µg/ml) or neutralizing antibodies against GITR (α GITR) or control isotype. The production of IL-10 in culture supernatants was then measured after 72 hours incubation at 37°C using ELISA. Bars represent mean ± SD of three independent experiments using a total of 3 Tr-TCC. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the groups indicated by brackets,*p< 0.05.

To show a direct connection between GITR/GITRL interaction and IL-10 up-regulation in Tr-TCC further experiments were performed using Tr-TCC alone (Fig 3.18). Here, IL-10 levels were analysed in the culture supernatants of activated Tr-TCC in the presence of recombinant GITRL. As can be seen from the data, stimulation of GITR by its natural ligand GITRL instigates the production of IL-10 by these cells and in association with the other data presented in figures 3.14, 3.17 and 3.18, clearly indicates that the GITR signalling pathway and IL-10 are necessary components for the induction of IgG4 by B cells. In further assays, we then investigated the action of different concentrations of recombinant GITR or GITRL on the capacity of Tr-TCC to induce IgG4.

The data in figure 3.19 suggest a dose dependant increase of IgG4 production by recombinant GITR and/or GITRL with an optimum at 40μ g/ml and 20μ g/ml respectively. The addition of either rGITR or rGITRL, led to an increase in IgG4 production with extra GITRL having the more drastic effect on IgG4 production. Interestingly, addition of recombinant proteins over

30ng/ml actually resulted in an inhibition of IgG4 production: the reason for this remains unclear from the present data. Nevertheless, these results do confirm the important role of GITR/GITRL in the specific regulation of IgG4.



Figure 3.19: A dose-dependant IgG4 regulation by rGITR and rGITRL.

 1×10^5 Tr-TCC were incubated with 3×10^4 CD19⁺ autologous B cells and stimulated with α CD3/ α CD28 (10/2.5µg/ml) in presence of increasing concentrations of either rGITR or rGITRL for 14 days. Thereafter, levels of IgG4 were measured by ELISA. The dotted line indicates IgG4 levels without recombinant proteins. Bars represent mean ± SD of IgG4 levels found in three independent experiments using 3-5 Tr-TCC. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the group indicated by the brackets, **p<0.01; *** p<0.001.

Thus we demonstrate that GITR and GITRL signalling together with IL-10 are tightly associated with the ability of Tr-TCC to induce autologous B cells to preferentially produce IgG4. However, it remains unclear whether GITR molecules on the Tr-TCC (Fig 3.5) directly activated its ligand on the B cells to induce IgG4, or whether GITRL on the B cells stimulates its receptor on T cells to increase IL-10 (as shown in figures 3.17, 3.18 and 3.19). The present data do not rule out the possibility that other factors may also be part of the induction of the IgG4 production by B cells or class switching of B cells to produce this immunoglobulin.

3.2.7 NO ROLE FOR A DIRECT REVERSE SIGNALLING THROUGH GITRL DURING IGG4 INDUCTION

It is hypothesized that regulatory T cells can inhibit the activation, differentiation and survival of pathogenic T cells through bidirectional communication (reverse signalling) between members of the TNF family on T lymphocytes and DC. This pathway is regulated through tryptophan catabolism which is initiated by the enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) and can be influenced by reverse signalling through GITRL. Since B cells are also APCs expressing GITRL and secrete IgG4, we postulated that a role for reverse signalling could be attributed through GITRL in the production of IgG4. To investigate this putative function of GITRL we established an *in vitro* system in which B cells, without T cells, were stimulated with CD40L/IgM and additional components believed to be implicated in the induction (rIL-10, rTGF- β) of IgG4 such as GITR, IL-10 and TGF- β). The results in figure 3.20 show that IgG4 production was not significant in presence of rGITR, IL-10 and TGF- β indicating that the IgG4 induction is intimately associated with the presence of T cells, at least in our *in vitro* system.



Figure 3.20: No role for reverse signalling through GITRL during IgG4 induction

B cells $(1x10^5)$ were activated with 5µg/ml CD40L/IgM and rGITR, TGF- β , IL-10, have been added alone or in combination to the B cells. The cells were incubated at 37°C for 14 days and thereafter levels of IgG subclasses were then measured in the supernatants by ELISA. Bars represent means ± SD of IgG2 and IgG4 concentration in the supernatants from B cell cultures from 6 different donors.

3.2.8 IMPLICATION OF FOXP3 IN IGG4 EXPRESSION

As mentioned above (section 3.1), Tr-TCC were generated after multiple rounds of stimulation with TT-Ag/DD3 and a cloning procedure. Since the transcription factor Foxp3 was expressed by our generated Tr-TCC we tried to evaluate its functional relevance for these regulatory T cells, especially in the induction of IgG4. In addition, we were interested to know both the phenotype and functional activities of the TCL during their generation. In order to do this, we measured the levels of Foxp3 within the TCL after each round of stimulation and compared this to the levels of IgG subclass these cells could induce in our in vitro culture assays. Figure 3.21A-D shows the capacity of non-Tr-TCL (TT) and Tr-TCC (TT/DD3) in inducing IgG subclasses in autologous B cells. Interestingly, the induced IgG subclass altered after each round of stimulation and the subclass was dependent upon the stimulation type. In short, cell lines stimulated with TT alone induced increasing amounts of IgG3 (Fig. 3.21B) whereas those subjected to TT and DD3 predominantly induced IgG4 instead (Fig. 3.21D). Interestingly, the high levels of IgG1 are significantly reduced following the rounds of stimulation with TT/DD3 showing a reduction of this subclass as the cells become more specific for inducing IgG2 or 4. We also found that IgG4 was subjected to a similar modulation by GITR, IL-10 and TGF-B since production was significantly reduced when blocking Abs were applied (data not shown). Foxp3 expression within the re-stimulated Tr-TCL cultures (Fig. 3.21E) was also enhanced with increasing rounds of TT-Ag/DD3 stimulation and correlated with the induced levels of IgG2 and IgG4 (Fig. 3.21C and D). Interestingly, the phenotype of Foxp3 expressing Tr-TCL significantly correlated with the amount of IgG4 (Fig. 3.21F, R=0.98770) induced in T:B-cell cultures. In correlation, IgG1 levels decreased (Fig. 3.21A) with increasing Foxp3 expression in the Tr-TCL. These results show that upon continual activation in an Ag-specific manner, Tr-TCL up-regulated Foxp3 expression indicating a directed functional response.

Nevertheless, although there was a definite correlation between the levels of Foxp3 in the TCL and their increasing ability to induce IgG4 production in B cell co-culture assays, this did not confirm a functional role of Foxp3 in this process.

To investigate whether the expression of Foxp3 does play a direct role in the ability of Tr-TCC to produce IgG4, we used the technique of siRNA nucleofection to silence Foxp3 at the mRNA level in the Tr-TCC. The following sections describe the technical procedure and the results.





After each round of stimulation (TT-Ag alone or TT-Ag/DD3), TCL $(1x10^5)$ were activated with α CD3/ α CD28 $(10\mu g/2.5\mu g/ml)$ and assessed for their ability to induce (A) IgG1, (B) IgG3, (C) IgG2 and (D) IgG4 from cocultured autologous CD19⁺ B cells $(5x10^5)$ after 14 days of culture. Bars represent mean \pm SD of three pooled TCL generation experiments with 5-8 TT-Ag or TT-Ag/DD3 TCC per experiment. (E) The amount of CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ T cells within the two different TCL was also measured after each round of stimulation. In brief, TCL were activated with α CD3/ α CD28 (10 μ g/2.5 μ g/ml) for 24 hours and measured for levels of intracellular Foxp3 using flow cytometric methods. Bars represent mean \pm SD of Foxp3 levels in TT-Ag (18) vs. TT-Ag/DD3 (18) after each stimulation round. (F) Comparison of IgG4 levels induced by Tr-TCL after each round of stimulation (Fig. 5D) with the percentage of Foxp3⁺ cells in the TT-Ag/DD3 generated TCL population (grey bars in E).

Selection of siRNA for the assay.

The first task for these experiments was to select from a pool of four Foxp3 specific siRNA provided by Qiagen the most suitable siRNA to continue our experiments. The silencing experiments were carried out using Tr-TCC that expressed significant levels of Foxp3 (section 2.4.5). To verify that nucleofection had occurred, three different controls were used: a control of non-treated Tr-TCC, these cells were simply cultivated in medium as normal, a control treated with siRNA with no specificity to a known gene, and third control with Tr-TCC that had been treated with siRNA specific to MAPK.





siRNA and transfection reagents from Qiagen were used to inhibit the expression of Foxp3 within Tr-TCC cultures growing in the presence of IL-2. (A) The expression of Foxp3 was assessed after 3 days. Bars represent the mean fluorescence intensities (MFI) of Foxp3-PE in the CD4⁺ T cell population gates minus the MFIs in isotypes controls. The control NT (non-treated) represents the Foxp3 expression in cells without any treatment. Control MAPK and neg contl. represent the Foxp3 expression in cells treated siRNA targeting MAPK a non-specific siRNA respectively. siFoxp3-1 to 4 represents cells transfected with 4 different siRNA targeting Foxp3 mRNA. "all" shows the levels of Foxp3 expression after T cells were treated with a combination of all 4 siRNA. These data are representative of 3 independent experiments. (B) Suppression of Foxp3 using specific siRNA in 6 independent assays using active siRNA. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the indicated groups and the corresponding controls,* p < 0.05.

Figure 3.22 shows the ability of the 4 different Foxp3 specific siRNA to inhibit Foxp3 in Tr-TCC. As one can see, the transfection procedure using the non-specific siRNA (neg ctlr) and transfection with MAPK (control MAPK) did not alter the levels of measurable Foxp3 in the cells: compare to levels of Foxp3 found in cultured Tr-TCC (control NT). In contrast, levels of Foxp3 in the cells were reduced after nucleofection with the specific siRNA to Foxp3 (Fig 3.22 bars 3-6). Some siRNA were better than others, for example, a more significant decrease in
Foxp3 was observed with siRNA 1 and 3 but the best reduction was achieved using all four siRNA together (Fig 3.22 bar 8).

However, although Foxp3 levels could be consistently reduced using siRNA, the same levels of reduction were not always highly reproducible using the same single siRNA. For example, our designated siRNA1 significantly suppressed levels of Foxp3 in 2 of 3 assays, whereas siRNA2 worked only once in two assays. This may be due to the instability of siRNA during the experiments or dependent on the levels of Foxp3 and thus the cell cycle of the growing Tr-TCC at the time of transfection. Since the combination of all siRNA demonstrated a more consistant inhibition, we used all four siRNA for the following described experiments. Finally, levels of TNF- α were measured in the culture supernatant of these above described assays after 24 hours. The principle of this task was to identify whether there were fundamental changes to the way in which the transfected cells behaved upon stimulation. However, some minor differences in TNF-production could be observed between the control untreated and the siRNA treatment (data not shown.

Foxp3, cytokines and regulatory properties

As mentioned above in section 3.1.2, the Tr-TCC generated in this work were selected on their ability to secrete high levels of IL-10. Following siRNA transfection, individual clones with specific and stable down regulation of Foxp3 expression were tested for their cytokine expression. Figure 3.23 shows the percentage of Foxp3 present within the cells at the onset of the experiment. Levels of Foxp3 in non-transfected (NT) cells were 68% and this value correlated to the cells transfected with non-specific siRNA (control si) and the cells transfected with MAPK (data not shown). However, when all siRNA (siFoxp3) were used levels of Foxp3 were dramatically reduced. Interestingly, in this experiment, siRNA nucleofection with siRNAFoxp3-1 and 2 did not alter the levels of Foxp3 in the cells whereas siRNAFoxp3-3 and 4 reduced Foxp3 levels by 40 and 20% respectively (data not shown). This correlates to the data described in the previous section which demonstrated that using all siRNA to Foxp3 produced the most consistent results. Following assessment of Foxp3 levels, nucleofected cells were re-stimulated with antiCD3/CD28 and their cytokine profiles were determined three days later. Figure 3.23 shows a representative experiment of cytokine levels in siRNA transfected cells. Surprisingly, successfully Foxp3-silenced Tr-TCC showed no reduction in their production of IL-10. Levels of

IFN- γ however were elevated. For example, levels of IFN- γ in non-transfected cells and non-specific siRNA were approximately equal. Whereas those in Foxp3 silenced cells were dramatically increased. TGF- β was also measured in these assays but not detectable levels could be observed (data not shown).



Figure 3.23: Foxp3 inhibition does not affect IL-10 production by transfected Tr-TCC. Tr-TCC $(1x10^5)$ were left either non-transfected (NT), or transfected with non-specific siRNA (control si), or Foxp3 specific siRNA (siFoxp3). After 3 days, levels of IL-10 (blue bars) or IFN- γ (green bars) were measured in the supernatant by ELISA. Data represents one of three independent experiments. Numbers in white boxes represent the percentage of Foxp3⁺ T cells in Tr-TCC used in each experiment. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the groups indicated by the brackets,* p<0.05.

Due to the elevated status of IFN- γ in the siRNA Foxp3 Tr-TCC, we also tested whether these cells had lost their suppressive properties on effector T cells. Figure 3.24 shows that whereas non-transfected clones were able to reduce the proliferation of reporter T cells (*c.f.* bars 1 and 4), Tr-TCC with silenced Foxp3 failed to do so (*c.f.* bars 1 and 2). To demonstrate that this was an effect of the silenced Foxp3 gene, we also tested Tr-TCC which had been transfected with the non-specific siRNA, here Tr-TCC were still able to suppress effector T cells proliferation (bar 3). These results, suggest that the balance between pro-inflammatory cytokines (IFN- γ) and anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10) may play a role in the ability of Tr-TCC to suppress the proliferation of autologous non Tr-TCC and moreover, that this balance could be controlled by functional Foxp3.



Figure 3.24: si Foxp3 transfected Tr-TCC are no longer able to suppress non Tr-TCC proliferation. $1x10^4$ Tr-TCC or siRNA-or control-transfected Tr-TCC were cultured in presence of $1x10^5$ CFSE labelled autologous non Tr-TCC. Cells were then stimulated with α CD3/CD28 expansion beads (Dynal). The dilution of CFSE was assessed by flow cytometry 3 days after stimulation. Percentage of proliferation was calculated according to the proliferation in the reporter cells alone stimulated with anti-CD3/CD28. Bars represent means ±SD of 3 independent experiments.

IgGs induction by Foxp3 silenced Tr-TCC

In the final set of experiments, we tested whether Tr-TCC with silenced Foxp3 could still induce B cells to preferentially produce IgG4. Using the same experimental setup as described for the other *in vitro* co-culture assays (section 2.3.7) we incubated CD19⁺ B cells with the different transfected Tr-TCC for 14 days. Thereafter levels of IgG subclasses were measured in the supernatant. Figure 3.25 shows the data obtained for all four IgG subclasses and one can immediately see that Tr-TCC with silenced Foxp3 were no longer able to induce IgG4 production (Fig 3.25D). This finding correlates to their changes in cytokine profile (Fig 3.23) and lack of suppressive activity on effector T cells (Fig 3.24). Interestingly, instead of inducing IgG4, these Foxp3-silenced T cells induced IgG2 (Fig 3.25B). There were no alterations in the pattern of IgG1 and IgG3 (Fig 3.25 A and C respectively). Tr-TCC that had been transfected with control siRNA showed the same profile as those cells which were not transfected at all: preferential IgG4 production.



Figure 3.25: Blocking Foxp3 does not affect IgG1 but reduced IgG4 and simultaneously increases IgG2. $5x10^4$ CD19⁺ MACS sorted B cells were co-cultured with $1x10^5$ Foxp3-silenced anti-CD3 (10µg/ml) activated Tr-TCC: red bars(si Foxp3). As controls, Tr-TCC with functional Foxp3: green bars (NT) or a Tr-TCC that had undergone a transfection with a non-specific siRNA grey: bars (siCTRL) were also included. Levels of IgG subclasses were measured after 14 days of culture with ELISA. Bars represent the mean ± SD of each IgG subclass. Data are a representative of three independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the indicated groups,** p<0.01.

3.3 Are natural occurring regulatory T cells also able to induce IgG4 expression by B cells?

3.3.1 ISOLATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF NATURALLY OCCURRING REGULATORY T CELLS

Since nTreg constitutively express Foxp3 and GITR, we assessed whether nTreg were also capable of inducing IgG4. In brief, nTreg (CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells) were isolated via magnetic cell sorting from 6 healthy donors and placed in culture with appropriate stimulation and autologous B-cells. After 14 days, the levels of IgG2 and IgG4 were measured by ELISA. Interestingly, co-

cultures of nTreg and B cells enhanced IgG4 but not IgG2 (*c.f.* bar 3 on Figures 3.26A and B). Cultures were further subjected to anti-GITR or anti-IL-10 treatment. Similar to Tr-TCC (Fig 3.13), IgG4 induction by nTreg could also be reduced to background levels upon addition of α GITR or α IL-10.



Figure 3.26: A role for GITR in the induction of IgG4 by nTreg.

nTreg (CD4⁺CD25⁺) or CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cells were isolated from 6 healthy individuals. $1x10^5$ nTreg or CD4⁺CD25⁻ T cells were co-cultured with autologous CD19⁺ B-cells (3-5x10⁵) and α CD3/ α CD28 for 14 days. Thereafter, the levels of IgG2 (A) and IgG4 (B) were measured by ELISA. As depicted, cultures were also subjected to α GITR or α IL-10 antibody treatment. Bars represent the mean and SD of 6 independent results.

For comparison, populations of effector T cells (CD4⁺CD25⁻) were also tested for their ability to induce IgG2 or IgG4. CD4⁺CD25⁻T cells were unable to induce IgG4 but could induce IgG2 and the latter IgG response was not affected by the addition of either α GITR or α IL-10. No differences in the levels of IgG1 or IgG3 could be observed (data not shown). In the same co-

culture system we compared the ability of CD4⁺CD25⁺ natural occurring regulatory T cells to elicit IgG4 production from autologous B cells with Tr-TCC (Fig 3.27). However, as clearly shown in figure 3.27, the amounts of IgG4 were much lower than those that we have observed with our high IL-10 producing Tr-TCC. Nevertheless, nTreg can also induce IgG4, and in addition preferentially to IgG2. Moreover, effector T cells (comparable to non-Tr-TCC) produced no IgG4 at all and were unaffected by the addition of blocking antibodies. This data also reflects the findings using siRNA in Tr-TCC since there, IgG4 production was abolished and Tr-TCC reverted to inducing IgG2 from B cells instead. Collectively, there is strong evidence from this work that IgG4 induction is specifically induced by IL-10 producing regulatory T cells through GITR/GITRL interactions and in addition these cells have overlapping characteristics with naturally occurring T cells.



Figure 3.27: Naturally occurring Tregs induce IgG4 by B cells albeit weaker than Tr-TCC. Comparison between naturally occurring Treg cells and Tr-TCC in their ability to induce IgG4. In brief, $1x10^5$ nTreg (CD4⁺CD25⁺) or Tr-TCC were incubated with autologous CD19⁺ B-cells (3-5x10⁵) and α CD3/ α CD28 for 14 days. Thereafter, the levels of IgG4 were measured by ELISA. Bars represent the mean \pm SD of 6 independent results. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the indicated groups **p<0.01; ***p<0.001.

3.4 NAÏVE OR MEMORY B CELLS ARE PRODUCER OF IgG4?

Naïve B cells have been shown to induce the generation of regulatory T cells^[32]. In our system, although we had an established IgG4 induction from B cells by activated Tr-TCC, it remained unclear whether this secretion originated from already differentiated memory B cells or whether Tr-TCC specifically induced the IgG4 switch in naïve B cells. Thus, to find out the B cell subpopulation responsible for the IgG4 production, we compared the IgG4 expression in co-culture of Tr-TCC and populations of B cells that had been separated according to their expression of the CD27 marker. CD27 is considered to be expressed on most memory B cells but

not on naïve populations. Using 6 individual donors, we found that the proportion of naïve $(CD27^{-})$ and memory $(CD27^{+})$ B cells within the total $(CD19^{+})$ B cell fraction was $61.2\% \pm 9.8\%$ and $38.8\% \pm 9.8\%$ respectively. Figure 3.28 below shows both the flow cytometry images of isolated B cells stained with anti-FITC-labelled CD27 antibody and the proportions of naïve and memory B cells from healthy donors.



Figure 3.28 proportion of naïve and memory B cells in bulk B cells populations.

CD19⁺ B cells were isolated microbeads and MACS technology. Thereafter, cells were stained with FITC-labelled anti-CD27 antibody. Naïve and memory B cell populations were then analyzed using FACS Diva Software.

After 14 days of co-culture with activated Tr-TCC, the preferential secretion of IgG-isotype by total, naïve or memory B cell fractions was analyzed. Here, we found that the most IgG4 is produced with all CD19⁺ B cells and that naïve B cells produced slightly more IgG4 but much less IgG1 than memory B cells (Fig 3.29). Interestingly, upon comparison of IgG4/IgG1 ratio (Fig 3.29) we found that unlike memory cells, naïve B cells were comparable to the bulk cell population but it appears that both subsets are required for a complete response.



Figure 3.29 Tr-TCC induced IgG4 production by B cells requires both naïve and memory B cell populations.

 α CD3/ α CD28 stimulated Tr-TCC (1x10⁵) were cultured with either whole populations of autologous purified (> 98 %) CD19⁺ B cells (total), or isolated subsets of naïve or memory (CD27⁺) B cells. After 14 days of culture, levels of IgG subsets 1 and 4 were measured by ELISA. The ratio of IgG4/IgG1 was calculated by the amount of IgG subclass produced by the B cell subtypes. Bars represent the mean and SD of IgG subclass induction by B cells in two independent experiments using different Tr-TCC. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the indicated groups, *p<0.05.

3.5 ROLE FOR TLRS

TLR are known to initiate the innate immune response and to participate in the fine regulation of the adaptive immune response by influencing the maturation of antigen presenting cells. Also TLRs are known to be expressed on Treg and studies have shown that stimulation through the TLR can modulate their regulatory properties. However, since one member of this family of receptors, TLR2, has been shown to control expansion and function of regulatory T cells^[170-172] we decided to investigate whether TLR stimulation affected the ability of our generated Tr-TCC to preferentially induce IgG4. Using our above described co-culture system (section 2.3.7) we primarily focused on two specific questions: does prior TLR stimulation on Tr-TCC affect their ability to induce IgG4 production in B cells and vice-versa, that is, does TLR stimulation of B cells over-ride the signals from Tr-TCC.

3.5.1 TR AND B CELLS EXPRESS TLRS

Before starting the co-culture experiments, we investigated the expression of different TLRs on Tr-TCC, B cells and for comparison on non-Tr-TCC control cells and natural-occurring Treg (CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells). The data collected after FACS analysis showed that TLR are more prominently expressed on CD40L activated B cells (TLR2, 3, 4 and 9). In terms of regulatory T cells phenotypes, nTreg expressed high levels of TLR2 and TLR4 whereas Tr-TCC and Th1 cells display approximately the same TLR profiles (Fig 3.30).



Figure 3.30 TLR expression on B cells, Tr-TCC, non Tr-TCC and nTreg

B cells, isolated nTreg, Tr-TCC and non Tr-TCC were analysed by FACS for their expression of TLR2, 3, 4 and 9 24 hours after stimulation with α CD3 (10µg/ml) and CD40L (5µg/ml). Bars represent the percentage of TLR⁺ cells in two independent experiments using 5 different healthy PBMC preparations.

Surprisingly known intracellular TLRs like TLR3 were found to be expressed on Tr-TCC surface (Fig 3.30 and data not shown). However they were almost no intracellular TLRs expression in the intracellular compartments of all T cell types. In contrast, B cells displayed significant levels of intracellular TLR3 and TLR9 after permeabilization of the cellular membranes.

3.5.2 TLRs stimulation on B and T cells modulate IGGs expression

Upon analysis of TLR distribution on the different cell populations we then evaluated the influence of TLR activation on the induction of IgG subclasses. In the first experiments, we cultured Tr-TCC with TLR stimulation for 5 hours, washed the cells and incubated them with B cells. No differences in expression patterns of IgG subclasses could be observed after 14 days of culture (data not shown).

In the second experiments we used the reverse approach. In short, B cells were pre-stimulated with LPS (TLR4), Pam3Cys (TLR2) or CpG (TLR9) for 24 hours. Thereafter, cells were washed and added to be cultured with activated Tr-TCC for a further 14 days. Levels of IgG1, IgG2, IgG3 and IgG4 were then analysed using ELISA (Fig 3.31). As expected and in correlation to the experiments described in the previous sections, activated Tr-TCC preferentially induced IgG4 in B cells. However, if the B cells had been prior stimulated with LPS or CpG, levels of this immunoglobulin were reduced to concentrations found with B cells alone. Interestingly, stimulation with the TLR2 activator Pam3Cys had no influence on the IgG4 production. Pam3Cys however, dramatically increased levels of IgG1 and IgG2 production and here, this stimulus correlated with the effects seen with CpG. LPS moderately up-regulated levels of IgG1 but appeared to have no effect on amounts of IgG2. In all of our previous experiments using this co-culture system, levels of IgG3 never exceeded background quantities. Surprisingly, addition of LPS or Pam3Cys to the B cell cultures strongly up-regulated this class of immunoglobulin. TLR9 ligation on the other hand failed to alter the induction pattern of IgG3.



Figure 3.31: Effect of TLRL on IgGs production in T-B co-cultures.

B cells pre-stimulated with LPS (TLR4), Pam3Cys (TLR2) or CpG (TLR9) for 24 hours have been co-cultivated with α CD3/ α CD28 activated Tr-TCC for 14 days as described previously. Thereafter, the levels of IgG1 (A), IgG2 (B), 3 (C) and 4 (D) were measured by ELISA. Bars represent the mean ± SD of 3 independent experiments. Asterisks indicate significant differences between the indicated groups *p<0.01.

4 DISCUSSION

The Th1-Th2 paradigm has been useful in explaining the mechanisms of immunity during infection^[173-175]. Th1 cells through cytokines like IFN- γ , IL-12 and IL-6 have been shown to promote the clearance of intracellular pathogens but can also induce autoimmunity. In contrast, Th2 cells are responsible for the induction of the humoral immunity by using cytokines such as IL-4 and IL-5 to activate B cells which produce antibodies. This pathway can also lead to allergy due to B cells production of IgE. The reciprocal control of Th1 and Th2^[174, 176] cells was believed to maintain the necessary balance for immune homeostasis. Disruption to this Th1-Th2 balance has provided an explanation for several immune pathologies like autoimmunity and allergy^[177]. However, nowadays this paradigm is under intense revision^[178] due to the discovery of "new" subtypes of T cells. In addition to Th1 cells, Th17 cells have recently been shown to trigger inflammation and autoimmunity^[179, 180]. Furthermore, intense research into naturally-occurring regulatory T cells (nTreg) has confirmed their ability to control immune responses to self-antigens and thus preventing autoimmunity^[180, 181]. Both adaptive and naturally-occurring Treg cells have also been shown to play an important role in limiting collateral damages during immune responses to pathogens^[181]. In the regulation of humoral immune responses, one of the mechanisms proposed to explain control by Treg cells is the ability of these cells to induce of a preferential switch of antibody production in B cells to the non (or less) inflammatory immunoglobulin $IgG4^{[143]}$. In this chapter, the findings presented in the chapter 3, will be related to important currently discussed topics like the in vitro generation of antigen-specific regulatory T cells (4.1), the identification of markers for regulatory T cells (4.2), the relevance of regulatory T cells in allergy and parasitic diseases (4.3 and 4.4) and the influence of TLRs on regulatory T cells functions (4.5).

4.1 IN VITRO GENERATION OF REGULATORY T CELLS

In vitro generation of regulatory T cells is a promising potential immunotherapy for fighting autoimmune disorders, allergic diseases and for prevention of allograph rejection. In this study, IL-10-producing regulatory T cells have been generated as previously described^[97] using a repetitive stimulation with tetanus or O.v antigen and in combination with two immune suppressive drugs: dexamethasone and vitamin D3 (DD3). The active form of vitamin D3, 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D_3 [1,25(OH)₂ D_3], is a secosteroid hormone that binds to the vitamin D receptor (VDR), a member of the superfamily of nuclear receptors for steroid hormones, thyroid hormones and retinoic acid. VDR ligands are known to regulate calcium and bone metabolism but also known to control cell proliferation and differentiation, and exert immunoregulatory activities^[182]. The combination of vitamin D3 and dexamethasone (DD3) has been demonstrated to have a synergistic effect on the maturation of DCs. Monocyte-derived DCs cultured with DD3 during LPS-induced maturation were shown to have low stimulatory effects on allogeneic T cells, a phenomenon comparable with that observed with immature DCs. However, in contrast to immature DCs, DD3 exposed DCs secrete IL-10 and show upregulation of the Iglike inhibitory receptor (ILT4). Thus, DD3 is an effective immunosuppressive drug combination for the induction of APCs capable of eliciting effector T cell hypo-responsiveness^[183] and expansion of regulatory T cells^[97]. As previously described, our generated T cells were distinct from Th1 and Th2 cells since they produced low IFN- γ , no IL-4 and were able to suppress the proliferation of activated non-regulatory T cell clones in vitro in a IL-10 dependant manner (Figs 3.8 and 3.9). These characteristics were similar to those described for Tr-1-like T cells whose differentiation was driven by IL-10^[96]. This T cell population was obtained after antigenic stimulation of PBMCs with DD3. Interestingly, these studies further showed that using these drugs individually did not allow for the generation of such regulatory T cells. It is also of interest to mention that blocking Th1 (IFN- γ) or Th2 (IL-4, IL-5) polarising cytokines did not influence the generation of these Treg cells, a finding that is in contrast with previous reports^[184]. In confirmation of these findings, experiments performed here in the presence of neutralizing antibodies against IFN-y or IL-4 did not significantly increase the IL-10 production in the DD3-cultured TCLs (Fig 3.2). Also in accordance with other studies^[97], the data presented within this work also suggests that treatment with DD3 down regulates the expression of key transcription factors associated with Th1 and Th2 T cell differentiation: T-bet and GATA3 respectively^[97] (Fig 3.5). However, after T cell cloning and further re-stimulation with

anti-CD3/CD28 in the presence of IL-2, the Tr-TCC recovered substantial Tbet expression which could be associated with their increased levels of IFN- γ (Fig 3.6). GATA3 levels on the other hand remained low in all tested Tr-TCC, suggesting only a minor role for this transcription factor in the differentiation of IL-10 producing regulatory T cells.

From the studies performed in this work, we now hypothesise that the presence of DD3 during naive T cell priming lowers the "danger" signal and in turns alters the direction of maturation towards a regulatory T cell phenotype. In essence, mimicking the events that normally occur when auto-reactive T cells encounter "self" antigen in the periphery under tolerogenic conditions. Furthermore, known APCs like macrophages have been shown to be able to synthesize vitamin D3 after activation in the presence of IFN- γ and LPS^[185, 186] suggesting that upon triggering of APCs by microbial factors vitamin D3 can be synthesized and may constitute a potential mechanism for the generation of IL-10 producing cells *in vivo*. Furthermore, glucocorticoids released by the adrenal glands have been shown to profoundly dampen immune responses^[187] confirming the role of glucocorticoids in immune suppression and in regulatory T cell generation *in vivo*.

4.2 CHARACTERISATION OF REGULATORY T CELLS

The identification of markers for regulatory T cells is of great interest. The IL-2 receptor alpha or CD25 has been associated with nTreg following the first description of CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells by Sakaguchi^[75]. However, the fact that activated effector T cells also transiently express significant levels of CD25 makes the use of this marker insufficient for the general characterization of Tregs. Other constitutively expressed markers such as GITR, $\alpha_E\beta$ 7 and CTLA-4 have also been proposed. Nowadays, the transcription factor Foxp3 is well accepted as the main marker for Tregs. However, certain subsets of regulatory T cells do not express Foxp3. Moreover, in humans, activated effector T cells were shown to also up regulate Foxp3 upon TCR engagement^[188]. Despite these controversial aspects, the characterization of Tregs is possible and probably more accurate, by using all the known Treg makers together with cytokine profiles and *in vitro* or *in vivo* suppressive properties of the T cell population in question. In the second part of this work, we have used the expression of CD25, CD127, Foxp3, GITR, CTLA-4, IL-10 and TGF- β to characterize the DD3 generated Tr-TCC. Table 4.1 compares the expression different T cells markers on our generated Tr-TCC and other subset of T cells.

	Th1/2	Natural Tregs	Tr-1	Th3
Suppression mode	0	0	1	1
Resting Foxp3	0	1	0	?
CD25 high	0	0	1	?
CD127	1	0	?	?
CTLA-4	0	1	1	1
IL-10	0	0	1	0
TGF-beta	0	0	1	1
GITR	0	1	1	?
Proliferation/energy	0	0	1	0
Tr-TCC score	1	3	7	3

Table 4.1: Comparison of Tr-TCC with other T cells subtypes.

According to their expression of GITR, CTLA-4 and IL-10, Tr-TCC resemble to the well characterized Tr-1 cells but are simultaneously distinct from these cells because of their high levels of Foxp3 expression that makes them similar to natural Tregs. In addition, Tr-TCC are distinct from natural occurring Tregs because of their constitutively low expression of CD25. According to our scoring method, our generated Tr-TCC aligned most with Tr-1 cells. However, in opposition to previously described studies with glucocorticoid-derived IL-10 producing regulatory T cells our cells did not exclusively produce IL-10 since some IFN- γ was detectable aswell^[189].

We show here that IL-10 producing $CD4^+$ T cells, generated in the presence of DD3, change their phenotype after limiting dilution cloning and re-stimulation in the absence of DD3 and produce significant levels of IFN- γ , described previously to be distinct from Tr-1 cells generated using IL-10^[97]. This data suggests that the primary effect of DD3 was to down regulate IL-4 and IFN- γ production but after re-stimulation either with antigen or anti-CD3 in the absence of DD3, IFN- γ production was renewed and seems to play a role in their ability to retain significant proliferation capacities despite their regulatory properties and IL-10 production (Fig 3.3). Most interestingly, excess recombinant Th1 and Th2 polarizing cytokines where able to down regulate the number of IL-10–producing regulatory T in the presence of DD3 providing evidence that regulatory T cell development and function can be influenced by ongoing activities of Th1 and Th2 cells and may have significant implications for the physiological balance between these T cell subset during the course of an immune response. The ratio of Treg to T effector and T effector cytokines (IFN- γ , IL-4, IL-5, IL-6) to regulatory cytokines (IL-10, TGF- β) may also contribute to the outcome of the ensuing immune response.

Our present findings describing the generation and cloning of populations of IL-10–producing regulatory T cells has allowed us to determine that there are more similarities between these cells and other regulatory T cell populations. Furthermore, it has also demonstrated that these previously described distinct populations are not completely defined populations and that there is considerable overlap between regulatory subsets^[190]. In addition, these data have provided us with an insight on how better to understand the mechanisms underlying IL-10 positive Treg development. Our data also show similarities of the generated Tr-TCC to natural regulatory T cells in terms of the expression of surface or intracellular markers.

4.2.1 CD25, CD127, FOXP3

Regulatory T cells are distinguished from other T cell subsets by their expression levels of specific surface and intracellular markers. For example, natural occurring regulatory T cells are defined by their constitutive expression of the IL-2 receptor alpha (CD25) and the transcription factor Foxp3; both markers have been shown to play a critical role in their development as well as in their function^[191]. However these markers are not exclusive for regulatory T cells. Activated effector T cells for example also up-regulate and express significant levels of both CD25 and Foxp3^[188]. Thus only constitutive high CD25 expression and constitutive Foxp3 expression seem to be specific for regulatory T cells. A more controversial point is that not all regulatory T cell populations express these markers. High CD25 expression for example has been shown to be not relevant for IL-10 producing regulatory T cells (Tr-1). In both rodent and human studies, Foxp3 expression was not found in these Tr-1 cells on the protein or mRNA level^[192]. Nevertheless, whether Tr-1 and IL-10 producing regulatory T cells express Foxp3 remains a controversial point especially when other reports have attested to up-regulation of Foxp3 upon activation^[193]. Taken together, these considerations make the use of these markers to characterise regulatory T cells problematic. Recently, the expression of the IL-7 receptor (CD127) has been described to discriminate regulatory T cells from effector T cells^[194]. Regulatory T cells have been shown to express lower levels of CD127 in comparison to effector T cells. Thus, levels of CD127 and CD25 can distinguish CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells from activated effector T cells that also express significant levels of CD25.

During the generation of the Tr-TCC used in this study, it became apparent that after each round of stimulation there was an increase in the level of intracellular Foxp3 (Fig 3.21). Moreover

of stimulation there was an increase in the level of intracellular Foxp3 (Fig 3.21). Moreover, this induction of a natural regulatory T cell phenotype also corresponded with their ability to induce IgG4 in B cells. After cloning, and dependent on the individual Tr-TCC, these generated clones possessed not only the classical Tr-1 phenotype but displayed high levels of Foxp3 in their resting state. An explanation for the constitutive and high levels of IL-10 and Foxp3 in the generated Tr-TCC is that, unlike freshly isolated PBMCs which possess perhaps "non-primed" IL-10 producing Tr-1 cells, the cells described here are "directed" into becoming more antigenspecific and in addition to retaining their IL-10 phenotype adopt features of classical natural Treg. Further studies would have to be performed to elucidate whether Tr-1 cells in the periphery can be driven towards a classical regulatory phenotype upon repetitive antigen stimulation. Despite the Foxp3 expression, the generated Tr-TCC are further associated with Tr-1 like cells since they retain their ability to suppress effector cells in a cell contact independent manner: probably due to their IL-10 production (Figs 3.2.and 3.8). Moreover, whereas one-time stimulated cells induced hardly any IgG4 from B cells, multiple-stimulated cells or clones elicited predominantly IgG4.

In this study, the regulatory T cells that we have generated express intermediary levels of Foxp3 when compared to CD25-high nTreg isolated for PBMCs (Fig 3.4) and in concordance to what has been previously described, high levels of CD25 was expressed only upon activation. More surprisingly, our generated Tr-TCC express significant levels of the IL-7 receptor differentiating them from the natural or antigen-induced Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells^[194] that express lower levels of CD127. Taken together these observations lead us to conclude that the Tr-TCC generated in this study were phenotypically different from the well-known CD25^{high} Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells. We also investigated the expression of other additional markers which are used to characterise regulatory T cells and the findings of these results are described in the following sections.

4.2.2 GITR, CTLA-4 AND ICOS

The glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor family-related gene (GITR), also known as Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor Super Family member protein 18 (TNFRSF18) or AITR (Activation-inducible TNFR family receptor)^[195, 196], is a type I transmembrane protein

with high homology to other members of the family, like 4-1BB, CD27, and OX40^[197]. As with most of the members of this superfamily GITR is known to regulate diverse biological functions, including cell proliferation, differentiation, and survival. In both human and murine models stimulation of T cells through GITR is shown to induce NF_RB activation through a TRAF2-NIK signalling pathway^[196]. Nevertheless, it is well acknowledged that GITR is constitutively expressed on regulatory T cells^[198, 199] even though its actual function remains undetermined^[200]. The regulatory T cells we generated here constitutively expressed GITR and up-regulated its expression upon TCR ligation suggesting a functional meaning for the expression of this protein on these regulatory T cells. However, as mentioned above, GITR is not exclusive for regulatory T cells since it is also found on effector T cells, and its stimulation renders the latter resistant to regulatory T cell activity^[200]. Apart from GITR, Foxp3 and CD25, Treg cells express high levels of other markers that have also been shown to be important for their function. CTLA-4 for example is known play a role in terminating effector T-cell responses and is important in the induction of self-tolerance^[201]. The inducible co-stimulator ICOS is not a specific Treg marker but is thought to modulate the function of regulatory T cells^[202].

$4.2.3 \quad \text{Antigen specificity of the generated T cell clones}$

Despite their critical role in the control of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases, a potential exploitation of natural Treg in immunotherapy is limited by their lack of "known" antigen specificity. In contrast, antigen induced regulatory T cells get activated only when they encounter the appropriate antigen presented by APCs^[201]. The Tr-TCC we generated were activated upon antigen-specific stimulation but not following incubation with non-specific antigen as shown by their differential upregulation of CD69 after specific and non specific antigen challenge (Fig 3.7 A). However the Tr-TCC proliferate only mildly upon antigen stimulation and depending on individual TCC. This lack of proliferation could be do to the high levels of immunoregulatory cytokine IL-10 produced after stimulation in presence of APCs loaded with their specific antigen(Fig 3.7 B and C)

4.3 LIMITING DILUTION T CELL CLONING

The limiting dilution microculture T-cell cloning technique was developed by Keystone *et al.*, in 1993 and allows one to obtain single growing T cell clones from a polyclonal population. The principle consists of making a serial dilution from a known cell suspension to theoretically obtain 1 cell per well and to let this cell proliferate after stimulation. Although the principle is intuitive, the method is time consuming and there is no guarantee of single cell clones as shown in several studies^[203]. However it is one of the best available methods to obtain and study homogenous cell populations. Here we used a modification of this technique to generate antigen-specific T-cell lines and antigen-specific regulatory T cell clones (Tr-TCC).

4.4 MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF IGG4 INDUCTION BY TR-TCC

One of the mechanisms used by adaptive type-1 regulatory T cells to control an excessive immune response in allergy and chronic infections is the induction of non-inflammatory immune responses through IgG4 production. The aim of this study has been to decipher the molecular mechanisms that are involved in IgG4 induction.

Using a combination of tetanus toxoid or *Onchocerca volvulus* antigens with DD3 we continually stimulated PBMCs so that they would develop a Tr-1 like phenotype. After cloning, we employed this "antigen-primed or TCR-activated" Tr-TCC to explore the requirements of regulatory T cells to induce IgG4 production from B cells. We found that specific IgG4 responses from B cells after Tr-TCC activation were completely abolished upon neutralization of IL-10 and TGF- β . The same outcome occurred when GITR was blocked on the Tr-TCC. Further investigations showed that α -GITRL antibody had the same effect on IgG4 production but addition of recombinant GITR and GITRL to the system actually enhanced the levels of produced IgG4. GITR has been shown to be a regulator of immune responses by co-stimulating T-effector cells and abrogating the suppressive effects of Treg cells. As mentioned previously, nTreg cells and Tr-1 cells display a panel of specific surface markers which are now well-established with the regulatory T cell phenotype. However, the absolute necessity of these markers, especially during infection, remains unclear. It is hypothesised that Treg cells can inhibit the activation, differentiation and survival of pathogenic T cells through bidirectional communication (reverse signalling) between members of the TNF family on T lymphocytes and

DC. This pathway is regulated through tryptophan catabolism which is initiated by the enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO). Although initially described for CTLA-4 and B7 molecules^[204], Grohmann *et al.*, have now demonstrated that GITR/GITRL pathways are also influenced by this pathway. This study showed that reverse signalling through GITRL in pDCs resulted in non-canonical NF-kB activation and the onset of IDO-dependent immune regulation. We showed here that during each round of stimulation, the Tr-TCL have an increasing propensity to induce IgG4 production from B cells but this is entirely dependent on the presence of dexamethasone since its absence initiated IgG3 induction instead. In addition, blocking GITR or IL-10 prevented the production of this IgG subclass. Thus, we now hypothesize that in the initial stimulation of PBMCs, the steroid has synergistic effects on GITR/GITRL interactions which may modulate IDO activation. Repetitive stimulation then directs the IL-10 producing cells to develop a Tr-1 phenotype. Since the pDCs non-canonical NF-kB and IDO function have already been associated in controlling inflammatory pathology and allergy we conclude that this mechanism could also induce Tr-1 cells which have the ability to induce IgG4, and thus control arising immunopathology. In support of this theory, an experimental model of allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis has demonstrated that Treg cells, pDC and tryptophan catabolism are all required to mediate protection^[205, 206]. Studies using this model showed that application of dexamethasone inhibited Th2 responses but enhanced Foxp3 expression in the CD4⁺ T cells. Furthermore, although IgG4 levels were not measured, blockade of IDO in this model enhanced both IgE/IL-5 levels but significantly decreased IL-10 and TGF- $\beta^{[206]}$.

These data also suggest a possible signal through GITRL working as a receptor and activated by GITR acting in this model as ligand. Since these two molecules are also implicated in the model proposed in this thesis, we tested the possibility of a direct role for a signal through GITRL expressed on the B cells that could lead to IgG4 induction. For this purpose, we used a T-independent system in which B cells were stimulated with 5μ g/ml CD40L/IgM.(BD pharmingen) In this system, addition of recombinant GITR with or without the presence of recombinant IL-10 and/or TGF- β did not induce B cells to significantly increase IgG4 production. These results indicate that T cells (Tr-TCC) are absolutely required in the system and suggest a critical role for a signal through GITR molecules on the Tr-TCC in their ability to induce IgG4 production by B cells.

In other studies the presence of induced IgG4 appears to be associated with reduced pathology and protection. Just recently, studies using venom immunotherapy showed an expansion of circulating regulatory T cells (Foxp3⁺) which significantly correlated with the increased allergen-specific IgG4 and reduced IgE levels^[207]. In association with that study, studies from patients with paediatric asthma showed a significant increase in CD25^{hi}CD4⁺ T cells after corticotherapy both in the peripheral blood and in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid^[208]. Classically, both allergic and parasitic diseases induce a strong Th2 response with dominant IgE levels. It is now well-established that in several chronic infections such as helminth infections, a regulatory T cell response is generated, which may permit parasite survival within the immunecompetent host^[209-211]. Patients that develop a more regulatory response to parasite antigens also possess regulatory T cells which secrete IL-10 and TGF- $\beta^{[211]}$. All of these features are currently assumed to explain the absence of Th2-related autoimmune disease in patients suffering from parasite infections. In onchocerciasis, the hypo-responsive form of the infection is characterized by a strong prevalence of IgG4, low IgE and elevated Treg numbers. This phenotype is of course much better for the host, but how it actually arises and is maintained remains unclear. Taken together, these data highlight the connection between glucocorticoids, Treg and IgG4 in maintaining immunologic tolerance and implicate that therapeutic approaches aimed at boosting this population should be explored as a strategy to control allergic and parasitic diseases.

4.4.1 The role of Foxp3

We show here a novel function for Foxp3. Since our Tr-TCC express significant levels of Foxp3 in resting as well as in activated stages, we supposed that this molecule may play a key role in their function and we could show that the Foxp3 expression is tightly correlated with the ability of the Tr-TCC cells to induce B cells to specifically produce IgG4. We could also block the expression of Foxp3 in already differentiated Tr-TCC at the mRNA level using siRNA technology. However the method was not fully reproducible and most of the T cells do not survive transfection. The few Tr-TCC that were successfully transfected display after inhibition of Foxp3 a completely different and relatively stable profile: they up-regulate their IFN- γ expression without significantly changing their expression of IL-10, IL-4 was not measurable and the cells loose their ability to induce B cells to specifically induce IgG4. They elicit IgG2 production instead. The loss of IgG4 capacity seems to be due to the up-regulation of the other cytokines, suggesting that a balance in the expression of the cytokine milieu is critical for the

signals that lead to IgG4 production. These data were however in contrast to previous studies on the expression and function of Foxp3 in glucocorticoid induced IL-10 producing regulatory T cells: that is, the absence of this transcription factor and lack of functional role^[97]. Our data reveal a new role for Foxp3 in the stability of the regulatory functions of IL-10 producing regulatory T cells. Foxp3 seems also to play a functional role through the control of the cytokines expressed by the T cells.

4.4.2 The loop GITR, IL-10, TGF- β and CTLA4

Signalling through GITR on regulatory T cells has been described to inhibit their suppressive effect and to induce development of autoimmunity presumably due to immunoregulatory T cell inhibition^[199, 212]. However, Igarashi et al., recently showed that GITRL engagement increases proliferation and IL-10 production in regulatory T cell populations during CD3 stimulation and in the presence of exogenous IL-2. This is concordant to our data showing an increase of IL-10 production by Tr-TCC after engagement of GITR with its natural ligand^[200]. We postulate that this is one of the most important signals necessary for the induction of IgG4, and we could block IgG4 production by B cells using neutralizing GITR antibody which in turn could be reversed by the addition of excess recombinant IL-10. However, other signals also seem to be necessary, the blockade of TGF- β in our co-culture system for example completely reverses the production of IgG4 suggesting a key role for this molecule in this process. Nevertheless an excess of recombinant TGF-B could not recover the IgG4 expression after GITR blockade suggesting an independent but additional and indispensable role for TGF- β in the signals leading to IgG4 production. Our data also suggests that the TGF-β implicated in this process may be membrane bound since it was not possible to measure TGF- β in culture supernatants, and furthermore, using flow cytometry it was possible to detect TGF- β on the Tr-TCC, without permeabilization. Our data are in correlation with the fact that TGF-β and IL-10 often cooperate in anti-inflammatory processes^[213].

4.4.3 NAÏVE AND MEMORY B CELLS

Surprisingly, the use of isolated naïve (CD27⁻) or memory (CD27⁺) B cells separately in coculture with Tr-TCC showed completely different results to that obtained using bulk B cells populations. Naïve B cells alone produced more IgG4 than the memory ones. Moreover, the collective amount of IgG4 produced by naïve and memory B cells separately was also much lower than that the one produced by bulk B cells, suggesting a possible cooperation between the two B cell populations in this process. However, memory B cells produce higher amount of total IgG in comparison to naive B cells. These findings corroborate with observations showing that subpopulations of CD27⁺ B cells produce larger amounts of immunoglobulin than CD27⁻ B cells in presence of activated CD4⁺ T cells^[214]. These differences were shown to be due to the interaction of CD27 on the B cells with the CD27L (CD70) on the T cells^[214, 215]. Furthermore, triggering of CD27 on B cells by CD70 was shown to induce an increase in the number of plasma cells in the presence of stimuli such as IL-10^[162] and IL-4 plus CD40 signalling^[216]. On the other hand, a preferential differentiation of CD27⁻ B cells into IgG4 capable plasma cells could justify the higher amount of IgG4 produced by CD27⁻ B cells in the Tr-TCC-B cells co-culture system. However there is no confirmation of collaboration between naïve and memory B cells in the literature, our data are in favor of a direct or indirect cooperation between the two B cell subpopulations at least in the Tr-TCC dependant IgG4 production (Fig 4.1).





Tr-TCC induce signals through GITR-GITRL, IL-10 and TGF- β in association to additional signals from Tr-TCC (Tr help) stimulate both naive and memory B cells. Naive and memory B cells in the presence of these regulatory signals might then collaborate to preferentially secrete IgG4. This collaboration might be through direct B-B-cell interactions and/or cytokines produce by B and/or T cells present in the system.

4.5 TLR AND IGG4 PRODUCTION

TLRs are used by cells of the innate immunity to recognize invading pathogens. Signalling through TLRs induces the so-called "danger" signal, which ultimately leads to rapid clearance of infection^[6]. TLRs are known to influence the outcome of the adaptive immune responses.

Regulatory T cell function has also been shown to be modulated through TLR activation^[170, 172]. In the studies described in section flow cytometric analysis of PBMCs revealed that there was generally a high expression of TLRs on B cells. In addition, natural Treg expressed significantly higher levels of TLR2 than Tr-TCC and Th1 cells. In fact, generated Tr-TCC and Th1 cells displayed approximately the same TLR profile in terms of TLR expression (Fig 3.30). Surprisingly, known intracellular TLRs like TLR3 were found to be expressed on the surface of Tr-TCC. However, there was almost no TLR expression in the intracellular compartments of all T cell types. In contrast, B cells displayed significant levels of intracellular TLR3 and TLR9 after permeabilization of the cellular membranes.

We could show that Pam3Cys, CpG and LPS stimulations promote the induction of IgG1 and 3 by acting directly on the B cells. In contrast, the production of IgG4 was inhibited by the presence of either LPS or CpG. Pam3Cys stimulation however did not significantly affect IgG4 induction by Tr-TCC. Thus, TLRs stimulation redirects the IgG expression in the direction of a pro-inflammatory antibody production. This showed that, in case of an additional bacterial infection, B cells can overcome the control by Treg cells and redirect the IgG production to clear infection. These observations could explain the different pathological outcomes during parasitic infection. In Onchocerciasis for example, there are two possible immunopathological consequences during the development of infection: the generalized onchocerciasis usually associated with parasitemia, high IL-10 levels and IgG4 expression and the hyper-responsive form or "sowda" which shows few microfilariae but intense dermal pathology. In the latter case, additional bacterial infection such as LPS could initiate the development of the latter form due to too strongly stimulated B cells and the consequent production of other more inflammatory Ig molecules such IgG1, 2, 3 or IgE. Helminth antigens which are known to elicit IgG4^[141] production can dampen TLR expression on dendritic cells^[217]. Our data show that TLR stimulation in counterpart can also modulate the immunoregulatory effect of regulatory T cells. Furthermore, vitamin D3 was shown to down-regulate monocyte TLR expression and triggers hypo-responsiveness to pathogen-associated molecular patterns^[218]. All together, TLR pathways and immune regulatory mechanisms seem to be tightly interconnected.

4.6 NATURAL TREGS AND IgG4 INDUCTION

In experiments performed using isolated nTreg (CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells) we were also able to show that these cells preferentially induce IgG4 in B cells whereas CD25⁻ effector T cells do not, the latter actually induced IgG2 instead. These observations correlate with the data obtained using Tr-TCC and additionally to the experiments using Foxp3-silenced Tr-TCC since the latter could no longer induce IgG4 in B cells but elicited IgG2 instead. Therefore, it appears that Foxp3 is a vital component in directing B cells. Furthermore, IgG4 production induced by isolated nTreg cells was also dependent on GITR since adding α GITR to the co-cultures dampened the ability of those cells to make IgG4. Since we have shown that IL-10, TGF-β and Foxp3 play a critical role in the IgG4 induction and nTreg express all these markers, it was predictable that their effect on B cells were similar to the ones observed with Tr-TCC. However, the total amount of IgG subclasses induced by isolated CD4⁺CD25⁺ Tregs was much lower than the levels induced by Tr-TCC. These differences are certainly due to the activation status of the T cells and their levels of cytokines. For example, Tr-TCC produce much larger amounts of cytokines (chiefly IL-10) than CD4⁺CD25⁺ T cells and due to the multiple rounds of antigen-specific stimulation these cells are possible more "active" in their actions. In summary, the data suggest that CD4⁺CD25⁺ Tregs and IL-10 producing antigen-specific regulatory T cells use the same GITR dependant mechanism to induce IgG4 production by B cells.

4.7 CONCLUDING REMARKS

The data accumulated during this thesis procure one working hypothesis where at least three signals are indispensable for Tr-TCC to induce preferential IgG4 production by B cells (Fig 4.2.A). The first signal might go through the TGF- β receptors on B cells and provide the first instruction to B cells for a switch in favor of IgG4. In support of this aspect, blocking this signal using neutralizing antibodies against TGF- β in Tr-TCC:B cell co-culture assays abrogated the secretion of IgG4 (Fig 4.2B). The second signal may then be provided through GITR on the Tr-TCC that could be activated by connecting to GITRL expressed on the B cells. Blocking this

signal in Tr-TCC-B cells co-culture experiments, reduced the number of IL-10 producing T cells and thus the secretion of IgG4 (Fig 4.2C) indicating a link between IL-10 production, GITR-GITRL signalling and IgG4 induction. Tr-TCC:B cell co-cultures in an IL-10 deficient environment (anti-IL-10 mAb) failed to produce IgG4 (Fig 4.2D) and the excess addition of IL-10 recovered IgG4 production even when GITR signalling was blocked. Thus, confirming the key role of IL-10 which constitutes the third most direct signal necessary for IgG4 production. In addition, the TGF- β pathway might be independent from the GITR-GITRL-IL-10 signalling since addition of recombinant TGF- β did not recover IgG4 production when GITR is blocked (see section 3.2.5).



Figure4.2: Three signals are indispensable for the IgG4 induction by IL-10 producing regulatory T cells. Three signals seem to be indispensable for Tr-TCC to induce preferential IgG4 production by B cells. The first signal is mediated by TGF- β and provides the first instruction to B cells for a switch in favor of IgG4 (A). Blocking this signal with mAbs against TGF- β in Tr-TCC:B cell co-cultures abrogated the secretion of IgG4 (B). The second signal elicits IL-10 production (C) that in turn provides the third and more direct signal necessary to induce IgG4 secretion. In Tr-TCC:B cells co-culture experiments, blocking GITR or GITRL reduce the number of IL-10 producing T cells and thus the secretion of IgG4 (C) indicating a link between IL-10 production and GITR-GITRL signaling. The key role of IL-10 is confirmed by the fact Tr-TCC:B cell co-cultures in an IL-10 deficient environment failed to produce IgG4 (D) and that addition of IL-10 recovers IgG4 production when GITR signaling is blocked.

According to our data and the literature, we can propose a mechanism that leads to IgG4 production where the three signals described above are provided by a specialised T cell population expressing Foxp3 and IL-10. Although the data reported in this thesis provide

evidence that IgG4 is induced by $Foxp3^+$ IL-10⁺ Tr-1 like cells, this IgG class switching is probably also modulated by additional signals given by conventional Tregs that may play a positive role in the system. In contrast, this pathway might be negatively controlled by activated effector Th1 cells through pro-inflammatory cytokines like IFN- γ and inflammatory responses from TLR-activated innate cells. These strong pro-inflammatory responses would then initiate other immunoglobulins in detriment of IgG4. Understanding the mechanisms that lead to the production of IgG4 may provide useful information for understanding and in addition the treatment of parasitic, autoimmune and allergic diseases.

5 REFERENCES

1 Parkin, J. and Cohen, B., An overview of the immune system. *Lancet* 2001. **357**: 1777-1789.

Novak, N. and Bieber, T., 2. Dendritic cells as regulators of immunity and tolerance. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2008.
 121: S370-374; quiz S413.

3 Kolsch, E., Interaction of suppressor and helper antigenic determinants in the dominance of either tolerance or immunity. *Scand J Immunol* 1984. **19**: 387-393.

4 Shklovskaya, E. and Fazekas de St Groth, B., Balancing tolerance and immunity: the role of dendritic cell and T cell subsets. *Methods Mol Biol* 2007. **380**: 25-46.

5 Fleisher, T. A. and Bleesing, J. J., Immune function. *Pediatr Clin North Am* 2000. 47: 1197-1209.

6 Charles Janeway, P. T., Mark Walport, Mark Shlomchik, Mark J. Shlomchik, *Janeway's Immunobiology*, 7 Edn. Garland Science, New York.

7 Paul, W. E., *Fundamental immunology*. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia: 2003.

8 Cai, A. Q., Landman, K. A., Hughes, B. D. and Witt, C. M., T cell development in the thymus: from periodic seeding to constant output. *J Theor Biol* 2007. 249: 384-394.

9 **Thebeau, L. G. and Morrison, L. A.,** Mechanism of reduced T-cell effector functions and class-switched antibody responses to herpes simplex virus type 2 in the absence of B7 costimulation. *J Virol* 2003. **77**: 2426-2435.

10 Monson, N. L., The natural history of B cells. *Curr Opin Neurol* 2008. 21 Suppl 1: S3-8.

11 Messner, H. A., Human hemopoietic progenitors and their signals. *Bone Marrow Transplant* 1991. 7 Suppl 1: 18-22.

12 **Pillai, S. and Baltimore, D.,** Formation of disulphide-linked mu 2 omega 2 tetramers in pre-B cells by the 18K omegaimmunoglobulin light chain. *Nature* 1987. **329**: 172-174.

13 **Karasuyama, H., Kudo, A. and Melchers, F.,** The proteins encoded by the VpreB and lambda 5 pre-B cell-specific genes can associate with each other and with mu heavy chain. *J Exp Med* 1990. **172**: 969-972.

14 **Martensson, I. L. and Ceredig, R.,** Review article: role of the surrogate light chain and the pre-B-cell receptor in mouse B-cell development. *Immunology* 2000. **101**: 435-441.

Grawunder, U., Haasner, D., Melchers, F. and Rolink, A., Rearrangement and expression of kappa light chain genes can occur without mu heavy chain expression during differentiation of pre-B cells. *Int Immunol* 1993. **5**: 1609-1618.

16 Decker, D. J., Kline, G. H., Hayden, T. A., Zaharevitz, S. N. and Klinman, N. R., Heavy chain V gene-specific elimination of B cells during the pre-B cell to B cell transition. *J Immunol* 1995. **154**: 4924-4935.

17 Nemazee, D., Kouskoff, V., Hertz, M., Lang, J., Melamed, D., Pape, K. and Retter, M., B-cell-receptor-dependent positive and negative selection in immature B cells. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 2000. **245**: 57-71.

Allman, D. M., Ferguson, S. E., Lentz, V. M. and Cancro, M. P., Peripheral B cell maturation. II. Heat-stable antigen(hi) splenic B cells are an immature developmental intermediate in the production of long-lived marrow-derived B cells. *J Immunol* 1993. **151**: 4431-4444.

19 Klaus, S. J., Pinchuk, L. M., Ochs, H. D., Law, C. L., Fanslow, W. C., Armitage, R. J. and Clark, E. A., Costimulation through CD28 enhances T cell-dependent B cell activation via CD40-CD40L interaction. *J Immunol* 1994. **152**: 5643-5652.

20 Tarlinton, D., Radbruch, A., Hiepe, F. and Dorner, T., Plasma cell differentiation and survival. *Curr Opin Immunol* 2008. 20: 162-169.

21 Acosta-Rodriguez, E. V., Merino, M. C., Montes, C. L., Motran, C. C. and Gruppi, A., Cytokines and chemokines shaping the B-cell compartment. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 2007. **18**: 73-83.

22 Snapper, C. M. and Mond, J. J., A model for induction of T cell-independent humoral immunity in response to polysaccharide antigens. *J Immunol* 1996. **157**: 2229-2233.

23 **Tapchaisri, P. and Sirisinha, S.,** Serum and secretory antibody responses to Neisseria gonorrhoeae in patients with gonococcal infections. *Br J Vener Dis* 1976. **52**: 374-380.

24 **Bienenstock, J.,** The significance of secretory immunoglobulins. *Can Med Assoc J* 1970. **103**: 39-43.

Benson, M., Reinholdt, J. and Cardell, L. O., Allergen-reactive antibodies are found in nasal fluids from patients with birch pollen-induced intermittent allergic rhinitis, but not in healthy controls. *Allergy* 2003. **58**: 386-392.

26 Poljak, R. J., Amzel, L. M., Chen, B. L., Phizackerley, R. P. and Saul, F., Structure and specificity of antibody molecules. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 1975. 272: 43-51.

Amit, A. G., Mariuzza, R. A., Phillips, S. E. and Poljak, R. J., Three-dimensional structure of an antigen-antibody complex at 2.8 A resolution. *Science* 1986. 233: 747-753.

28 Sell, S., Park, A. B. and Nordin, A. A., Immunoglobulin classes of antibody-forming cells in mice. I. Localized hemolysis-in-agar plaque-forming cells belonging to five immunoglobulin classes. *J Immunol* 1970. **104**: 483-494.

Wortis, H. H., Dresser, D. W. and Anderson, H. R., Antibody production studied by means of the localized haemolysis in gel (LHG) assay. 3. Mouse cells producing five different classes of antibody. *Immunology* 1969. 17: 93-110.

30 Cochrane, C. G., Wuepper, K. D., Aiken, B. S., Revak, S. D. and Spiegelberg, H. L., The interaction of Hageman factor and immune complexes. *J Clin Invest* 1972. **51**: 2736-2745.

31 Wetter, O., [Structure and clinical significance of immunoglobulines]. *Hippokrates* 1968. **39**: 37-43.

32 Grey, H. M. and Kunkel, H. G., H Chain Subgroups of Myeloma Proteins and Normal 7s Gamma-Globulin. *J Exp Med* 1964. 120: 253-266.

33 Gergely, J., Fudenberg, H. H. and van Loghem, E., The papain susceptibility of IgG myeloma proteins of different heavy chain subclasses. *Immunochemistry* 1970. 7: 1-6.

34 Gergely, J., Medgyesi, G. A., Wang, A. C. and Fudenberg, H. H., IgG myeloma subclass-typing by tryptic digestion of whole sera. *Immunochemistry* 1972. 9: 589-592.

Shakib, F. and Stanworth, D. R., Human IgG subclasses in health and disease. (A review). Part I. *Ric Clin Lab* 1980.
10: 463-479.

36 French, M., Serum IgG subclasses in normal adults. *Monogr Allergy* 1986. 19: 100-107.

37 Burton, D. R., Gregory, L. and Jefferis, R., Aspects of the molecular structure of IgG subclasses. *Monogr Allergy* 1986. **19**: 7-35.

38 **Spycher, M. O., Spycher-Burger, M., Spath, P. J. and Burckhardt, J. J.,** Human serum induced opsonization of immunoglobulin G-coated polystyrene microspheres with complement components C3 and C4 as measured by flow cytometry. *J Immunol Methods* 1991. **145**: 83-92.

39 Simpson, L. L., Lake, P. and Kozaki, S., Isolation and characterization of a novel human monoclonal antibody that neutralizes tetanus toxin. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 1990. 254: 98-103.

40 Wang, S. Y., Racila, E., Taylor, R. P. and Weiner, G. J., NK-cell activation and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity induced by rituximab-coated target cells is inhibited by the C3b component of complement. *Blood* 2008. **111**: 1456-1463.

41 Yoshida, M., Masuda, A., Kuo, T. T., Kobayashi, K., Claypool, S. M., Takagawa, T., Kutsumi, H., Azuma, T., Lencer, W. I. and Blumberg, R. S., IgG transport across mucosal barriers by neonatal Fc receptor for IgG and mucosal immunity. *Springer Semin Immunopathol* 2006. **28**: 397-403.

42 **Petrie, H. T. and Zuniga-Pflucker, J. C.,** Zoned out: functional mapping of stromal signaling microenvironments in the thymus. *Annu Rev Immunol* 2007. **25**: 649-679.

43 **Moreau, J. F., Dechanet-Merville, J. and Taupin, J. L.,** [T cells and cellular immunity; T receptors (structure, diversity, repertory); differentiation antigens (CD4, CD8); activation; auxillary T cells and immunoregulation; lymphokines (interferons, TNF, IL-1, IL-2, IL-4) and cytotoxicity; concept of cellular immunity deficit]. *Rev Prat* 2000. **50**: 2183-2193.

44 Walther, M., Tongren, J. E., Andrews, L., Korbel, D., King, E., Fletcher, H., Andersen, R. F., Bejon, P., Thompson, F., Dunachie, S. J., Edele, F., de Souza, J. B., Sinden, R. E., Gilbert, S. C., Riley, E. M. and Hill, A. V., Upregulation of TGF-beta, FOXP3, and CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells correlates with more rapid parasite growth in human malaria infection. *Immunity* 2005. **23(3)**: 287-296.

45 **Kappes, D. J., He, X. and He, X.,** Role of the transcription factor Th-POK in CD4:CD8 lineage commitment. *Immunol Rev* 2006. **209**: 237-252.

46 Larosa, D. F. and Orange, J. S., 1. Lymphocytes. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2008. 121: S364-369; quiz S412.

47 **Pearce, E. L., Shedlock, D. J. and Shen, H.,** Functional characterization of MHC class II-restricted CD8+CD4- and CD8-CD4- T cell responses to infection in CD4-/- mice. *J Immunol* 2004. **173**: 2494-2499.

48 Yang, L. P., Demeure, C. E., Byun, D. G., Vezzio, N. and Delespesse, G., Maturation of neonatal human CD4 T cells: III. Role of B7 co-stimulation at priming. *Int Immunol* 1995. **7**: 1987-1993.

Wiest, D. L., Yuan, L., Jefferson, J., Benveniste, P., Tsokos, M., Klausner, R. D., Glimcher, L. H., Samelson, L.
E. and Singer, A., Regulation of T cell receptor expression in immature CD4+CD8+ thymocytes by p56lck tyrosine kinase: basis for differential signaling by CD4 and CD8 in immature thymocytes expressing both coreceptor molecules. *J Exp Med* 1993. 178: 1701-1712.

50 Katsikis, P. D., Cohen, S. B., Londei, M. and Feldmann, M., Are CD4+ Th1 cells pro-inflammatory or antiinflammatory? The ratio of IL-10 to IFN-gamma or IL-2 determines their function. *Int Immunol* 1995. 7: 1287-1294.

51 **Croft, M. and Swain, S. L.,** Recently activated naive CD4 T cells can help resting B cells, and can produce sufficient autocrine IL-4 to drive differentiation to secretion of T helper 2-type cytokines. *J Immunol* 1995. **154**: 4269-4282.

52 Martensson, C., Kristensson, K., Kalliomaki, S., Borrebaeck, C. A. and Carlsson, R., Antigen-specific human immunoglobulin production in SCID mice transplanted with human peripheral lymphocytes is dependent on CD4+ CD45RO+ T cells. *Immunology* 1994. **83**: 171-179.

53 Erdmann, A. A., Gao, Z. G., Jung, U., Foley, J., Borenstein, T., Jacobson, K. A. and Fowler, D. H., Activation of Th1 and Tc1 cell adenosine A2A receptors directly inhibits IL-2 secretion in vitro and IL-2-driven expansion in vivo. *Blood* 2005. **105**: 4707-4714.

54 Amon, M. A. and Manolios, N., Hypothesis: TCR signal transduction--A novel tri-modular signaling system. *Mol Immunol* 2008. 45: 876-880.

55 Armstrong, K. M., Insaidoo, F. K. and Baker, B. M., Thermodynamics of T-cell receptor-peptide/MHC interactions: progress and opportunities. *J Mol Recognit* 2008. **21**: 275-287.

56 **Robey, E. and Allison, J. P.,** T-cell activation: integration of signals from the antigen receptor and costimulatory molecules. *Immunol Today* 1995. **16**: 306-310.

57 **Kohlmeier, J. E. and Benedict, S. H.,** Alternate costimulatory molecules in T cell activation: differential mechanisms for directing the immune response. *Histol Histopathol* 2003. **18**: 1195-1204.

58 Sahraoui, Y., Allouche, M., Ammar, A., Spanakis, E., Clemenceau, C., Jasmin, C., Perraki, M., Varela-Millot, C. and Georgoulias, V., Interleukin 2 production and interleukin 2 receptor expression by human immature leukemic T cells. *Leukemia* 1992. 6: 1025-1035.

59 Cao, W., Chen, Y., Alkan, S., Subramaniam, A., Long, F., Liu, H., Diao, R., Delohery, T., McCormick, J., Chen, R., Ni, D., Wright, P. S., Zhang, X., Busch, S. and Zilberstein, A., Human T helper (Th) cell lineage commitment is not directly linked to the secretion of IFN-gamma or IL-4: characterization of Th cells isolated by FACS based on IFN-gamma and IL-4 secretion. *Eur J Immunol* 2005. **35**: 2709-2717.

60 Szabo, S. J., Kim, S. T., Costa, G. L., Zhang, X., Fathman, C. G. and Glimcher, L. H., A novel transcription factor, T-bet, directs Th1 lineage commitment. *Cell* 2000. **100**: 655-669.

61 Gately, M. K., Renzetti, L. M., Magram, J., Stern, A. S., Adorini, L., Gubler, U. and Presky, D. H., The interleukin-12/interleukin-12-receptor system: role in normal and pathologic immune responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1998. 16: 495-521.

62 Chakir, H., Wang, H., Lefebvre, D. E., Webb, J. and Scott, F. W., T-bet/GATA-3 ratio as a measure of the Th1/Th2 cytokine profile in mixed cell populations: predominant role of GATA-3. *J Immunol Methods* 2003. **278**: 157-169.

63 Tanaka, K., Ichiyama, K., Hashimoto, M., Yoshida, H., Takimoto, T., Takaesu, G., Torisu, T., Hanada, T., Yasukawa, H., Fukuyama, S., Inoue, H., Nakanishi, Y., Kobayashi, T. and Yoshimura, A., Loss of suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 in helper T cells leads to defective Th17 differentiation by enhancing antagonistic effects of IFN-gamma on STAT3 and Smads. *J Immunol* 2008. **180**: 3746-3756.

Harrington, L. E., Hatton, R. D., Mangan, P. R., Turner, H., Murphy, T. L., Murphy, K. M. and Weaver, C. T., Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat Immunol* 2005. 6: 1123-1132.

5 Ylikoski, E., Lund, R., Kylaniemi, M., Filen, S., Kilpelainen, M., Savolainen, J. and Lahesmaa, R., IL-12 upregulates T-bet independently of IFN-gamma in human CD4+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol* 2005. **35**: 3297-3306.

Ivanov, II, McKenzie, B. S., Zhou, L., Tadokoro, C. E., Lepelley, A., Lafaille, J. J., Cua, D. J. and Littman, D. R., The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell* 2006. 126: 1121-1133.

67 **Oukka**, M., Interplay between pathogenic Th17 and regulatory T cells. *Ann Rheum Dis* 2007. 66 Suppl 3: iii87-90.

Zheng, S. G., Wang, J. and Horwitz, D. A., Cutting edge: Foxp3+CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells induced by IL-2 and TGF-beta are resistant to Th17 conversion by IL-6. *J Immunol* 2008. **180**: 7112-7116.

69 Weaver, C. T., Harrington, L. E., Mangan, P. R., Gavrieli, M. and Murphy, K. M., Th17: an effector CD4 T cell lineage with regulatory T cell ties. *Immunity* 2006. 24: 677-688.

70 Bettelli, E., Carrier, Y., Gao, W., Korn, T., Strom, T. B., Oukka, M., Weiner, H. L. and Kuchroo, V. K., Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature* 2006. **441**: 235-238.

71 Beverley, P. C., Primer: making sense of T-cell memory. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 2008. 4: 43-49.

72 Gershon, R. K. and Kondo, K., Infectious immunological tolerance. *Immunology* 1971. 21: 903-914.

73 Moller, G., Do suppressor T cells exist? *Scand J Immunol* 1988. 27: 247-250.

74 Janeway, C. A., Jr., Do suppressor T cells exist? A reply. Scand J Immunol 1988. 27: 621-623.

75 Sakaguchi, S., Sakaguchi, N., Asano, M., Itoh, M. and Toda, M., Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. *J Immunol* 1995. **155**: 1151-1164.

Jordan, M. S., Boesteanu, A., Reed, A. J., Petrone, A. L., Holenbeck, A. E., Lerman, M. A., Naji, A. and Caton, A. J., Thymic selection of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells induced by an agonist self-peptide. *Nat Immunol* 2001. **2**: 301-306.

77 Wing, K. and Sakaguchi, S., Regulatory T cells as potential immunotherapy in allergy. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol* 2006. 6: 482-488.

78 Brisslert, M., Bokarewa, M., Larsson, P., Wing, K., Collins, L. V. and Tarkowski, A., Phenotypic and functional characterization of human CD25+ B cells. *Immunology* 2006. **117**: 548-557.

Jiang, X., Morita, M., Sugioka, A., Harada, M., Kojo, S., Wakao, H., Watarai, H., Ohkohchi, N., Taniguchi, M. and Seino, K., The importance of CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T cells in mouse hepatic allograft tolerance. *Liver Transpl* 2006. 12: 1112-1118.

80 Heier, I., Hofgaard, P. O., Brandtzaeg, P., Jahnsen, F. L. and Karlsson, M., Depletion of CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells inhibits local tumour growth in a mouse model of B cell lymphoma. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2008. **152**: 381-387.

81 **Dieckmann, D., Plottner, H., Berchtold, S., Berger, T. and Schuler, G.,** Ex vivo isolation and characterization of CD4(+)CD25(+) T cells with regulatory properties from human blood. *J Exp Med* 2001. **193**: 1303-1310.

Jonuleit, H., Schmitt, E., Stassen, M., Tuettenberg, A., Knop, J. and Enk, A. H., Identification and functional characterization of human CD4(+)CD25(+) T cells with regulatory properties isolated from peripheral blood. *J Exp Med* 2001.
 193: 1285-1294.

83 Watanabe, N., Wang, Y. H., Lee, H. K., Ito, T., Wang, Y. H., Cao, W. and Liu, Y. J., Hassall's corpuscles instruct dendritic cells to induce CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in human thymus. *Nature* 2005. **436**: 1181-1185.

Peng, G., Li, S., Wu, W., Sun, Z., Chen, Y. and Chen, Z., Circulating CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells correlate with chronic hepatitis B infection. *Immunology* 2008. **123**: 57-65.

Wu, J., Yi, S., Ouyang, L., Jimenez, E., Simond, D., Wang, W., Wang, Y., Hawthorne, W. J. and O'Connell, P. J., In vitro expanded human CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells are potent suppressors of T-cell-mediated xenogeneic responses. *Transplantation* 2008. **85**: 1841-1848.

Brode, S., Raine, T., Zaccone, P. and Cooke, A., Cyclophosphamide-induced type-1 diabetes in the NOD mouse is associated with a reduction of CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* 2006. **177**: 6603-6612.

87 Hori, S., Takahashi, T. and Sakaguchi, S., Control of autoimmunity by naturally arising regulatory CD4+ T cells. *Adv Immunol* 2003. 81: 331-371.

88 Yang, Y., Huang, C. T., Huang, X. and Pardoll, D. M., Persistent Toll-like receptor signals are required for reversal of regulatory T cell-mediated CD8 tolerance. *Nat. Immunol.* 2004. 5: 508-515.

89 **Taylor, M. D., LeGoff, L., Harris, A., Malone, E., Allen, J. E. and Maizels, R. M.,** Removal of regulatory T cell activity reverses hyporesponsiveness and leads to filarial parasite clearance in vivo. *J Immunol* 2005. **174**: 4924-4933.

90 **Xu., D., Liu., H., Komai-Koma., M., Campbell., C., McSharry., C., Alexander., J. and Liew, F. Y.,** CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T cells Suppress Differentiation and Functions of Th1 and Th2 Cells, Leishmania major Infection and Colitis in Mice. *J. Immunol.* 2003. **170**: 394-399.

91 **den Haan, J. M., Kraal, G. and Bevan, M. J.,** Cutting edge: Lipopolysaccharide induces IL-10-producing regulatory CD4+ T cells that suppress the CD8+ T cell response. *J Immunol* 2007. **178**: 5429-5433.

Xu, H., Dilulio, N. A. and Fairchild, R. L., T cell populations primed by hapten sensitization in contact sensitivity are distinguished by polarized patterns of cytokine production: interferon gamma-producing (Tc1) effector CD8+ T cells and interleukin (II) 4/II-10-producing (Th2) negative regulatory CD4+ T cells. *J Exp Med* 1996. **183**: 1001-1012.

93 Perez, N., Karumuthil-Melethil, S., Li, R., Prabhakar, B. S., Holterman, M. J. and Vasu, C., Preferential costimulation by CD80 results in IL-10-dependent TGF-beta1(+) -adaptive regulatory T cell generation. *J Immunol* 2008. **180**: 6566-6576.

Roers, A., Siewe, L., Strittmatter, E., Deckert, M., Schluter, D., Stenzel, W., Gruber, A. D., Krieg, T., Rajewsky,
 K. and Muller, W., T cell-specific inactivation of the interleukin 10 gene in mice results in enhanced T cell responses but normal innate responses to lipopolysaccharide or skin irritation. *J Exp Med* 2004. 200: 1289-1297.

95 Wakkach, A., Fournier, N., Brun, V., Breittmayer, J. P., Cottrez, F. and Groux, H., Characterization of dendritic cells that induce tolerance and T regulatory 1 cell differentiation in vivo. *Immunity* 2003. **18(5)**: 605-617.

96 **Groux, H., O'Garra, A., Bigler, M., Rouleau, M., Antonenko, S., de Vries, J. E. and Roncarolo, M. G.,** A CD4+Tcell subset inhibits antigen-specific T-cell responses and prevents colitis. *Nature* 1997. **389**: 737-742. 97 Barrat, F. J., Cua, D. J., Boonstra, A., Richards, D. F., Crain, C., Savelkoul, H. F., de Waal-Malefyt, R., Coffman, R. L., Hawrylowicz, C. M. and O'Garra, A., In vitro generation of interleukin 10-producing regulatory CD4(+) T cells is induced by immunosuppressive drugs and inhibited by T helper type 1 (Th1)- and Th2-inducing cytokines. *J Exp Med* 2002. **195**: 603-616.

98 **O'Garra, A. and Barrat, F. J.,** In vitro generation of IL-10-producing regulatory CD4+ T cells is induced by immunosuppressive drugs and inhibited by Th1- and Th2-inducing cytokines. *Immunol Lett* 2003. **85**: 135-139.

99 Tang, Q., Henriksen, K. J., Bi, M., Finger, E. B., Szot, G., Ye, J., Masteller, E. L., McDevitt, H., Bonyhadi, M. and Bluestone, J. A., In vitro-expanded antigen-specific regulatory T cells suppress autoimmune diabetes. *J Exp Med* 2004. 199: 1455-1465.

100 **Fantini, M. C., Dominitzki, S., Rizzo, A., Neurath, M. F. and Becker, C.,** In vitro generation of CD4+ CD25+ regulatory cells from murine naive T cells. *Nat Protoc* 2007. **2**: 1789-1794.

101 **Nakamura, K., Kitani, A. and Strober, W.,** Cell contact-dependent immunosuppression by CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells is mediated by cell surface-bound transforming growth factor beta. *J Exp Med* 2001. **194**: 629-644.

102 Chen, W., Jin, W., Hardegen, N., Lei, K. J., Li, L., Marinos, N., McGrady, G. and Wahl, S. M., Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. *J Exp Med* 2003. **198**: 1875-1886.

103 Ostroukhova, M., Qi, Z., Oriss, T. B., Dixon-McCarthy, B., Ray, P. and Ray, A., Treg-mediated immunosuppression involves activation of the Notch-HES1 axis by membrane-bound TGF-beta. *J Clin Invest* 2006. **116**: 996-1004.

104 **Oida, T., Xu, L., Weiner, H. L., Kitani, A. and Strober, W.,** TGF-beta-mediated suppression by CD4+CD25+ T cells is facilitated by CTLA-4 signaling. *J Immunol* 2006. **177**: 2331-2339.

105 **Sundstedt, A., O'Neill, E. J., Nicolson, K. S. and Wraith, D. C.,** Role for IL-10 in suppression mediated by peptideinduced regulatory T cells in vivo. *J Immunol* 2003. **170**: 1240-1248.

106 Netea, M. G., Sutmuller, R., Hermann, C., Van der Graaf, C. A., Van der Meer, J. W., van Krieken, J. H., Hartung, T., Adema, G. and Kullberg, B. J., Toll-like receptor 2 suppresses immunity against Candida albicans through induction of IL-10 and regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* 2004. **172**: 3712-3718.

107 **Montagnoli, C., Bacci, A., Bozza, S., Gaziano, R., Mosci, P., Sharpe, A. H. and Romani, L.,** B7/CD28-dependent CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells are essential components of the memory-protective immunity to Candida albicans. *J Immunol* 2002. **169**: 6298-6308.

108 **Dolganiuc, A. and Szabo, G.,** T cells with regulatory activity in hepatitis C virus infection: what we know and what we don't. *J Leukoc Biol* 2008.

Godkin, A., Ng, W. F., Gallagher, K., Betts, G., Thomas, H. C. and Lechler, R. I., Expansion of hepatitis C-specific CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells after viral clearance: a mechanism to limit collateral damage? *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2008. **121**: 1277-1284 e1273.

110 **Mittrucker, H. W. and Kaufmann, S. H.,** Mini-review: regulatory T cells and infection: suppression revisited. *Eur J Immunol.* 2004. **34**: 306-312.

111 Satoguina, J., Mempel, M., Larbi, J., Badusche, M., Loliger, C., Adjei, O., Gachelin, G., Fleischer, B. and Hoerauf, A., Antigen-specific T regulatory-1 cells are associated with immunosuppression in a chronic helminth infection (onchocerciasis). *Microbes Infect.* 2002. 4: 1291-1300.

112 Maizels, R. M. and Yazdanbakhsh, M., Immune regulation by helminth parasites: cellular and molecular mechanisms. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2003. **3**: 733-744.

Hisaeda, H., Tetsutani, K., Imai, T., Moriya, C., Tu, L., Hamano, S., Duan, X., Chou, B., Ishida, H., Aramaki, A., Shen, J., Ishii, K. J., Coban, C., Akira, S., Takeda, K., Yasutomo, K., Torii, M. and Himeno, K., Malaria parasites require TLR9 signaling for immune evasion by activating regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* 2008. **180**: 2496-2503. Couper, K. N., Blount, D. G., Wilson, M. S., Hafalla, J. C., Belkaid, Y., Kamanaka, M., Flavell, R. A., de Souza,
 J. B. and Riley, E. M., IL-10 from CD4CD25Foxp3CD127 adaptive regulatory T cells modulates parasite clearance and pathology during malaria infection. *PLoS Pathog* 2008. 4: e1000004.

115 Brattig, N. W., Lepping, B., Timmann, C., Büttner, D. W., Marfo, Y., Hamelmann, C. and Horstmann, R. D., *Onchocerca volvulus*-exposed persons fail to produce interferon-gamma in response to *O. volvulus* antigen but mount proliferative responses with interleukin-5 and IL-13 production that decrease with increasing microfilarial density. *J Infect Dis* 2002. **185**: 1148-1154.

116 **Steel, C. and Nutman, T. B.,** CTLA-4 in filarial infections: implications for a role in diminished T cell reactivity. *J. Immunol.* 2003. **170**: 1930-1938.

117 Madakamutil, L. T., Maricic, I., Sercarz, E. E. and Kumar, V., Immunodominance in the TCR repertoire of a [corrected] TCR peptide-specific CD4+ Treg population that controls experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 2008. **180**: 4577-4585.

118 Afzali, B., Lechler, R. I. and Hernandez-Fuentes, M. P., Allorecognition and the alloresponse: clinical implications. *Tissue Antigens* 2007. **69**: 545-556.

Wu, K., Bi, Y., Sun, K. and Wang, C., IL-10-producing type 1 regulatory T cells and allergy. *Cell Mol Immunol* 2007.4: 269-275.

Thunberg, S., Akdis, M., Akdis, C. A., Gronneberg, R., Malmstrom, V., Trollmo, C., van Hage, M. and Gafvelin,
 G., Immune regulation by CD4+CD25+ T cells and interleukin-10 in birch pollen-allergic patients and non-allergic controls. *Clin Exp Allergy* 2007. 37: 1127-1136.

121 **Calderon, M. and Essendrop, M.,** Specific immunotherapy with high dose SO standardized grass allergen tablets was safe and well tolerated. *J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol* 2006. **16**: 338-344.

122 Riedl, M. A., Landaw, E. M., Saxon, A. and Diaz-Sanchez, D., Initial high-dose nasal allergen exposure prevents allergic sensitization to a neoantigen. *J Immunol* 2005. **174**: 7440-7445.

123 Bohle, B., Kinaciyan, T., Gerstmayr, M., Radakovics, A., Jahn-Schmid, B. and Ebner, C., Sublingual immunotherapy induces IL-10-producing T regulatory cells, allergen-specific T-cell tolerance, and immune deviation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2007. **120**: 707-713.

124 Verhagen, J., Taylor, A., Blaser, K., Akdis, M. and Akdis, C. A., T regulatory cells in allergen-specific immunotherapy. *Int Rev Immunol* 2005. 24: 533-548.

125 Taylor, A., Verhagen, J., Akdis, C. A. and Akdis, M., T regulatory cells and allergy. *Microbes Infect* 2005. 7: 1049-1055.

126 Verhagen, J., Blaser, K., Akdis, C. A. and Akdis, M., Mechanisms of allergen-specific immunotherapy: T-regulatory cells and more. *Immunol Allergy Clin North Am* 2006. 26: 207-231, vi.

127 Akdis, C. A., Blesken, T., Akdis, M., Wuthrich, B. and Blaser, K., Role of interleukin 10 in specific immunotherapy. *J. Clin. Invest.* 1998. **102**: 98-106.

128 Bellinghausen, I., Knop, J. and Saloga, J., The role of interleukin 10 in the regulation of allergic immune responses. *Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol.* 2001. 126: 97-101.

129 Frew, A. J., Immunotherapy of allergic disease. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 2003. 111: S712-719.

130 Robinson, D. S., Larche, M. and Durham, S. R., Tregs and allergic disease. *J Clin Invest* 2004. 114: 1389-1397.

131 **Sutherland, M., Blaser, K. and Pene, J.,** Effects of interleukin-4 and interferon-gamma on the secretion of IgG4 from human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Allergy* 1993. **48**: 504-510.

132 King, C. L. and Nutman, T. B., Regulation of the immune response in lymphatic filariasis and onchocerciasis. *Immunol Today* 1991. **12**: A54-58.

Gallin, M., Edmonds, K., Ellner, J. J., Erttmann, K. D., White, A. T., Newland, H. S., Taylor, H. R. and Greene,
B. M., Cell-mediated immune responses in human infection with Onchocerca volvulus. *J Immunol* 1988. 140: 1999-2007.

134 **Mpagi, J. L., Buttner, D. W., Tischendorf, F. W., Erttmann, K. D. and Brattig, N. W.,** Humoral responses to a secretory Onchocerca volvulus protein: differences in the pattern of antibody isotypes to recombinant Ov20/OvS1 in generalized and hyperreactive onchocerciasis. *Parasite Immunol* 2000. **22**: 455-460.

135 Ottesen, E. A., Skvaril, F., Tripathy, S. P., Poindexter, R. W. and Hussain, R., Prominence of IgG4 in the IgG antibody response to human filariasis. *J. Immunol.* 1985. **134**: 2707-2712.

Ottesen, E. A., Immune responsiveness and the pathogenesis of human onchocerciasis. J. Infect. Dis. 1995. 171: 659-671.

de Boer, B. A., Kruize, Y. C., Rotmans, P. J. and Yazdanbakhsh, M., Interleukin-12 suppresses immunoglobulin E production but enhances immunoglobulin G4 production by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Infect. Immun.* 1997. **65**: 1122-1125.

Haarbrink, M., Terhell, A. J., Abadi, K., Asri, M., de Medeiros, F. and Yazdanbakhsh, M., Anti-filarial IgG4 in men and women living in Brugia malayi-endemic areas. *Trop Med Int Health* 1999. **4**: 93-97.

139 Atmadja, A. K., Atkinson, R., Sartono, E., Partono, F., Yazdanbakhsh, M. and Maizels, R. M., Differential decline in filaria-specific IgG1, IgG4, and IgE antibodies in Brugia malayi-infected patients after diethylcarbamazine chemotherapy. *J. Infect. Dis.* 1995. **172**: 1567-1572.

Brattig, N. W., Krawietz, I., Abakar, A. Z., Erttmann, K. D., Kruppa, T. F. and Massougbodji, A., Strong IgG isotypic antibody response in sowdah type onchocerciasis. *J. Infect. Dis.* 1994. **170**: 955-961.

141 Hoerauf, A., Satoguina, J., Saeftel, M. and Specht, S., Immunomodulation by filarial nematodes. *Parasite Immunol* 2005. 27: 417-429.

142 **Doetze, A., Satoguina, J., Burchard, G., Rau, T., Loliger, C., Fleischer, B. and Hoerauf, A.,** Antigen-specific cellular hyporesponsiveness in a chronic human helminth infection is mediated by T(h)3/T(r)1-type cytokines IL-10 and transforming growth factor-beta but not by a T(h)1 to T(h)2 shift. *Int Immunol* 2000. **12**: 623-630.

143 Satoguina, J. S., Weyand, E., Larbi, J. and Hoerauf, A., T Regulatory-1 Cells Induce IgG4 Production by B Cells: Role of IL-10 2005, pp 4718-4726.

144 **Miyoshi, H., Uchida, K., Taniguchi, T., Yazumi, S., Matsushita, M., Takaoka, M. and Okazaki, K.,** Circulating naive and CD4+CD25high regulatory T cells in patients with autoimmune pancreatitis. *Pancreas* 2008. **36**: 133-140.

145 Schulz-Key, H., Albiez, E. J. and Buttner, D. W., Isolation of living adult Onchocerca volvulus from nodules. *Tropenmed Parasitol* 1977. 28: 428-430.

Ayad, S. R., Fox, M. and Winstanley, D., The use of ficoll gradient centrifugation to produce synchronous mouse lymphoma cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1969. **37**: 551-558.

147 Arakaki, D. T. and Sparkes, R. S., Microtechnique for Culturing Leukocytes from Whole Blood. *Cytogenetics* 1963.85: 57-60.

148 Luzyanina, T., Mrusek, S., Edwards, J. T., Roose, D., Ehl, S. and Bocharov, G., Computational analysis of CFSE proliferation assay. *J Math Biol* 2007. **54**: 57-89.

149 **Tsuge, I., Okumura, A., Kondo, Y., Itomi, S., Kakami, M., Kawamura, M., Nakajima, Y., Komatsubara, R. and Urisu, A.,** Allergen-specific T-cell response in patients with phenytoin hypersensitivity; simultaneous analysis of proliferation and cytokine production by carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) dilution assay. *Allergol Int* 2007. **56**: 149-155.

150 Testi, R., Phillips, J. H. and Lanier, L. L., T cell activation via Leu-23 (CD69). *J Immunol* 1989. 143: 1123-1128.

Vitetta, E. S., Brooks, K., Chen, Y. W., Isakson, P., Jones, S., Layton, J., Mishra, G. C., Pure, E., Weiss, E., Word, C. and et al., T-cell-derived lymphokines that induce IgM and IgG secretion in activated murine B cells. *Immunol Rev* 1984. **78**: 137-157.

Dutton, R. W., Separate signals for the initiation of proliferation and differentiation in the b cell response to antigen. *Transplant Rev* 1975. **23**: 66-77.

153 Schimpl, A. and Wecker, E., Replacement of T-cell function by a T-cell product. *Nat New Biol* 1972. 237: 15-17.

154 Yoshizaki, K., Nakagawa, T., Fukunaga, K., Kaieda, T., Maruyama, S., Kishimoto, S., Yamamura, Y. and Kishimoto, T., Characterization of human B cell growth factor (BCGF) from cloned T cells or mitogen-stimulated T cells. *J Immunol* 1983. **130**: 1241-1246.

155 Okada, M., Sakaguchi, N., Yoshimura, N., Hara, H., Shimizu, K., Yoshida, N., Yoshizaki, K., Kishimoto, S., Yamamura, Y. and Kishimoto, T., B cell growth factors and B cell differentiation factor from human T hybridomas. Two distinct kinds of B cell growth factor and their synergism in B cell proliferation. *J Exp Med* 1983. **157**: 583-590.

Foster, H., Hooper, M., Imam, S. H., Lovett, G. S., Nicholson, J., Swain, C. J., Sweetman, A. J. and Weetman, D.
 F., Increased inhibitory action against adenosine 5'-triphosphate in the isolated taenia of the guinea-pig caecum by substitution in the A-ring of 2-phenylisatogen. *Br J Pharmacol* 1983. **79**: 273-278.

157 **Kagnoff, M. F., Arner, L. S. and Swain, S. L.,** Lymphokine-mediated activation of a T cell-dependent IgA antipolysaccharide response. *J Immunol* 1983. **131**: 2210-2214.

Swain, M. G., Follows, S. B. and Marks, G. S., Inhibition of uroporphyrinogen decarboxylase by 3,3',4,4'tetrachlorobiphenyl in chick embryo liver cell culture. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 1983. **61**: 105-108.

159 Swain, S. L., T cell subsets and the recognition of MHC class. *Immunol Rev* 1983. 74: 129-142.

160 **Swain, S. L., Dutton, R. W., Schwab, R. and Yamamoto, J.,** Xenogeneic human anti-mouse T cell responses are due to the activity of the same functional T cell subsets responsible for allospecific and major histocompatibility complex-restricted responses. *J Exp Med* 1983. **157**: 720-729.

Swain, S. L., Howard, M., Kappler, J., Marrack, P., Watson, J., Booth, R., Wetzel, G. D. and Dutton, R. W., Evidence for two distinct classes of murine B cell growth factors with activities in different functional assays. *J Exp Med* 1983. 158: 822-835.

Agematsu, K., Nagumo, H., Oguchi, Y., Nakazawa, T., Fukushima, K., Yasui, K., Ito, S., Kobata, T., Morimoto,
 C. and Komiyama, A., Generation of plasma cells from peripheral blood memory B cells: synergistic effect of interleukin-10 and CD27/CD70 interaction. *Blood* 1998. 91: 173-180.

163 **Stuber, E., Neurath, M., Calderhead, D., Fell, H. P. and Strober, W.,** Cross-linking of OX40 ligand, a member of the TNF/NGF cytokine family, induces proliferation and differentiation in murine splenic B cells. *Immunity* 1995. **2**: 507-521.

Aversa, G., Punnonen, J. and de Vries, J. E., The 26-kD transmembrane form of tumor necrosis factor alpha on activated CD4+ T cell clones provides a costimulatory signal for human B cell activation. *J Exp Med* 1993. **177**: 1575-1585.

 Avery, D. T., Kalled, S. L., Ellyard, J. I., Ambrose, C., Bixler, S. A., Thien, M., Brink, R., Mackay, F., Hodgkin,
 P. D. and Tangye, S. G., BAFF selectively enhances the survival of plasmablasts generated from human memory B cells. *J Clin Invest* 2003. 112: 286-297.

Levings, M. K., Sangregorio, R. and Roncarolo, M. G., Human cd25(+)cd4(+) t regulatory cells suppress naive and memory T cell proliferation and can be expanded in vitro without loss of function. *J Exp Med* 2001. **193**: 1295-1302.

167 Hahn, B. H., Ebling, F., Singh, R. R., Singh, R. P., Karpouzas, G. and La Cava, A., Cellular and molecular mechanisms of regulation of autoantibody production in lupus. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2005. **1051**: 433-441.

168 Lim, H. W., Hillsamer, P., Banham, A. H. and Kim, C. H., Cutting edge: direct suppression of B cells by CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* 2005. **175**: 4180-4183.

169 Shevach, E. M. and Stephens, G. L., The GITR-GITRL interaction: co-stimulation or contrasuppression of regulatory activity? *Nat Rev Immunol* 2006. 6: 613-618.

170 **Sutmuller, R. P., Morgan, M. E., Netea, M. G., Grauer, O. and Adema, G. J.,** Toll-like receptors on regulatory T cells: expanding immune regulation. *Trends Immunol* 2006. **27**: 387-393.

171 Sutmuller, R. P., den Brok, M. H., Kramer, M., Bennink, E. J., Toonen, L. W., Kullberg, B. J., Joosten, L. A., Akira, S., Netea, M. G. and Adema, G. J., Toll-like receptor 2 controls expansion and function of regulatory T cells. *J Clin Invest* 2006. 116: 485-494.
172 Layland, L. E., Rad, R., Wagner, H. and da Costa, C. U., Immunopathology in schistosomiasis is controlled by antigen-specific regulatory T cells primed in the presence of TLR2. *Eur J Immunol* 2007. **37**: 2174-2184.

173 Stern, M. E., Siemasko, K. F. and Niederkorn, J. Y., The Th1/Th2 paradigm in ocular allergy. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol* 2005. **5**: 446-450.

Koubek, K., Spicka, I. and Filipec, M., [The Th1/Th2 paradigm. The role of the Th1 and Th2 lymphocyte subpopulations in the regulation of immune processes]. *Cas Lek Cesk* 1999. **138**: 681-685.

175 **Colonna, M.,** Can we apply the TH1-TH2 paradigm to all lymphocytes? *Nat Immunol* 2001. 2: 899-900.

176 **Romagnani, S.,** The Th1/Th2 paradigm. *Immunol Today* 1997. **18**: 263-266.

177 **Kamradt, T. and Burmester, G. R.,** Cytokines and arthritis: is the Th1/Th2 paradigm useful for understanding pathogenesis? *J Rheumatol* 1998. **25**: 6-8.

178 Muraille, E. and Leo, O., Revisiting the Th1/Th2 paradigm. Scand J Immunol 1998. 47: 1-9.

Boissier, M. C., Assier, E., Falgarone, G. and Bessis, N., Shifting the imbalance from Th1/Th2 to Th17/treg: The changing rheumatoid arthritis paradigm. *Joint Bone Spine* 2008.

Nomura, T. and Sakaguchi, S., Foxp3 and Aire in thymus-generated Treg cells: a link in self-tolerance. *Nat Immunol* 2007. 8: 333-334.

181 Hill, J. A., Benoist, C. and Mathis, D., Treg cells: guardians for life. *Nat Immunol* 2007. 8: 124-125.

Adorini, L., Immunomodulatory effects of vitamin D receptor ligands in autoimmune diseases. *Int Immunopharmacol* 2002. 2: 1017-1028.

183 Pedersen, A. E., Gad, M., Walter, M. R. and Claesson, M. H., Induction of regulatory dendritic cells by dexamethasone and lalpha,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D(3). *Immunol Lett* 2004. **91**: 63-69.

184 Peng, J.-K., Lin, J.-S., Kung, J. T., Finkelman, F. D. and Wu-Hsieh, B. A., The combined effect of IL-4 and IL-10 suppresses the generation of, but does not change the polarity of, type-1 T cells in Histoplasma infection 2005, pp 193-205.

Evans, C. E., Mylchreest, S., Mee, A. P., Berry, J. L. and Andrew, J. G., 1,25- Dihydroxy-vitamin D3 synthesis by macrophages is modulated by both hydrostatic pressure and UHMWPE particles 2006, pp 383-b-.

186 Hayes, C. E., Nashold, F. E., Spach, K. M. and Pedersen, L. B., The immunological functions of the vitamin D endocrine system. *Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand)* 2003. **49**: 277-300.

187 Khardori, R., Adamski, A. and Khardori, N., Infection, immunity, and hormones/endocrine interactions. *Infect Dis Clin North Am* 2007. 21: 601-615, vii.

Allan, S. E., Crome, S. Q., Crellin, N. K., Passerini, L., Steiner, T. S., Bacchetta, R., Roncarolo, M. G. and Levings, M. K., Activation-induced FOXP3 in human T effector cells does not suppress proliferation or cytokine production. *Int Immunol* 2007. **19**: 345-354.

Bacchetta, R., Sartirana, C., Levings, M. K., Bordignon, C., Narula, S. and Roncarolo, M. G., Growth and expansion of human T regulatory type 1 cells are independent from TCR activation but require exogenous cytokines. *Eur J Immunol* 2002. **32**: 2237-2245.

190 **Cobbold, S. P.,** The hidden truth about gene expression in Tregs: is it what you don't see that counts? *Eur J Immunol* 2006. **36**: 1360-1363.

191 Walker, L. S., CD4+ CD25+ Treg: divide and rule? *Immunology* 2004. 111: 129-137.

Vieira, P. L., Christensen, J. R., Minaee, S., O'Neill, E. J., Barrat, F. J., Boonstra, A., Barthlott, T., Stockinger,
B., Wraith, D. C. and O'Garra, A., IL-10-secreting regulatory T cells do not express Foxp3 but have comparable regulatory function to naturally occurring CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* 2004. **172**: 5986-5993.

Walker, M. R., Kasprowicz, D. J., Gersuk, V. H., Benard, A., Van Landeghen, M., Buckner, J. H. and Ziegler, S.
 F., Induction of FoxP3 and acquisition of T regulatory activity by stimulated human CD4+CD25- T cells. *J Clin Invest* 2003. 112: 1437-1443.

194 **Hartigan-O'Connor, D. J., Poon, C., Sinclair, E. and McCune, J. M.,** Human CD4+ regulatory T cells express lower levels of the IL-7 receptor alpha chain (CD127), allowing consistent identification and sorting of live cells. *J Immunol Methods* 2007. **319**: 41-52.

195 Kwon, B., Yu, K. Y., Ni, J., Yu, G. L., Jang, I. K., Kim, Y. J., Xing, L., Liu, D., Wang, S. X. and Kwon, B. S., Identification of a novel activation-inducible protein of the tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily and its ligand. *J Biol Chem* 1999. **274**: 6056-6061.

Gurney, A. L., Marsters, S. A., Huang, R. M., Pitti, R. M., Mark, D. T., Baldwin, D. T., Gray, A. M., Dowd, A. D., Brush, A. D., Heldens, A. D., Schow, A. D., Goddard, A. D., Wood, W. I., Baker, K. P., Godowski, P. J. and Ashkenazi, A., Identification of a new member of the tumor necrosis factor family and its receptor, a human ortholog of mouse GITR. *Curr Biol* 1999. 9: 215-218.

197 **Nocentini, G. and Riccardi, C.,** GITR: a multifaceted regulator of immunity belonging to the tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily. *Eur J Immunol* 2005. **35**: 1016-1022.

McHugh, R. S., Whitters, M. J., Piccirillo, C. A., Young, D. A., Shevach, E. M., Collins, M. and Byrne, M. C., CD4(+)CD25(+) immunoregulatory T cells: gene expression analysis reveals a functional role for the glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor. *Immunity* 2002. **16**: 311-323.

199 Shimizu, J., Yamazaki, S., Takahashi, T., Ishida, Y. and Sakaguchi, S., Stimulation of CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T cells through GITR breaks immunological self-tolerance. *Nat Immunol* 2002. **3**: 135-142.

Igarashi, H., Cao, Y., Iwai, H., Piao, J., Kamimura, Y., Hashiguchi, M., Amagasa, T. and Azuma, M., GITR ligand-costimulation activates effector and regulatory functions of CD4+ T cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2008. **369**: 1134-1138.

201 Vigouroux, S., Yvon, E., Biagi, E. and Brenner, M. K., Antigen-induced regulatory T cells. *Blood* 2004. 104: 26-33.

202 Strauss, L., Bergmann, C., Szczepanski, M. J., Lang, S., Kirkwood, J. M. and Whiteside, T. L., Expression of ICOS on human melanoma-infiltrating CD4+CD25highFoxp3+ T regulatory cells: implications and impact on tumor-mediated immune suppression. *J Immunol* 2008. **180**: 2967-2980.

203 Keystone, E., Poplonski, L., Snow, K. M., Paige, C. and Miller, R. G., Antigen-specific human T-cell colony formation in a liquid culture system. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 1993. **53**: 783-788.

Miwa, N., Hayakawa, S., Miyazaki, S., Myojo, S., Sasaki, Y., Sakai, M., Takikawa, O. and Saito, S., IDO expression on decidual and peripheral blood dendritic cells and monocytes/macrophages after treatment with CTLA-4 or interferon-gamma increase in normal pregnancy but decrease in spontaneous abortion. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2005. **11**: 865-870.

Romani, L., Zelante, T., De Luca, A., Bozza, S., Bonifazi, P., Moretti, S., D'Angelo, C., Giovannini, G., Bistoni,
F., Fallarino, F. and Puccetti, P., Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) in inflammation and allergy to Aspergillus. *Med Mycol* 2008: 1-8.

206 Montagnoli, C., Bozza, S., Gaziano, R., Zelante, T., Bonifazi, P., Moretti, S., Bellocchio, S., Pitzurra, L. and Romani, L., Immunity and tolerance to Aspergillus fumigatus. *Novartis Found Symp* 2006. **279**: 66-77; discussion 77-69, 216-219.

207 Pereira-Santos, M. C., Baptista, A. P., Melo, A., Alves, R. R., Soares, R. S., Pedro, E., Pereira-Barbosa, M., Victorino, R. M. and Sousa, A. E., Expansion of circulating Foxp3+)D25bright CD4+ T cells during specific venom immunotherapy. *Clin Exp Allergy* 2008. **38**: 291-297.

208 Hartl, D., Koller, B., Mehlhorn, A. T., Reinhardt, D., Nicolai, T., Schendel, D. J., Griese, M. and Krauss-Etschmann, S., Quantitative and functional impairment of pulmonary CD4+CD25hi regulatory T cells in pediatric asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2007. **119**: 1258-1266.

209 Dittrich, A. M., Erbacher, A., Specht, S., Diesner, F., Krokowski, M., Avagyan, A., Stock, P., Ahrens, B., Hoffmann, W. H., Hoerauf, A. and Hamelmann, E., Helminth infection with Litomosoides sigmodontis induces regulatory T cells and inhibits allergic sensitization, airway inflammation, and hyperreactivity in a murine asthma model. *J Immunol* 2008. **180**: 1792-1799.

Schnoeller, C., Rausch, S., Pillai, S., Avagyan, A., Wittig, B. M., Loddenkemper, C., Hamann, A., Hamelmann,
 E., Lucius, R. and Hartmann, S., A helminth immunomodulator reduces allergic and inflammatory responses by induction of IL-10-producing macrophages. *J Immunol* 2008. 180: 4265-4272.

Anthony, R. M., Rutitzky, L. I., Urban, J. F., Jr., Stadecker, M. J. and Gause, W. C., Protective immune mechanisms in helminth infection. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2007. 7: 975-987.

212 Uraushihara, K., Kanai, T., Ko, K., Totsuka, T., Makita, S., Iiyama, R., Nakamura, T. and Watanabe, M., Regulation of murine inflammatory bowel disease by CD25+ and CD25- CD4+ glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor familyrelated gene+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* 2003. **171**: 708-716.

213 Jutel, M., Akdis, M., Budak, F., Aebischer-Casaulta, C., Wrzyszcz, M., Blaser, K. and Akdis, C. A., IL-10 and TGF-beta cooperate in the regulatory T cell response to mucosal allergens in normal immunity and specific immunotherapy. *Eur J Immunol* 2003. **33**: 1205-1214.

Agematsu, K., Hokibara, S., Nagumo, H. and Komiyama, A., CD27: a memory B-cell marker. *Immunol Today* 2000. **21**: 204-206.

215 Agematsu, K., Nagumo, H., Yang, F. C., Nakazawa, T., Fukushima, K., Ito, S., Sugita, K., Mori, T., Kobata, T., Morimoto, C. and Komiyama, A., B cell subpopulations separated by CD27 and crucial collaboration of CD27+ B cells and helper T cells in immunoglobulin production. *Eur J Immunol* 1997. **27**: 2073-2079.

Nagumo, H., Agematsu, K., Shinozaki, K., Hokibara, S., Ito, S., Takamoto, M., Nikaido, T., Yasui, K., Uehara,
 Y., Yachie, A. and Komiyama, A., CD27/CD70 interaction augments IgE secretion by promoting the differentiation of memory
 B cells into plasma cells. *J Immunol* 1998. 161: 6496-6502.

217 Kane, C. M., Cervi, L., Sun, J., McKee, A. S., Masek, K. S., Shapira, S., Hunter, C. A. and Pearce, E. J., Helminth antigens modulate TLR-initiated dendritic cell activation. *J Immunol* 2004. **173**: 7454-7461.

218 Sadeghi, K., Wessner, B., Laggner, U., Ploder, M., Tamandl, D., Friedl, J., Zugel, U., Steinmeyer, A., Pollak, A., Roth, E., Boltz-Nitulescu, G. and Spittler, A., Vitamin D3 down-regulates monocyte TLR expression and triggers hyporesponsiveness to pathogen-associated molecular patterns. *Eur J Immunol* 2006. **36**: 361-370.

APPENDIX A: EQUIPMENT

Automatic pipettes (10-1000µl)	Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany	
BD FACSCanto [™] flow cytometer	BD [™] Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany	
BD FACS Diva [™] flow cytometer	BD [™] Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany	
Casy [®] TT Cell Counter	Schärfe Systems, Reutlingen, Germany	
Centrifuge (Eppendorf 5415 R)	Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany	
Centrifuge (Multifuge 4KR)	Heraeus Holding GmbH, Hanau, Germany	
ELISA Plate reader (Spectra Max 340pc ³⁸⁴) Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, USA		
Freezer (-20°C)	Bosch GmbH; Stuttgart, Germany	
Freezer (-80°C)	Heraeus Holding GmbH, Hanau, Germny	
Fridge	Bosch GmbH; Stuttgart, Germany	
Gamma Cell irradiator	Atomic Energie of Canada, Ottawa, Canada	
Glass pipettes (1-20ml)	Brand GmbH & Co.KG, Wertheim, Germany	
Glassware	Schott AG, Mainz, Germany	
Ice machine (Scotsman AF 80)	Gastro Handel GmbH, Wien, Austria	
Incubator	Binder GmbH, Tuttlingen, Germany	
Liquid scintillation counter(LS6500) Beckman Coulter Inc, California, USA		
Microscope (Leica DM IL)	Leica Microsystems GmbH, Wetzlar, Germany	
Neubauer counting chamber	LOLaboroptik GmbH, Friedrichsdorf, Germany	
PH meter	Mettler Toldo GmbH, Giessen, Germany	
Pipetboy (pipetus [®] -akku)	Hirschmann Laborgeräte, Eberstadt, Germany	
Rotorgene PCR machine	Corbett research, Sydney, Australia	
Strip PCR tubes 0.1ml	Corbett research, Sydney, Australia	
Thermo magnetic stirrer	IKA® GmbH & Co.KG, Staufen, Germany	
Vortex mixer (Minishaker)	IKA® GmbH & Co.KG, Staufen, Germany	
Water bath	VWR Lab Shop, Batavia, USA	
Weighing machine	Sartorius AG, Goettingen, Germany	

APPENDIX B: CHEMICAL AND REAGENTS

Advanced Protein Assay TM	Cytoskeleton, Inc., Denver, USA
Alamar Blue	Sigma-Aldrich GmbH, Munich, Germany
Ammonium chloride	Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
BSA	Sigma-Aldrich GmbH, Munich, Germany
CD25 ⁺ Treg isolation kit	Miltenyi Biotech, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany
CpG	Sigma-Aldrich GmbH, Munich, Germany
Dexamethasone	Sigma-Aldrich GmbH, Munich, Germany
Disodium hydrogen phosphate	Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
DMSO	Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
EDTA	Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
Ethidium Bromide	Biomol GmbH, Hamburg, Germany
Ethanol	Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
FCS	PAA Laboratories GmbH, Pasching, Austria
Fc Block (anti-human CD16/32)	eBiosciences, Inc., San Diego, USA
Ficoll, density 1.077	Seromed Biochrom KG, Berlin, Germany
Hydrogen peroxide (H ₂ O ₂)	Sigma-Aldrich GmbH, Munich, Germany
Ionomycin	BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany
Liquid scintillator cocktail	Fisher Scientific, Pennsylvania, USA
Liquid nitrogen	University Clinic Bonn
LPS	Sigma-Aldrich GmbH, Munich, Germany
Monosodium phosphate	Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
Pam3Cys	Sigma-Aldrich GmbH, Munich, Germany
Paraformaldehyde	Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
РНА	Remel Europe, Dartford, United Kingdom
PBS (endotoxin free)	PAA Laboratories GmbH, Pasching, Austria
PMA	BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany
PMSF	Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
Potassium chloride (KCl)	Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
Potassium dihydrogen phosphate	Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
Recombinant human IL-2	eBiosciences, San Diego, USA
Recombinant human TGF-β	eBiosciences, San Diego, USA

RPMI-1640	PAA Laboratories GmbH, Pasching, Austria
siRNA starter kit	Qiagen, Hilden, Germany
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
TMB	Sigma-Aldrich GmbH, Munich, Germany
Tris	Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
Trypan Blue	Sigma-Aldrich GmbH, Munich, Germany
Tween 20	Sigma-Aldrich GmbH, Munich, Germany
Vitamin D3	Sigma-Aldrich GmbH, Munich, Germany

APPENDIX C: BUFFERS, MEDIA AND SOLUTIONS

20x phosphate buffer saline (PBS):

360g NaCl
8.0g KCl
46.4g Na₂HPO₄
8.0g KH₂PO₄
Volume was then adjusted to 1 liter of distilled water.
For 1x phosphate buffer saline (PBS): 50 ml of 20x PBS solution was diluted in 900 ml distilled water. The pH was adjusted to 7.3 and the solution was topped up to 1 liter and autoclaved.

T cell culture medium (TCM)

T cell culture medium was prepared using: 10% FCS 100 Unit/ml IL-2 2.5% amphotericinB RPMI 1640 qsp 50ml

SOC medium

Bacto-tryptone	20g
Bacto-yeast extract	5g
NaCl	0.5g
1M KCl	2.5ml
ddH2Oqsp	1L

adjust pH to 7.0 with 10N NaOH, autoclave to sterilize, add 20 ml of sterile 1 M glucose immediately before use

FCS: Fetal calf serum, (PAA)

FCS used for medium supplementations was heated for 30 minutes at 56°C to inactivate the complement factors. Aliquots were then stored at -20°C until required.

ELISAs Solutions and buffers:

Coating solution: 0.1 M NaHCO₃, pH 9.6

Washing buffer: PBS-0.05% Tween 20 (Sigma)
Blocking solution: PBS-1%BSA
Substrate buffer: 0.1 M NaH₂PO₄.2H₂O, pH 5.5
Substrate: 3,3', 5,5' Tetramethylbenzidine (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany), dissolved to a concentration of 6 mg/ml in DMSO (Sigma)
Substrate solution: 12 ml substrate buffer
200 μl substrate
1,2 μl 30% H2O2 (Sigma)
Stop solution: 4N H₂SO₄(Merck, Hohenbrunn, Germany)

Cells culture reagents

Freezing medium: 80% FCS, 20% Dimethylsulfoxid (DMSO), Sigma

Loading dye (6x)

0.25 % bromophenole blue 0.25 % xylencyanole FF 15 % ficoll in ddH2O

TBE (Tris-borate-EDTA)

108 g Tris-base 55 g borate acid 9.3 g Na₂EDTA in 1000 ml ddH2O Working solution: 0.5 x stock solution

APPENDIX D: SUPPLEMENTS

DMSO	PAA Laboratories GmbH, Pasching, Austria
FCS	PAA Laboratories GmbH, Pasching, Austria
GMCSF	PAA Laboratories GmbH, Pasching, Austria
L-glutamine	PAA Laboratories GmbH, Pasching, Austria
Penicillin/streptomycin	PAA Laboratories GmbH, Pasching, Austria
Gentamicin Sulfate	BioWitttaker®, Walkersville, USA

APPENDIX E: SOFTWARE

BD FACSDivaTM software

Flow cytometry software obtained from BD^{TM} Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany.

GraphPad Prism 4

Analyze, Graph and Organize Software obtained from GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, USA.

SoftMax Pro

Microplate Data Acquisition and Analysis Software obtained from Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, USA

Erklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich, daß ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbst und ohne jede unerlaubte Hilfe angefertigt habe, daß diese oder eine ähnliche Arbeit noch keiner anderen Stelle als Dissertation eingereicht worden ist.

Bonn, 10.08.08

Gbèdomidji Tomabu Adjobimey

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor Professor Dr. Achim Hörauf for giving me the opportunity to perform my PhD project at his institute, for his constant help, discussions, and support during my whole thesis.

I would also like to thank my second supervisor Professor Dr. Waldemar Kolanus for accepting to co-supervise my work. Many thanks also for his help, support and advice especially during the process of validation of my previous studies.

I would like to extend my gratitude to PD Dr. Gerhild van Echten-Deckert and to Professor Dr. Dorothea Bartels for accepting to take part in my thesis commission.

In addition, I am very thankful to my two supervisors Dr. Judith Satoguina and Dr. Laura Layland for their constant support during the planning and accomplishment of the experiments. Special thanks to Dr. Layland for guiding me through the writing process.

My time at the Institute for Medical Microbiology, Immunology and Parasitology will be very memorable and for this I thank my team colleagues, especially Kathrin Arndts and of course all Postdocs, PhD and Masters Students, staff and visitors. I am especially grateful to Dr Schiefer for proofreading the German version of my abstract.

Many thanks to my family for allowing me to be far away for such a long period and for their unconditional support.

Finally, I would like to address my gratitude to the DAAD for the constant financial support.